
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU 

 
 

 
 

Planning Committee 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend DA12 1AU 
on Wednesday, 1 February 2023 at 7.00 pm when the business specified in the following agenda 
is proposed to be transacted. 
 
 

 
S Walsh 
Service Manager (Communities) 
 
 

Agenda 
 

Part A 
Items likely to be considered in Public 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 5 - 14) 

3. Declarations of Interest   

 To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories: 
 
A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question; 
 
An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 
question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public; 
 
A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency. 

 



 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public  

 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Committee   

a) 20211540 - Lord Street Car Park, Lord Street, Gravesend, Kent (Pages 15 - 96) 

b) 20221179 - Land at St Columba's Close, Gravesend, Kent (Pages 97 - 
162) 

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Environment)  

 

 A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: -  
 
Document library - Gravesham Borough Council 
 

 

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

 

8. Exclusion   

 To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

 
Part B 

Items likely to be considered in Private 
 
None 

 

 
 
 
Members 
 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair) 
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Brian Francis 

Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Bob Lane 
Emma Morley 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 
 

 
Substitutes: To be notified 
 
 
 
 

https://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=12911


1 

Planning Committee 
 

Wednesday, 4 January 2023 7.00 pm 
 
 

Present: 
 
Cllr Brian Sangha (Chair) 
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors: Brian Francis 

Gary Harding 
Samir Jassal 
Elizabeth Mulheran 
Tony Rice 
Lyn Milner 
Frank Wardle 
 

Note: Councillors John Burden and Lee Croxton were also in attendance. 
 
  
Shazad Ghani  Service Manager (Planning) 
Richard Hart  Team Leader (Development Management) 
Amanda Grout  Senior Planner (Development Management) 
Laura Caiels  Assistant Head of Legal Services (Place Team) 
Karen Gingles  Committee Service Officer (Minutes) 
 

41. Apologies for absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bob Lane and Emma Morley.  
Councillors Frank Wardle and Lyn Milner attended as their substitutes. 
 

42. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting  
 
The minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on Wednesday 23 November 2022 
were signed by the Chair. 
 

43. Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 

44. Planning applications for determination by the Committee  
 

44.1 20220965 - Land Between 29 and 31 The Street  
 
The Committee considered application 20220965 - Land Between 29 and 31 The Street.  
The application was for the demolition of the existing garage and erection of a detached 3-
bed dwelling with associated parking, amenity space and landscaping.  The current site 
comprised of a detached garage, located to the front and was bounded by brick walls and 
fencing. To the rear of the garage the site was significantly overgrown. The plot of land was 
located within the Shorne Conservation Area. 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

2 

 
The Planning Officer highlighted that there had been previous applications for this site with 
the most recent application being refused on appeal.  The previous application had been 
refused due to the proposed design offering a cramped form of development that would have 
been out of keeping with the character of the area and would have been harmful to the 
outlook of neighbouring properties.  The Planning Officer advised that prior to the 
submission of the current application, the applicant had not engaged with the Planning 
department at Gravesham and no pre-planning application was submitted. 
 
The Planning Officer informed Members that the proposed development would result in the 
delivery of 1 additional new home in Gravesham, so would offer a minimal contribution 
towards meeting the Borough’s local housing need. 
 
The Planning Officer advised the Committee that there was no broad objection to the 
principle of a residential development on this site. However, as laid out in the report, there 
were concerns with this proposal which related to the scale and massing of the proposed 
development, due to the narrow width of the plot. The proposal would result in a cramped 
form of development which would have an adverse impact upon the character and 
appearance of the Shorne Conservation Area.  
 
The loss of outlook that would be experienced from the property at No. 31 The Street 
provided a further indicator that the proposed new dwelling would result in a cramped form of 
development. In addition, and for the reasons set out in this report, it was considered that 
there would be an adverse impact to the Thames Estuary and Marshes Ramsar Buffer Zone. 
The absence of strategic mitigation measures in relation to this issue gave further reason for 
refusal in relation to this application. Overall, it was considered that this current proposal had 
not overcome the previous reasons for refusal and was therefore recommended for refusal. 
 
The Committee were invited to ask questions for clarification.   
 
The Chair queried why there had been no engagement from the applicant with no pre-
application submitted prior to the planning application.  The Planning Officer advised that the 
Planning office always encouraged a pre-planning application, especially in cases where a 
previous application had been refused.  The Officer was unable to say why the applicant had 
chosen not to engage in this way. 
 
The Committee heard the views of the registered speakers against the application and had 
their questions answered: 
 

 Concern had been raised by the public speakers regarding highway safety issues the 

proposed development could cause.  Members queried why the report only had input 

from GBC Highways Officer and not KCC Highways.  The Planning Officer advised 

that KCC were only consulted when the development was of a larger scale.   

 

 Shorne Parish Council had also received no engagement from the applicant prior to 

the application being presented. 

 
The Chair informed Members that the Ward Councillor Bob Lane was not present for the 
meeting but wished to express his views as Ward Councillor.  The Service Manager 
(Planning) was invited by the Chair to read a statement from Ward Councillor Bob Lane. 
 

Page 4



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

3 

Following discussion, the Committee raised the following points: 
 

 Following on from the registered speakers concern regarding the proposed 

development being built over drains and the overall accuracy of measurements on 

the plans, Members asked for the Planning Officer’s feedback.  The Planning Officer 

responded by informing the Committee that any concerns regarding footings and 

drainage would fall under the remit of Building Control.  The Planning Officer 

continued and clarified that the Planning Office only assess plans put forward by an 

applicant and deemed the plans to be valid and to scale. 

 It was agreed that there was no objection to the principle of residential development 

on the site, however the proposed development was not considered acceptable.  It 

was noted that had a pre-application been sought prior to submission of the planning 

application before Planning Committee, a more suitable proposal may had been 

presented. 

 Members praised the Planning Officer for an excellent report.  

 
 
Resolved that application 20220965 be REFUSED for the following reasons: 
 
1.  The proposed development, by virtue of its scale, massing and siting, would provide 
 a cramped form of development on this plot that would be out of keeping with the  

character of development within this locality and would be harmful to the outlook of  
neighbouring properties. For these reasons the development would also be harmful 

 to the character of the Shorne Conservation Area. As such the proposed   
 development would be contrary to Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local 
 Plan Core Strategy (2014), Saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First  
 Review (1994), as well as Section 12 of the National Planning Policy Framework  
 (2021) and the Shorne Conservation Area Appraisal SDP (2017). 

 
2.  The proposal fails to secure a contribution towards strategic mitigation measures  
 within Special Protection Areas. In the absence of such contributions the   
 development fails to comply with the requirements of the Habitat Regulations and 
 Section 15 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and Policies CS10 and 
 CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014). 

 
INFORMATIVES:- 
 
1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
 TAKING  

 

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 
way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area. 
 
In this instance pre-application advice was not sought and the proposal as submitted is 
contrary to local and national planning policy and cannot be supported. 
 

Page 5



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

4 

2  DRAWINGS AND DOCUMENTS  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, the forms, plans and documents upon which this decision is 
made  
comprise: 
 

• Planning Application Form; 
• Planning and Heritage Statement (August 2022); 
• Drawing No. 001 Rev A – Site Layout; 
• Drawing No. 002 Rev A – Existing and Proposed Site Layouts; 
• Drawing No. 003 Rev A – Proposed Plans and Elevations; and 
• Drawing No. 004 Rev A – Proposed Street View 

 
Note: Carole Kennerly (Resident), Susan Lindley (Parish Councillor for Shorne) and Jason 
Connor (Resident) spoke in favour of the application 
 
 

44.2 20220831 - 17 Darnley Road Gravesend Kent DA11 0RZ  
 

The Committee considered application 20220831 - 17 Darnley Road Gravesend Kent 
DA11 0RZ.  The application was for the subdivision of the existing dwellinghouse to 
create three self-contained units with associated amenity space.  The conversion would 
provide 1no. two bedroom 3 person unit, 1no. bedsit and 1no. one bedroom two person 
unit. 
 
The application site is located on the edge of Gravesham town centre, within the urban 
boundary of Gravesend and within the Darnley Road Conservation area.  It was noted 
that the adjoining property to the north, No. 15 had already been converted into 3no. flats 
and the one to the south was in use as a funeral directors.   
 
The Planning Officer informed the Committee that the proposed development would 
cause minimal alterations to the structure of the property and the proposed plans for flats 
1 and 3 met the Nationally Described Space Standards.  There was no national standard 
for bedsits, however the bedsit (Flat 2) met the Gravesham Residential Layout 
requirement for minimum floorspace of 30sqm.  All bedrooms within the building 
exceeded the minimum space standards. 
 
The Planning Officer highlighted that the proposed development of this site would result 
in the delivery of an additional 2 dwellings within Gravesham and would therefore offer a 
minimal contribution towards meeting the Borough’s local housing need. 
 
The Committee were advised that the principle of developing the property was deemed 
acceptable, the proposed units would exceed the Nationally Described Space Standards 
both in terms of gross internal floor area and room sizes, plus would be of no detrimental 
impact on neighbour amenity.  It was also considered that the proposal would accord 
with local and national planning policy and was therefore recommended for approval. 
 
The Committee were invited to ask questions for clarification and raised the following: 
 

 Members queried whether the large windows at the front of the property were to 

be retained, as they were in keeping with the character of the street.  The 

Page 6



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

5 

Planning Officer stated that there were no proposed changes to the frontage of 

the property or alternations to the front windows. 

 Referring to an image within the report, showing the frontage of the site, 

Members queried if there was a dropped kerb at the boundary of the property.  

The Planning Officer assured the Committee that there was not a dropped kerb 

outside this building and if this was wanted in the future, an additional planning 

application would be required. 

 
The Chair advised the Committee that he called in this application, as GBC Policy stated 
that there needed to be a balance and consideration given to the development of single 
family units into multiple dwellings.  Due to the borough’s housing need, where 
appropriate, development into flats offered more dwellings towards the local need. 
 
The Committee heard the views of a registered speaker in favour of the application and 
had their questions answered: 
 

 Concern was raised regarding fire safety and escapes.  The speaker responded 

by stating that the flats would be built to building standards and fire regulations 

and all flats were within easy access to the main stairwell to exit the building. 

 Members noted the existing wrought iron railing along adjoining boundary with 

the neighbouring property and queried whether another railing of the same style 

could be installed as a boundary treatment at the front of the site.  The speaker 

advised that there were plans to build a wooden clad bike shed and bin store at 

the front of the flats but there would be no other changes to the boundary 

treatment, so as not to impact on the conservation area.  The Planning Officer 

explained that within the conditions there were soft and hard landscaping 

conditions.  The Chair addressed the Committee stating that as Ward Member, 

his experience of the area was that a railing boundary treatment would not be 

consistent with the remainder of the street scene and the applicant proposed to 

add a cycle and bin store, which would require access. 

 Members queried whether the flats were accessible for those with disabilities.  

The Speaker advised that consideration was given to the accessibility from the 

outset and aimed to make the development as accessible as possible.  He 

informed the Committee that the ground floor family unit offered a reasonable 

provision in this regard. 

 
Following discussion Members agreed that the property lent itself well to a development 
of this type being within close proximity to the train station and town centre.  The new 
occupants would also use the town centre amenities thereby adding to the local 
economy. 
 
 
Resolved that application 20220831 be APPROVED Planning Permission, subject to the 
following conditions:  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

6 

CONDITIONS 
 
1.   STANDARD TIME LIMIT 

The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later 
than the expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this 
permission is granted. 
 

Reason:  In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2.   APPROVED PLANS 

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise 
accordance with the following schedule of approved plans: 
 
Planning Application Form; 
Covering Letter; 
Rooflight Photograph; 
Location Plan; 
Drawing No. 22-1321-01 C - Existing Site Location and Existing Floor Plans 
and Elevations; and 
Drawing No. 22-1321-02 C - Existing Site Location and Proposed Floor Plans 
and Elevations. 
 

Reason:  For the avoidance of any doubt and in the interest of proper planning in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

 
3.   MATERIALS 

Notwithstanding the details included on the application form and approved 
plans the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of 
the development hereby permitted, specifically the dormer window, shall 
match those used in the existing building. 
 

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and the new 
  development in accordance with Local Plan: Core Strategy Policy CS19. 
 
4.   CYCLE STORAGE 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and 
notwithstanding details on the approved plans details of secure, covered and 
accessible cycle storage facilities (comprising a minimum of 1 space per flat) 
to serve the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The approved cycle storage facilities shall be 
provided prior to first occupation of the development and shall be retained for 
such purposes at all times thereafter. 

Reason:  In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Local 
Plan: Core Strategy Policy CS19. 
 

5.   REFUSE DETAILS 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and 
notwithstanding details on the approved plans details of the refuse 
arrangements shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The submitted details shall ensure adequate provision for 

Page 8



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

7 

non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste and security 
arrangements for the refuse stores. The approved refuse arrangements shall 
be provided prior to first occupation of the dwelling and thereafter be retained 
for such purposes at all times. 
 

Reason:  In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage 
area in the interest of amenity and in accordance with Local Plan: Core 
Strategy Policy CS19. 

 
6.   HARD LANDSCAPING 

Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard 
landscaping shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The landscaping works shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details prior to the completion of the development or the 
first occupation of the residential unit whichever is sooner. The scheme shall 
include:  

• proposed boundary treatments; 
• hard surface finishes to the pedestrian accesses; and 
• Details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or 
other supporting structures. 
 

Reason:  To protect and enhance the visual amenity and the character of the area and 
  to ensure a satisfactory environment for existing and future residents in  
  accordance with Local Plan: Core Strategy Policy CS19. 
 

7.   SOFT LANDSCAPING 
Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and 
notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans a scheme detailing 
the proposed soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, 
by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the type and 
species of planting to be carried out, to include their quantity and size as well 
as arrangements for aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft landscaping 
scheme shall be carried out in full during the first available planting season 
following. Any trees or plants that die, are damaged, removed or become 
diseased within five years from the date that the development is first brought 
into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size and species during 
the next available planting season. 
 

Reason:  To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the long term in the interests 
  of the visual amenity of the development, in accordance with Local Plan: Core 
  Strategy Policy CS19. 
 
INFORMATIVES 
 
1  STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
 MAKING 
 
In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has 
approached the assessment and determination of this application in a positive and creative 

Page 9



Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

8 

way and, where appropriate, has worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a 
development that is sustainable and that improves the economic, social and environmental 
conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the Development Plan for the area. 
 
This has involved discussions and negotiations during the processing of the planning 
application in a collaborative manner in order to address the various consultations and 
neighbour concerns. 
 
 
2  BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 
 
This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision. Nor does it override any private 
rights which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the 
provisions of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. 
 
3  NAMING & NUMBERING  

  
As a result of the changes to this property, it appears that a change has to be made to the 
national property gazetteer. It is a legal requirement that a property or premises is 
registered.  The Naming and Numbering Certificate, when issued, will reduce location or 
delivery problems via Royal Mail or other carriers, and importantly for the Police, Ambulance, 
and Fire & Rescue services. Registration is also necessary to register to vote, for utility 
connections, and will avoid duplicate addresses.  The Naming and Numbering service is 
provided by the Borough Council. The on-line form is available at the Planning/House 
Numbering page of the council's web-site http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-naming . 
Please submit the application and the requisite fee in accordance with the guidance on the 
form. 
 
4  DEVIATION FROM THE APPROVED PLANS 
 
It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 
'material' change requiring a further application/permission. In the event that any change is 
proposed, applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority [as 
proceeding without the necessary permissions could nullify this permission]. 
 
5.  KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are 
obtained and that the limits of the highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid 
any enforcement action being taken by the Highway Authority. The development hereby 
permitted requires works to be undertaken in the public highway adjacent to the site. Prior to 
starting work you must first contact KCC Highways and Transportation on 030000 41 81 81 
to ascertain what work is required and the procedure to be followed to progress this to 
completion 
 
Note: Harry Johnson (Independent Town Planner) spoke in favour of the application. 
 
 
 

Page 10

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-naming


Planning Committee 4.01.2023 

9 

45. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Environment)  
 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Environment) under 
delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 Close of meeting  
 
The meeting ended at 8:07pm 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
SUMMARY REPORT 

Application Ref: 20211540 

Site Address: Lord Street Car Park, Lord Street, Gravesend, Kent. 

Application 
Description: 

 
Change of use from existing car park. Erection of 4 to 7 storey 
buildings with a 10 storey tower (Ground + 9 storeys) to provide 
156 flats, 2612.40 sqm of commercial space, including office, 
retail and workshops, with ancillary car parking, open space and 
access to Eden Place. 

 
Applicant: 

 
Park Central Developments Ltd 

 
Agent: 

 
Ms Lita Khazaka, Studio LK Limited 

 
Ward: 

 
Central Ward 

 
Parish: 

 
Non-Parish Area 

 
Decision Due Date: 

 
2.2.2023 

 
Publicity expiry date: 

 
1st April 2023 

Decision Level: Planning Committee – Wednesday 1 February 2023 

Reason for referral: 
 
Major Development Proposal 
 

Recommendation: 

Delegated to the Service Manager (Planning) to grant 
PERMISSION  subject to the applicant agreeing  pre-
commencement conditions and the completion of a section 106 
legal agreement. 

 

 
Summary of Reasons for Recommendation 
 
The proposed development is deemed to be a sustainable form of development that accords with 
national and local planning policy.  The agent / applicant has confirmed they will provide all of the 
S.106 financial contributions which meet the relevant tests set out within the NPPF (2021). 
 
The Council is mindful that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset 
(from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), requires clear 
justification and following Dorothy Bohm v SSCLG [2017], this means that the scheme as a whole 
needs to be considered. It is considered that the redevelopment of this site will have less than 
substantial harm and comply with local and national policies regarding Heritage. 
 
This report has considered the entire scheme as a whole and in summary it is considered that 
there are no material overriding issues and concerns that have not been considered and 
addressed including responses received from consultees and third party representations. The 
proposal accords with policies CS01, CS02, CS10, CS11, CS12, CS14, CS15, CS19 and CS20. 
On balance it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the development plan as a 
whole and that there are no material considerations which indicate otherwise. In particular, the 
Council also has concluded that the clear and convincing justification has been given which is 

Page 13 Agenda Item 5a



required by the NPPF (2021). It is therefore recommended that that the proposal can be 
supported. 
 
Permission is recommended subject to the S.106 being signed and appropriate planning 
conditions being included. 
 

 
1. Proposal  
 
1.1 The proposal is for the re-development of the existing Gravesham Borough Council 

owned surface car park (Lord Street) which is a temporary car park located on the 
southern edge of Gravesend town centre. To the south and east of the site is the A226 
and to the north is the railway line with Eden Place to the west. Park Central 
Developments Ltd (the prospective purchasers of the site) have proposed a scheme to 
construct 156 Build to Rent (BTR) apartments which would be the second BTR scheme 
in the borough, the first being The Charter development. In addition, there would be 
commercial floorspace in the form of office space and retail units within the 
development, with associated car parking and amenity space provided. 
 

1.2 To summarise the development consists of the following elements 

 156 residential units (7 of which are live/work units, 370.04m2) 

 Office space (Including a standalone office building) 1993.25m2 

 Retail units 249.11m2 
 
 

1.3 The mix of apartments for the development is shown below. 
 

No. bedrooms No. Units 

Studio 22 

1 bedroom (1p) 3 

1 bedroom (2p) 42 

2 bedroom (3p) 9 

2 bedroom (4p) 73 

Live work units 7 

Total 156 

 
1.4 20% of the apartments (31 units) will be discounted Market Rent (DMR) and will be 

made available at least 20% below market rent (including any surface charge). 
 

1.5 BTR is new form of residential tenure which the government first addressed in the 2017 
Housing White Paper ‘Fixing our broken housing market’ and provides clear support for 
the BTR concept with the first guidance set out in ‘Build to rent’ page on the Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG) website in September 2018. In addition the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF (20121) now defines BTR in Annex 2 as the following: 
 
Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of a wider multi-
tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on the same site 
and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer 
tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally 
managed stock in single ownership and management control. 
 

1.6 The residential product remains within the C3 Residential Use Class, The National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 states that affordable housing on build to rent 
schemes should be provided by default in the form of affordable private rent / 

Page 14



Discounted Market Rent, a class of affordable housing specifically designed for build to 
rent. The NPPF (2021) advises 20% is a suitable benchmark for the level of affordable 
private rent homes to be provided (and maintained in perpetuity) in any build to rent 
scheme. 
 

1.7 The development includes 249m² of retail use at ground floor and 1993.25m2 of office 
space spread over ground floor, first floor and a two-storey office block to the south of 
railway line and north of the main block. 
 

1.8 The scheme includes 51 car parking spaces of which 15 would be accessible for 
disable people, 20 motorcycle spaces and a mixture of internal and external secure 
bike storage. 

 
1.9 Access to the parking will be on the east elevation via Eden Place and a new road 

running east/west will be constructed joining onto Parrock Street, this new road will be 
one way. Currently there is an informal access from the temporary car park onto 
Parrock Street. There is also some parking to the north of the main block. 

 
1.10 A lay-by is provided along Parrock Street for both drop off and deliveries. The proposed 

development provides for refuse to be collected from the site by refuse collection 
vehicles (RCVs) entering via Eden Place. This area will accommodate vehicles up to 12 
metres in length for servicing both the proposed development and adjacent land uses. 
 
Existing Site Plan 
 

 

Page 15



 
2. Relevant Planning History 

 
20030315 - A) Demolition of existing multi-storey car park and erection of part 
five/six/seven and nine storey building to provide 100 self-contained one and two 
bedroom flats with six live-work units and 956 square metres of 
commercial/community floorspace in four units at ground floor level and the laying 
out of 108 car parking spaces. Permitted 30.07.2004 
 
B) Demolition of existing two storey car park and erection of 11 two/three storey, 
three bedroom terraced houses attached to three/four storey building to provide 14 
one and two bedroom self-contained flats, one detached 3 bedroom dwelling; laying 
out of children's play garden and 35 car parking spaces. 
 
C) Erection of a seven storey building to provide 12 two bedroom self-contained 
flats and erection of a three storey terrace of eight four bedroom houses and the 
laying out of 27 car parking spaces. Permitted 20030315. 
 
19810137 – Formation of a car park for a temporary period of 3 years. Permitted 
14.04.1982 
 
19760308 – Formation of a car park for a temporary period of 3 years. Permitted 
30.07.1976 
 
TH/2/70/130 - Outline application for erection of a multi-storey car park. Permitted 
2.06.1971 

 
3. Planning Policies  

 
Development Plan 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The Courts have held that it is a matter of planning 
judgement as to whether a proposal is in accordance with the development plan when 
‘read as a whole’ and conflict with a particular policy or policies may not pass that 
threshold. 
 
Where there are other material considerations, the development plan should be the 
starting point, and other material considerations should be taken into account in 
reaching a decision. One such consideration will be whether the plan policies are 
relevant and up to date. 
 
In this instance the Development Plan for Gravesham currently comprises: - 
• The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014); 
• Remaining Saved Policies of the Local Plan First Review (1994);  
• The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (2016, revised 2020); and 
• South East Marine Plan (June 2021).   

 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (September 2014): 
• CS01 – Sustainable Development 
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development 
• CS05 – Gravesend Town Centre Opportunity Area  
• CS08 – Retail, Leisure and the Hierarchy 
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure 

Page 16



• CS11 – Transport 
• CS12 - Green Infrastructure 
• CS13 – Green Space, Sport and Recreation 
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size 
• CS15 - Housing Density 
• CS16 - Affordable Housing 
• CS18 - Climate Change 
• CS19 - Design & Development Principles 
• CS20 - Heritage and the Historic Environment 
 

 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2021) sets out those policies within adopted local plans 
should be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, 
and should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as 
set out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012. 
 

 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 
due to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted 
and the need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved 
policies from the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) general conform with the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021), the Council will also seek to replace these saved 
policies via the emerging Local Plan. 
 
Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (LPFR) (November 1994): 
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards 
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network 
• T5 – New Access onto Highway Network 
• LT6 – Additional Open Space in New Housing Developments 
• TC2 – Listed Buildings 
• TC3 – Conservation Areas 
 
 
Other material considerations  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
● Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
• Section 4 – Decision-making 
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities  
• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
• Section 10 – Supporting high quality communications 
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land  
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change. 
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
• Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 
 
Including the National Design Guide (January 2021) 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines  
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006) 
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015 
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards 

Page 17



• KCC Guide to Development Contributions and the Provision of Community 
Infrastructure (2007) 

• Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area (2009) 
• Windmill Hill Conservation Area (2009) 
• King Street Conservation area (2009) 
• Management Plan – Gravesend Town Centre Conservation Areas (2009) 
• Planning Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements (2019) 
• Historic England Tall Building Advice Note 4. 
 
 

 The Council has a statutory duty under 66 (1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects the settling of listed buildings, to have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
 Section 72(1) of the Planning Listed Building and Conservation Areas Act 1990 (as 

amended) requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area. 

 
4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations 
 

A full copy of all external consultee comments (excluding those from members of the 
public) are available to view on public access by going to 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/view-comment-planning-application and entering 
reference 20211540.  
 
Internal  
 
GBC Highways Officer (27 July 2022) 
 
The proposal is tight but appears workable. However, I’m having trouble tracking down 
their Car Park Management Plan, this is not the details on the town’s car parking that 
they have submitted, but on how they intend to manage their own car park. They have 52 
spaces for 152 residential units, and whilst this complies with guidance, it should be well 
managed to ensure those in greatest need have first option on the available parking and 
if charges are made they are not prohibitive to the detriment of the residents concerned.  
 
The applicant’s response to my original issue with parking for service vehicles etc was; 
•   “The parking/drop off of delivery and service vehicles including tradesmen and 
health visitors has been is provided in the loading bays on Parrock Street and the 
northern end of Eden Place. In addition there is external parking along Eden Place 
which can be used by these vehicles. Furthermore there is vistor cycle space along Lord 
Street. 
•     The loading bay and external car parking along Eden can also accommodate 
residents who need a loading area, and where they may park for a few minutes to 
offload shopping etc. 

 
Reference has been made to on street provision, but any new or alterations to existing 
Traffic Regulation Orders to accommodate this is subject to its own legal process and 
cannot be guaranteed, there are also constraints on what may be permitted and signed. 
Any private parking areas will need to be appropriately managed to ensure there is no 
abuse of the provision, which comes back to the Car Park Management Plan. Maybe the 
alterations to the TRO’s should be a Grampian condition, so if they cannot be delivered 

Page 18

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/view-comment-planning-application%20and%20entering%20reference%2020211540
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/planning/view-comment-planning-application%20and%20entering%20reference%2020211540


the development cannot proceed, or perhaps they can better manage their proposal to 
ensure there is appropriate provision within the private areas.  
 
GBC Environmental Protection 
 
Smoke Control 
 
The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area.  As such, only authorised 
smokeless fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 
1991 shall be burnt or fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted 
Fireplaces) Orders shall be utilised.  Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including 
pizza and tandoori ovens, wood burners and stoves) which have been exempted by 
Statutory Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. These have passed tests to 
confirm that they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently smoky solid fuel 
without emitting smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer’s 
instructions and they can only be used for the fuel for which they are designed. 
 
When purchasing fuels and fireplaces the applicant should clarify with the vendor their 
suitability with respect to use in Smoke Control Areas. For further information, including 
confirmation that an appliance and/or fuel is suitable for use in a smoke control area, the 
applicant should contact the Council’s Regulatory Services by emailing: 
air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk 
 
Contaminated land strategy 

 
No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a strategy to 
deal with the potential risks associated with any contamination of the site has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will 
include the following components: 

 
1.  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:  
all previous uses; potential contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual model 
of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors; and potentially unacceptable risks 
arising from contamination at the site.  

 
2.  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 

 
3.  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of 
the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  

 
4.  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 
identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, 
maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.  

 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Air Quality 

 
                a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence details for an air handling 
system shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The air quality handling system shall then be installed in accordance with the 

Page 19

mailto:air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk


approved details. For the avoidance of doubt the installation of the air handling system 
will ensure the indoor air quality of each apartment is good and will enable the windows 
to be kept closed to reduce disturbance from outside noise. The air handling system 
must bring in clean air to each residential apartment so as to create positive pressure to 
ensure that pollution from outside is prevented from entering the unit. The scheme must 
also include: 

               i. An inlet flow greater than the outlet flow to ensure a positive pressure; 
ii. heat recovery; 
iii. sealed windows on all roadside elevations when required by the ventilation company 
to ensure the air system works as required; 
iv. the air supply must come  from a suitable clean source e.g. a rear roof of building 
etc.  Care must be taken to locate the inlet such that it ensures that  only clean air is 
brought into the residential units and that excessively hot or cold air  is not brought in; 
and 

                v. sound attenuation such that there is no breakout noise or vibration from the system. 
 

b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion commissioning 
report by a competent ventilation engineer confirming that the approved system has been 
incorporated into the residential apartments and that the systems fulfil the purpose (i.e. 
that it prevents outside air entering the residential apartments) shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt this 
shall include an inspection by an officer of the Local Authority to see the system is in 
place and in suitable working order. 

 
The approved scheme shall be maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Noise mitigation scheme 
 
a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence, a revised noise impact 
assessment shall be carried out and shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt the revised noise impact 
assessment shall set out how the detailed design and construction of the development 
which will ensure compliance with the following requirements: 
i. The internal ambient noise levels in all habitable rooms of the residential dwellings 
shall not exceed the guideline LAeq values in Table 4 of BS 8233:2014 
ii. The maximum internal noise levels in all habitable rooms should not normally 
exceed 45dB LAmax more than 10 times per night in accordance with the Professional 
Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise and the WHO Guidelines for Community 
Noise. 
iii. The rating noise from fixed building services/mechanical plant/equipment 
associated with the development shall be at least 10dB below the existing LA90 
background level at the nearest noise sensitive receptors (i.e. dwellings) when 
measured and assessed in accordance with BS4142:2014 

 
Where compliance with these criteria will rely on closed windows, the development 
must include sufficient and suitable ventilation to affected residential dwellings by 
means other than opening windows to ensure that the internal noise levels required by 
the above conditions can be retained all year round. The revised noise assessment 
should not be limited to noise from traffic and plant, but should also take into account 
the impact of other existing audible noise sources such as music and behavioural 
noise from, and associated with, existing licenced premises (in the during the evening 
and night-time economy period, and early morning delivery noise to nearby 
commercial uses, as appropriate. 

Page 20



 
b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion demonstrating 
compliance with (a) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority 

 
The approved details shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development 

 
Additionally, I would suggest applying the same damage cost calculation 
methodology and the recommendations contained in the sustainability statement in 
respect of mitigation measures for Energy Efficiency 

 
GBC Leisure Comments 
Please find attached some comments from the Leisure Team with regards to the 
application for development at Lord Street Car Park. Policy CS13 and the NPPF 
recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and 
recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities.  
 
It is noted that there are proposed roof gardens/courtyards which have the potential to 
provide some informal leisure provision which is welcomed. However, due to the 
constrained nature of the site it would not be expected for the developer to provide formal 
leisure provision, but it is reasonable to expect the applicant to offset the impact of its 
development on existing leisure facilities within the area. Therefore, the approach 
promoted by officers is to secure a financial contribution towards the upgrading and 
development of existing local sporting and recreational facilities. These should be located 
within a reasonable distance from the application site (depending on the type of facility), 
such that it will be directly related to the development and will contribute to offsetting the 
impact of the increased population. 
 
Based on all the assessment data currently available including, the Open Space, Sport & 
Recreation Assessment compiled by Knight Kavanagh & Page, there is specific shortage 
in; the provision of 3G artificial pitches, junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary buildings, 
swimming pool lanes and an overall ageing leisure centre facility stock at Cygnet and 
Cascades Leisure Centres (of which a new Cascades is currently being designed).  
There is also the need for major capital improvements to play equipment across the 
borough, of which the number of total sites available within the borough is remarkably 
less when compared to other areas. On the latter highlighted issue of play sites, 
subsequent reports to Management Team and Environmental Services Committee have 
highlighted a series of programmed works for improvements to play facility provision over 
the coming years, including Windmill Hill, as well as anticipated needs for improvement 
at a later date within the Riverside Leisure area, especially the Adizone outdoor fitness 
area and general play areas which will require further investment in the next 2-3 years. 
 
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-
space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment 
 
Taking into consideration the development’s location within the borough and real time 
need/deficiencies on the ground, the development would be expected to make a financial 
contribution towards upgrading and improving existing leisure provisions, which may 
include those broad projects listed above.  Using Sport England Sports Facility Calculator 
(SFC) as a guide, and if we assume 390 residents within the new development (based 
on an average of 2.5 residents per dwelling), the SFC gives a contribution figure of 
approximately £197,000.  

 
GBC Commercial Health 

Page 21

https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment
https://www.gravesham.gov.uk/home/community-and-leisure/sports-and-recreation/open-space,-sport-and-recreation-assessment


No objection in principle. The following comments are made for the information of the 
applicant and relate to the commercial aspect of the planning application only 
 
GBC Parking Services 
Have any details of the number of car park spaces been provided?  Obviously 150plus 
residential dwellings and commercial space will generate a large number of vehicles that 
may not be accommodated in nearby car parks/residential streets. 
 
GBC Waste Management  
Happy with the refuse strategy however I do have the following comments. 

 

 Office / Retail is covered 

 Bin chutes – We have not had these in modern building, there is an issue if waste 
collection systems change in the future ie if paper/card and plastic/cans/glass have to 
be collected separately.  There is a higher chance of recycling contamination if 
residents put the wrong waste in the wrong chute.  I would be interested to see some 
examples of rubbish chutes being used in modern buildings and their success 
especially related to recycling quality. 

 Refuse vehicle access is fine. 

 It is the responsibility of the developer to pay for the bins, this can be done through 
the Council’s Waste Management Team. 

 Collections from sites will not occur until containers are in place.  It is the 
responsibility of the developer to collect and remove any waste at their cost until the 
Council is satisfied that all waste requirements have been met.  All complaints in 
regard to non-collection due to the fault of the developer will be passed onto to the 
developer for response. 

 The Council should be informed at least two weeks prior to the waste collections by 
the council taking place. 

GBC Conservation Architect  
10 Storeys is excessive in this location and will still appear overbearing and out of 
character with the area.  Gravesham Court is 9 storeys and the modern Penoyre & 
Prasad building is 7 storeys.  Due to the road width and lack of set back of the proposal it 
would be advisable not to exceed 8 storeys in this location. 
 
External 
 
Network Rail 
Network Rail is the statutory undertaker for maintaining and operating railway 
infrastructure of England, Scotland and Wales. As statutory undertaker, NR is under 
license from the Department for Transport (DfT) and Transport Scotland (TS) and 
regulated by the Office of Rail and Road (ORR) to maintain and enhance the operational 
railway and its assets, ensuring the provision of a safe operational railway. 
 
Network Rail has no objection in principle, however, due to the close proximity of the 
proposed development to Network Rail’s land and the operational railway, Network Rail 
requests the applicant / developer engages Network Rail’s Asset Protection and 
Optimisation (ASPRO) team via AssetProtectionLondonSouthEast@networkrail.co.uk 
prior to works commencing. This will allow our ASPRO team to review the details of the 
proposal to ensure that no part of the development adversely impacts the safety, 
operation and integrity of the operational railway.  
 
The applicant / developer may be required to enter into an Asset Protection Agreement to 
get the required resource and expertise on-board to enable approval of detailed works. 
More information can also be obtained from our website 

Page 22



https://www.networkrail.co.uk/running-the-railway/looking-after-the-railway/asset-
protection-and-optimisation/.  
  
Where applicable, the applicant / developer must also follow the attached Asset 
Protection informatives which are issued to all proposals within close proximity to the 
railway (compliance with the informatives does not remove the need to engage with our 
ASPRO team).  
  
KCC Heritage 
The application documentation includes an archaeological desk-based assessment  
(DBA) including an impact assessment (Moles Archaeology, 2021). The DBA notes  
how the site lies within an area of multi-period archaeological potential with the site  
having a particular potential for Romano-British and Georgian archaeological  
interest.   
 
The DBA impact assessment sets out evidence for past impacts and presents  
evidence for the potential survival of pockets of below-ground deposits which might  
have archaeological potential (DBA Fig. 15). It is noted in the DBA that no  
basements or deep excavations are proposed and that impacts to areas of  
archaeological potential would be limited to lines of piles and relatively shallow  
service runs. If this is the case then I would agree with the conclusions of the DBA  
that it is unlikely that the proposed development would have a significant  
archaeological impact. However, I am uncertain from the submitted details whether  
there will be more than just pile impacts in the areas of archaeological potential and  
for this reason there remains the potential for impacts to below-ground  
archaeological remains in specific areas of the site and I recommend that the  
following condition be applied to any forthcoming consent: 
 
No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or  
successors in title, has secured the implementation of an archaeological  
watching brief to be undertaken by an archaeologist approved by the Local  
Planning Authority so that groundworks are observed and items of interest  
and finds are recorded. The watching brief shall be in accordance with a  
 
Written Scheme of Investigation, which has been submitted to and approved in  
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
HSE 
A further consultation was received on 04/10/2022 providing revised plan drawings 
For the avoidance of doubt, this consultation is in relation to the information provided 
with the consultation of 04/10/2022.  
 
Following a review of the information provided with this consultation, HSE is satisfied 
with the fire safety design, to the extent that it affects land use planning.    
 
Historic England 
Thank you for your email of 8th July 2022 regarding further information on the above 
application for planning permission. On the basis of this information, we offer the following 
advice to assist your authority in determining the application. 
 
Historic England wrote to you previously with our substantial advice on the above 
application dated 21 March 2022. As part of that advice, we recognised that there is an 
existing consent in place (ref: 2003/0315) and had no in principle objection to the 
development of this site. 
 

Page 23



We did however have concerns over the potential harmful impact the scale and design of 
the proposed new building would have on the setting of nearby conservation areas and 
listed buildings. We drew attention to how the tallest element might relate to views across 
the historic townscape and suggested that accurate visual representations should be 
provided to explore these issues.  
 
We are pleased verified visuals have now been included so we can provide the following 
advice to assist your authority. The significance of the historic environment and policy 
sections have not been reiterated below, so please read this advice in conjunction our 21 
March advice letter.  
 
Historic England Advice  
 
As set out in the Heritage Addendum (Walled Garden Heritage), two verified visuals have 
now been prepared from Windmill Hill (Viewpoint 1) and Stone Street (Viewpoint 2).  
 
From the verified views we believe the proposals would cause some harm to the 
significance of Windmill Hill Conservation Area, Upper Windmill Hill Street Conservation 
Area and St George’s Church. This harm in our view would be towards the lower end of 
the ‘less than substantial’ range in NPPF terms. 
 
View 1 is from the summit of Windmill Hill. We think this view is important as it indicates 
the proposed building would appear prominently on axis in this view, breaking above the 
horizon, which forms the background to views overlooking the historic townscape.  As set 
out in our initial advice, and the Windmill Hill Conservation Area (Character Area 2b) 
Windmill Hill is known for its far-reaching views out to the north and east, which have 
historic significance as the hill has been used an observation point from at least the 14th 
century. There is therefore a strong relationship between the views from Windmill Hill, the 
town below and views out over towards the river and Essex.  
 
We think it’s unfortunate the development would break above this largely unbroken 
horizon and would introduce a stark juxtaposition compared to the low-rise conservation 
areas that surround the site. This would present a clear detraction from these panoramic 
views to the north and impede the ability to appreciate the organic evolution of the historic 
core of the town.  
 
We recognise other tall buildings consented within Gravesend appear in this view also, 
however these are predominately located to the north and western parts of the town. The 
seldom consented scheme (ref: 20191122) that breaks above the skyline is located more 
on the western periphery in this view. 
 
The harm to the significance of St George’s Church principally derives from the 
cumulative erosion of the spire’s prominence within the wider townscape. The spire was 
designed as a focal point of the town, which could be appreciated from the river, as well 
as from Windmill Hill and from Essex. 18th Century drawings of Gravesend emphases the 
primacy the spire has had over the townscape. It’s clear the prominence of the spire has 
been compromised by recent/consented development. However, the construction of this 
13-storey tower in the foreground and by breaking above the horizon would further reduce 
our appreciation of the historical design intention and its prominence within the 
townscape. 
 
View 2 shows Stone Street (Viewpoint 2), a focal point of the Upper Windmill Street 
Conservation Area. As this view shows the development would appear substantially taller 
than the immediate surrounding townscape, standing out in isolation directly above the 
homogonous historic townscape in the foreground. This would reduce the appreciation of 

Page 24



the historic roofscape and enclosed character of the conservation area, which would 
cause some harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area. We however 
recognise that the site has a permission for up to 9 storeys on the site, and therefore we 
do not think the additional impact of this scheme would be much greater than what has 
already been consented. Due to the site's sensitive position adjacent to the conservation 
area, if your council is minded to grant consent, we recommend you should seek and 
approve samples of all new materials, to ensure the quality of the design. 
 
Paragraph 195 of the NPPF highlights the need to minimise harm. In our March 2022 
advice, we recommended exploring ways to further minimise the harm to the historic 
environment (design changes or reduced density). The applicant’s reasons for not 
pursuing design changes are set out in their response to our letter (Walled Garden 
Heritage). However, no information has been shared to demonstrate the harm cannot be 
reduced through a reduction in the tower's height. Reducing the size of the tower to 9 
storeys (accepting that the Council had resolved to grant permission for a previous 
scheme of this scale) would in our view further minimise the harm, as it would likely bring 
the scheme below the horizon in the view from Windmill Hill, reducing the prominence of 
the tower. We therefore suggest you must be satisfied that it is not possible to achieve a 
viable scheme in a less harmful way (e.g., possibly with fewer units and a smaller tower 
element). 
 
If your Council is satisfied that the harm has been minimised, and that any residual harm 
is justified under the terms of the NPPF (Para 200) it is for your Council to carry out the 
weighing exercise between harm and public benefit (including heritage benefit) as 
required by paragraph 202 of the NPPF.   
 
To assist your Council’s consideration of this application, we draw your attention to 
Historic England’s Advice Note 4 on Tall Buildings which states that “if a tall building is 
harmful to the historic environment, then without a careful examination of the worth of any 
public benefits that the proposed tall building is said to deliver and of the alternative 
means of delivering them, the planning authority is unlikely to be able to find a clear and 
convincing justification for the cumulative harm” (p.10). 
 
In carrying out the weighing exercise, we think it helpful to note that this application 
doesn’t offer any notable heritage benefits. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. 
 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed 
in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 195, 200 and 202 of 
the NPPF. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving listed buildings or their setting or any features of 
special architectural or historic interest which they possess; and section 72(1) of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation 
areas. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material 
changes to the proposals, or you would like further advice, please contact us. 

Page 25



 
Southern Water 
From our initial assessment of the existing apparatus, it appears that there is limited  
opportunity to divert existing combined sewer (culverted). Southern Water therefore 
objects to the proposed development layout. If planning permission were to be granted, 
Southern Water (as the statutory undertaker) would request that the Council (as the 
Building Control Authority) refuse Building Regulations approval on the grounds that 
building over the public combined culverted sewer cannot be permitted. In order to 
progress the proposed development on the site, the layout should be amended to achieve 
the required standoff distances. Southern Water requests that this application is not 
determined until such time as the applicant produces a suitable layout.  
 
The submitted drainage information shows that applicant is proposing to divest a public 
foul sewer. Any public sewer divesting proposals shall be approved by Southern Water 
under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act. An application should be made using 
Southern Water's Get Connected Service at developerservices.southernwater.co.uk 
 
KCC Highways and Transportation Services  
This application was the subject of pre-application highways discussions back in October 
2020 when generally the requirements of the Highway Authority were resolved and 
resulted in a Transport Assessment which covers the main highway issues. The Transport 
Assessment dated 11th January 2022 in support of the application is generally 
acceptable, however the following issues are raised which require attention before the 
application can be considered acceptable in highway terms: 
 
Sustainable Transport (TA Section 4) 
The site is located in a sustainable location close to Gravesend town centre where local 
facilities including the railway station, bus services, shops etc. are readily accessible by 
foot utilising the existing footways alongside Lord Street, Parrock Street and the 
footbridge across the railway at the norther side of the site. However, no attempt has 
been made to provide suitable cycle routes from the site, particularly since the footbridge 
across the railway to the north is too narrow and no cycle facilities are provided alongside 
existing roads. This was discussed with the applicant at pre-application stage with the 
suggestion by the HA that a possible contra-flow route alongside Parrock Street to Manor 
Road (which is lightly trafficked) or other alternatives to access the town centre / railway 
station by cycle. It is not considered sufficient purely to state that in paragraph 4.4.11 that 
cycle parking is provided on site without any safe and convenient cycle routes being 
provided. Further investigation and proposals are required, particularly in order to comply 
with the requirements of the NPPF Para 104. 
 
Eden Place (TA Para 5.1.2) 
Eden Place is an existing adopted road and therefore any proposed changes to it will 
require to be undertaken under a Section 278 Agreement with the Highway Authority. In 
the TA 3 options have been shown, all or none of which may be acceptable to the HA 
without further details being submitted. It is recommended that a requirement for the 
submission and approval of the details of the Eden Place changes be made, probably as 
part of a Section 106 Agreement, prior to commencement of the development. It is 
accepted that it would be impractical for the works to Eden Place be completed prior to 
commencement on site but the details should at least be approved, and a Section 278 
Agreement completed. Any encroachment areas onto existing public highway by the 
development will need to be extinguished before construction commences via the 
appropriate procedure. 
 
Cycle Parking (TA Section 5.3) 

Page 26



The proposed cycle parking meets the requirements of Kent Parking Standards (SPG4) 
and should be conditioned such that the cycle parking facilities are completed and 
available prior to first occupation of the development. The provision of cycle parking for 
accessible cycles is welcomed. 
 
Car Parking (TA Section 5.4) 
The low level of car parking (52 spaces against a maximum of 320 = 16%) is acceptable 
for a town centre location with nearby public car parking available and where the SPG4 
standard is a maximum requirement, this needs to be supported (as stated in para 5.4.7) 
by a pedestrian and cycle led scheme. As previously stated, the cycle provision is very 
poor and also needs to be supported by other mitigating measures such as a robust 
Travel Plan, public transport tickets, a car club and similar. A Travel Plan should be 
submitted and approved prior to first occupation and covered by an appropriate section in 
a Section 106 agreement and monitored by the Highway Authority with payment of the 
appropriate fee. The proposal for 20% of parking spaces to have EV charging and for the 
remaining 80% to have passive provision is acceptable and should be Conditioned. 
The TA has demonstrated that in Gravesham town centre, taking into account the loss of 
the parking on the development site, there is adequate capacity to provide sufficient 
parking in the town to compensate for the low parking level on site. 
 
Servicing and Access (TA Section 5.6) 
Tracking diagrams demonstrate that access by service vehicles is achievable but is very 
tight. It is noted that the size of the refuse freighter used is not to the latest standard used 
by GBC and the tracking diagrams should be adjusted to take this into account and 
demonstrate that access is still achievable. The vehicle visibility splays shown in the TA 
are acceptable and these should be the subject of an appropriate Condition and provided 
prior to first occupation. However, the 2m x 2m pedestrian visibility splays for vehicles 
exiting the car park access are incorrectly drawn and need to be revised to ensure that 
pedestrians walking along Eden Place are clearly visible to vehicles exiting the car park. 
Again, the pedestrian visibility splays should be controlled via an appropriate Condition 
prior to first occupation.  
 
Given the low level of parking provision, it is important to understand how parking on the 
development with be managed and to this end it is recommended that a Car Park 
Management Plan is Conditioned to be submitted and approved prior to first occupation. 
 
Traffic Impact Assessment (TA Section 6) 
It is considered that the net impact of the development, taking into account the trip 
generation from the existing car park, will not have any severe impact on the local 
highway network. In taking account of the proposed low parking provision on the 
development, it is considered that this is unlikely to result in any severe highway safety or 
congestion issues and therefore should not be a reason for refusal as stated in NPPF 
Para 111. 
 
Traffic distribution numbers appear to be acceptable, and the overall cumulative impact of 
the local highway network cannot be considered to be severe, possibly even a reduction 
in traffic generation provided adequate sustainable alternatives are provided as part of the 
mitigating measures. 
 
Construction 
Given the central location of the development on the inner ring road in Gravesend it is 
recommended that a Construction Management Plan including HGV routing, materials 
storage, operative parking, timing of deliveries etc. should be Conditioned to be submitted 
and approved prior to any works commencing. 
 

Page 27



Safety Audit Stage One (TA Appendix G) 
The following issues raised by the Safety Auditors need to be addressed: 
 
Item 1.2 – Eden Place is to remain two-way and the effect of this change needs to be 
considered. 
 
1.12 – Crash Data should be included in the body of the Transport Assessment. 
 
2.2 – GBC Parking Manager should be consulted on the likely impact of inappropriate 
parking. 
 
2.3 – Details of changes to Eden Place need to be approved separately by KCC 
Highways as it is an adopted highway. 
 
3.2 – Swept paths should be provided for access to Bennett & Brown service area. 
Conclusions 
 
Whilst the majority of the development proposals and their impact of the local highway 
network are acceptable, there are particular concerns regarding the lack of provision of 
cycle travel, 
pedestrian sight lines at the car park exit, the works proposed to Eden Place. It is 
therefore concluded that the application should be subject to a holding objection until 
these matters are resolved. Any recommended proposed Conditions and / or S106 terms 
are shown in bold in the above response. 
 
Environment Agency 
No objection 
 
KCC Biodiversity Officer 
No objection 
 
National Highways  
No Objection  
 
Natural England 
No objection Subject to SAMMS Payment 
 
Kent Police 
As mentioned within the Secured By Design document on the planning portal, dated 
11.01.2022, we have met with the applicant late last year to discuss crime prevention 
principles in the pre-app stages.  
 
 I can confirm that our advice has been fully incorporated into this design, and the 
applicant is committed to assisting to reduce the opportunity for crime in this area. 
However, we request a planning condition to ensure crime prevention through 
environmental design is implemented successfully.  
 
 If approved, site security is required for the construction phase. There is a duty for the 
principle contractor “to take reasonable steps to prevent access by unauthorised persons 
to the construction site” under the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 
2007. The site security should incorporate plant, machinery, supplies, tools and other 
vehicles and be site specific to geography and site requirements.  
 

Page 28



 This information is provided by Kent Police DOCO’s and refers to situational crime 
prevention. This advice focuses on CPTED and Community Safety with regard to this 
specific planning application.  
 
Kent Fire & Rescue Service 
I confirm that the means of access for the fire and rescue service under the above act 
would be considered satisfactory subject to the details within the below documents 
accessed on your portal being designed and implemented as detailed;  
 

  19359-MA-XX-XX-DR-C-0003 Fire tender swept path analysis.  

  Design and access statement.  

  Proposed site plan 00392 SLK XX 00 DR A 0200.  
 
 Applicants should be aware that in the event of planning permission being granted the 
Fire and  Rescue Service would require emergency access, as required under the 
Building Regulations 2010, to be established.  
 
Sports England 
No objection. 
 
Kent and Medway NHS 
NHS Kent and Medway has delegated commissioning responsibility for general practice 
services  in Dartford, Gravesham & Swanley and reviews planning applications to assess 
the direct impact on general practice.   
 
 I refer to the above full planning application which concerns the proposed residential 
development comprising up to 156 dwellings.  
 
 NHS Kent and Medway has assessed the implications of this proposal on delivery of 
general practice services and is of the opinion that it will have a direct impact which will 
require mitigation through the payment of an appropriate financial contribution of £97,848. 
 
KCC – Developer Contributions 
 

Contribution Amount Per Unit Total Amount 

Secondary Education  £1,135.00 £107,825.00 

Special Education Needs 
and Disability 

£262.96 £41,021.76 
 

Community Learning £16.42 £2561.52 

Youth Services £65.20 £10,218.00 

Waste £129.20 £20,155.20 
 

Adult Social Care £146.88 £22,913.28 

Libraries £55.45.00 £8,650.20 

Total amount Payable  
 

£213,344.96 

Trigger Point Prior to Commencement  
 

 
Publicity  
This application was advertised as a major development proposal by publication of a 
press notice, display of site notices and by neighbour notification letters sent to 
addresses in the vicinity of the site.  

 

Page 29



As a result of the consultation process 5 responses have been received which raise 
the following material planning considerations; 
 

 No need for more retail units 

 Loss of parking unacceptable. 

 The development should include affordable housing 

 Loss of light to surrounding properties 

 Adverse impact on health services 

 Increase in traffic 

 The original car park should be replaced. 

 13 storey development is too high. 
 

  
5.  Planning Analysis and Service Manager (Planning) Comments 

 
Site History and Context 
 

5.1 The application site comprises of an open-air car park known as Lord Street and some 
surrounding land. 
 

5.2 The application site was once two storey 19th century terraced housing which is shown 
below. 

 
1863-5 OS Plan 
 

 
 

 

Page 30



5.3 It was not until the late 1960’s that the area was cleared of the majority of housing (a 
terrace of 7 dwellings was retained fronting onto Parrock Street) and the wider site was 
used as a multi-storey car park along with some open air car parking. This is shown 
below; 

 

  
 

5.4 In 2004 with the approval of planning application 20030315 the multi-storey car park and 
7 dwellings were demolished in 2005 as part of the implementation of the application. 
However, the developer (Barratts) returned the site to Gravesham Council in 2009 
having failed to develop the site, due to the then economic downturn.  

 
5.5 Since the site has been handed back to the Council it has been in use as temporary 

unsurfaced open-air car park and during the height of the covid pandemic part of the site 
was used as a testing centre. 

 
5.6 The below aerial photograph and OS Plan show the site as it currently is/ 

 
Aerial Photograph      OS Plan 
 

       
 

5.7 Planning approval 20030315 was lawfully implemented with the following elements of the 
application being completed, and Lord Street Car Park itself being piled to accommodate 
development.  
 
B) Demolition of existing two storey car park and erection of 11 two/three storey, three 
bedroom terraced houses attached to three/four storey building to provide 14 one and 
two bedroom self-contained flats, one detached 3 bedroom dwelling; laying out of 
children's play garden and 35 car parking spaces. 
 

Page 31



C) Erection of a seven storey building to provide 12 two bedroom self-contained flats and 
erection of a three storey terrace of eight four bedroom houses and the laying out of 27 
car parking spaces. 
 

5.8 Whilst the multistorey car park and dwellings were demolished and the residential 
element on the site not completed, these works can be resumed at any point. As such 
this is a material planning consideration for this proposal and represents a genuine fall-
back position. 
 

5.9 With the adoption of Gravesham Core Strategy (2014) it should be noted that the site is 
not allocated as a key site but is mentioned within the Core strategy at paragraph 4.6.29: 
 
The Lord Street/Parrock Street sites are used as car parks. There is a planning 
permission for the Lord Street car park site, involving the provision of residential 
development, live-work units and commercial/community floorspace at ground floor level 
along the street frontages. The sites may offer scope for mixed use development but 
their future will depend on the outcome of work being carried out on public car parking 
provision. Lord Street is within the defined town centre. 

 
5.10 With regard to the principles of development more generally, the proposal would also 

comply with Policy CS02 (LPCS), which prioritises development in the urban area, and 
particularly on previously developed land, as a sustainable location for development. In 
summary, the principle of development is acceptable on this site, subject to the detailed 
elements of the scheme complying with local and national policy.  

 
5.11 In the wider context of the application site is located at the southern end of the town 

centre. 

 
5.12 Further to the north is the allocated site known as ‘Heritage Quarter’ which is covered by 

Policy CS05 (LPCS) as a key development site for high quality, mixed use development. 
This site is currently under construction, with the development known as ‘The Charter’. 

 
5.13 Further to the west of St. Georges Centre is the former hospital site known as M Block 

which has consent for residential use (ref 20220915). The proposal includes an 11 storey 
side extension to the existing building and below is an extract which shows that 
extension. 
 
M Block CGI Image 
 

 

Page 32



 
5.14 West of M block is Clifton Slipways which has approval (reference 20191122) for 227 

units and includes a 20 storey tower above the pier level. 
 
CGI Image of Clifton Slipways 

 

 
 

5.15 The former Woolworths building has permission (ref: 20191051) for residential office and 
retail use and this scheme is currently under construction. Below shows an image of the 
development under construction; 
 

 
 

5.16 There is also resolution to grant permission (ref: 20210453) subject to the signing of the 
S.106 agreement for a residential scheme on the old cinema site along king street which 
is shown below; 
 

 

Page 33



 
5.17 The following aerial image puts the context of this application site in relation to other town 

centre sites. 
 

 

Page 34



 
Housing Need and the Principle of Development 
 

5.18 Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over 
the Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new 
dwellings during the period, with the Objectively Assessed Need derived from the 
Standard Method set out in the NPPF and PPG (Planning Practice Guidance) advising 
that this figure is now significantly higher (707 dwellings/year as at April 2022). Evidence 
now available shows that the Council is not able to demonstrate a five-year housing 
supply. This engages the first part of footnote 7 of the NPPF (2021) and this means for 
decision-taking that planning permission for applications involving the provision of 
housing should granted in line with the requirements of the NPPF (2021) Para 11(d) 
unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed.  
 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 
 

5.19 In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are those 
set out in the NPPF (2021) at footnote 7 (rather than those in development plans) 
relating to any of the following: 
 

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in NPPF paragraph 180) 

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest;  

 Green Belt,  

 Local Green Space,  

 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 Irreplaceable habitats;  

 Designated heritage assets (& other heritage assets of archaeological interest, see 
NPPF footnote 67); and  

 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change. 
 

5.20 In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council will 
therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability 
or otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the 
need to make efficient use of land (paragraph 125(c)) in context, the relative 
contribution the proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing 
delivery at that time and any other considerations material to the proposed 
development 
 

5.21 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘156’ dwellings would offer a 
significant contribution towards meeting local housing need and, accordingly, officers 
consider that this should be accorded significant weight in support of the application. 

 
5.22 However, as part of this balancing exercise it should be noted that paragraphs 130 

and 134 of the NPPF (2021) requires development to add to the overall quality of the 
area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create acceptable 
amenity for future occupiers.  With Section 16 of the NPPF (2021), also requiring the 
development to conserve and enhance the local historic environment.  

 

Page 35



5.23 Notwithstanding the Council’s shortages in housing delivery and the consequent weight 
to be given in favour of the proposed development it is necessary to assess the 
proposals against the policies in the NPPF (2021)) and established local planning policy 
taken as a whole. 

 
5.24 The key issues to be considered are as follows: 

 

 Heritage, Design, Character and appearance  

 Sustainability  

 Amenity (Future Occupiers) 

 Amenity (Neighbours) 

 Open Space 

 Tall Buildings Fire Safety 

 Wind/Microclimate 

 Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

 Surface Water Drainage 

 Contaminated Land 

 Ecology and Biodiversity 

 Highways 

 Commercial Uses  

 Planning Balance and Conclusion 
 

 
Heritage, Design, Character and appearance  

 
5.25 When considering the design of this proposal, it needs to be considered against the 

relevant local and national planning policy.  Policy CS15 (LPCS) states that sites will be 
developed at a variety of densities depending on the sites location and accessibility to 
public transport.  Furthermore, development needs to be delivered at a density that 
achieves good design and does not compromise the character of the area. 
 

5.26 Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new development will be 
derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and will make a positive 
contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm and the character of the 
area. The NPPF (2021) sets out that the creation of high-quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve and add to 
the overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
5.27 At a national level, the NPPF (2021) Section 12 states development should create high 

quality buildings and places which will function well and add to the overall quality of the 
area for the lifetime of the development.   
 

5.28 The site is currently an unsurfaced car park following the demolition of the multi storey car 
park and other buildings on the site. There is extant permission on site for a four to nine 
storey development which established the principle of height and massing on site.  
 
Design Evolution  
 

5.29 The starting point with this proposal is the extant scheme (20030315). 
 

5.30 To appreciate how the Lord Street scheme evolved the following images shows the 
proposed site layout and key elevations of the extant scheme for Lord Street Car Park.  
Proposed site layout 

Page 36



 
 

South Elevation     North Elevation 
 

         
 
 

East Elevation     West Elevation  
 

   
 

5.31 The architect acknowledges that the site is a negative feature within the wider townscape 
and this proposal will transformation the site into a mixed used development and help 
with the wider regeneration of Gravesend town centre. The Council has held aspirations 
to regenerate this site since the early noughties, with the delivery of this regeneration 
being delayed by prevailing economic and housing market conditions.  
 

5.32 As set out in supporting Design & Access statement the architects key aims for this 
development is to enhance both the site and wider area by achieving the following key 
principles 

 The wider movement network, with an emphasis on the north/south routes that run to 

the river edge; 

 The perimeter block structure, in particular the edges fronting onto Lord Street, 

Parrock Street and Eden Place; 

 The Conservation Areas, enhanced by the proposed bult edges along Parrock Street 

and Eden Place; 

Page 37



 The ‘gateway’ into Gravesend town centre at the Lord Street/Parrock Street junction, 

defined by a landmark proposed tower. The tower will also define the view 

northwards from Parrock Street. 

 The mixed use offer, and active ground level frontage, found within the town centre, 

by way of new live/work, retail space, community facility and office space on the 

proposed ground floors of Parrock Street, Eden Place and Lord Street. 

5.33 The application submitted is a result of extensive pre-application discussions and further 
negotiations took place during the course of the application. As a result of the latest 
negotiations the tallest element of the scheme, the tower on the corner of Parrock Street / 
Lord Street has been reduced from 13 storeys to 10 storeys. Other changes to the 
scheme have also been made to ensure it complies with local and national planning 
policy. 
 

5.34 Whilst there is an extant scheme on site the architect cites the following concerns with the 
extant scheme. 

 
Planning is extant for the 2005 planning permission, and can be built as it was designed 
then, however we identified a number of shortcomings in this scheme, which included 
problematic and potentially dangerous access arrangements, dated looking elevational 
treatments. With this understanding, we are of the view that improvements to the design 
must be made to ensure good design, as well as a viable development, are achieved. 

 
5.35 Turning to elevations the architect has taken into account careful consideration on how 

each elevation will relate to the surrounding townscape and this is explored further below. 
 
Proposed Site Plan 
 

 
 

Page 38



North Elevation 
 

5.36 The north elevation that fronts onto the railway line is 7 storeys in height with a strong 
vertical emphasis. The design of this elevation is a mix of four architectural styles which 
complement each other as shown below. 

 

 
 

5.37 On the northeast corner the building steps down to 4 storeys to create a corner feature 
which has a contemporary design and is in keeping with the building height of the 
surrounding properties on Parrock Street.  

 
South Elevation 

 
5.38 The south elevation is a key elevation for this development and has a contemporary 

approach that consists of 10 storeys. Originally the tallest element, the tower was 13 
storeys but has been subsequently reduced to 10 storeys to ensure the tower is in 
keeping with the scale of the wider development and townscape. The remainder of the 
south elevation is 5 storeys in order to reflect the existing scale of buildings Parrock 
Street (3 and 4 storey) and Lord Street (3 storey). At ground floor, care and attention has 
been taken to include an active frontage with a retail unit at the south west corner and 
office space at ground floor with the south east corner being residents entrance to the 
tower. 

 
5.39 A result of this the 10 storey tower and 5 storey element creates a gateway into the town 

centre when approaching from the south from Parrock Street which is an acceptable 
design. This is demonstrated below: 

 

Page 39



 
 

5.40 Further to the south of the site there are a number of tall buildings including Gravesham 
Court and Homemead Court, (9-storeys,) and the 7-storey tower delivered as part of the 
20030315 implemented scheme, as shown below. 
 

 
 
 

5.41 It is considered that the 10 storey tower with this development being only 1 storey higher 
than Gravesham/Homemead Court is not out of keeping with the character and 
appearance of the wider area, albeit further consideration needs to be given to the impact 
of the proposed development and height of the tower on heritage assets and wider 
historic views. 
 

East Elevation 
 

5.42 The east elevation fronts onto Parrock Street and has active frontage at ground floor 
being office/retail uses with residential entrances.  The height of this elevation reflects the 
three and four storey elevations on the eastern side of Parrock Street and reintroduces 
active built form that has been missing from the western side of Parrock Street since the 
initial site clearance of the 1960’s 
  

5.43 The below photograph is looking north towards Parrock Street and shows the multi-storey 
car park and that it was a negative feature that turned its back on Parrock Street. 
 
 

 
 

Page 40



5.44 As shown below the proposed development will repair the urban fabric of Parrock Street.  
 

Proposed Scheme                                    Existing Site 
 

    
 

 
5.45 Internally the layout of the building would deliver parking and cycle storage at ground 

floor, this would be covered with a courtyard above, which provides amenity space for 
future occupiers. In addition various roof terraces are proposed to provide on-site 
communal amenity space. 
 

5.46 In design terms, subject to heritage considerations and all external materials being 
conditioned the scheme is deemed to be acceptable and complies with local and national 
planning policy. 

 
Heritage 
 

5.47 In considering this proposal, the impact on heritage assets needs to be considered. 
Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
requires special attention to be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character and appearance conservation areas and sections 66(1) of the Act 1990 
requires the Local Planning Authority amongst other things to have special regard to the 
setting of listed buildings.  
 

5.48 Policy CS20 (LPCS) sets out that the Council will accord a high priority towards the 
preservation, protection and enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a 
non-renewable resource central to the regeneration of the area and the reinforcement of 
sense of place.  Proposals and initiatives will be supported which preserve and, where 
appropriate, enhance the significance of the Borough’s heritage assets, their setting 
where it contributes to the significance of the asset and their interpretation and 
enjoyment, especially where these contribute to the distinct identity of the Borough.  
Saved Policy TC2 (LPFR) requires the setting of the Listed Buildings to be protected and 
Saved Policy TC3 (LPFR) expects development to make a positive contribution to 
Conservation Areas. 
 

5.49 Paragraph 195 of the NPPF (2021) states ‘Local Planning Authorities should identify and 
assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a 
proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking 
account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this 
into account when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or 
minimise any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal.’ 

 
5.50 Paragraph 197 of the NPPF (2021) requires the following to be taken into account 

 
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets  

Page 41



and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;  
 
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to  
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and  
 
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local  
character and distinctiveness. 
 

5.51 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF (2021) states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight 
should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the greater 
the weight should be. The courts have determined that considerable importance and 
weight should be given to harm found to the significance of listed buildings. 
 

5.52 Paragraph 200 of the NPPF (2021) requires that any harm to, or loss of, the significance 
of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development 
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification. This application is 
accompanied by a substantial Townscape, Visual and Heritage Assessment along with a 
planning statement and Design & Access Statement.  

 
5.53 A small portion of the site in the northwest corner falls within the Upper Windmill 

Conservation Area with the remainder of the site being outside any conservation areas. 
However, the site is bounded along its western boundary by the remainder of the Upper 
Windmill Conservation Area and to the east and north by the King Street Conservation 
Areas. Further to the south is Upper Windmill Conservation Area. The below image 
shows the site in the centre, in relation to the conservation areas.  

 
Conservation Areas Plan 
 

 

Page 42



 
5.54 In addition to the Conservation Areas there are a large number of listed buildings within 

the vicinity which are shown on the image below; 
 
Listed Buildings Plan 
 

 
 

5.55 The Grade II listed buildings, including: 

 38 - 50 St George's Terrace 

 51 - 54 Windmill Street 

 55 - 59 Windmill Street 

 68 And 69 Windmill Street 

 70 and 71 Windmill Street 

 20 - 24 Stone Street 

 K6 Telephone Box, Milton Road 

The Site 

Lord 
Street 
(CP) 

Page 43



 St Johns Roman Catholic Parish Church 

 157 And 158 Milton Road 

 195 And 196 Parrock Street 

 188 To 192 Parrock Street 
 

5.56 In the wider context (see below) of the town there are other listed buildings not limited to 
but including St. Georges Church (Grade II*); 
 

 
 

5.57 The application site consists of an open-air unsurfaced car park which has no direct 
heritage value and results in a scare for the historic townscape of Gravesend. When 
looking at the heritage impacts of this proposal a material consideration is the extant 
scheme which has been lawfully implemented on site, but with no further works to build 
out this scheme, currently taking place.  
 

5.58 To appreciate how the current scheme will enhance and preserve the various heritage 
this is best demonstrated when the key elevations of the extant scheme and compared to 
the extant scheme which was submitted 20 years ago (2003); 

 
 
 

The Site 
Lord 

Street 
(CP) 

Page 44



 
South Elevation (Extant Scheme) 
 
 

 
 
South Elevation (Proposed Scheme) 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 45



 
North Elevation (Extant Scheme) 
 

 
 
 
 
North Elevation (Proposed Scheme) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
East Elevation (Extant Scheme) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
East Elevation (Proposed Scheme) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
West Elevation (Extant Scheme) 
 

 
 
 
 
West Elevation (Proposed Scheme) 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 48



5.59 Turning first to the impact on the surrounding Conservation areas and localised views the 
Upper Windmill Conservation Area appraisal identifies two positive views towards the 
application site. One being looking east on Lord Street and the other when looking east 
from the square in front of the Civic Centre. The King Street Conservation Area appraisal 
identifies a positive view southwards along Parrock Street, when viewed from the outside 
of the location of the New Inn Public House. These positive views are shown below (see 
positive views circled red) 

 
Upper Windmill Street Conservation Area - Townscape Appraisal Map (Partial extract)  
 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 49



King Street Conservation Area - Townscape Appraisal Map (Partial extract) 
 

 
 

 
 

5.60 The Windmill Hill Conservation Area however identifies a more strategic view from 
Windmill Hill, that takes in the site of Lord Street Car Park and the wider town scape that 
consists of the Gravesend Town Centre and beyond, “Far reaching views extend 
northwards and eastwards across the town, the river and over to the County of Essex on 
the opposite shore. The hill has been identified as an observation point from at least the 
14th century.” This positive views is shown below (see positive views circled red) 

 
 

Page 50



Windmill Hill Conservation Area - Townscape Appraisal Map (Partial extract) 
 

 
 
 
 

5.61 It is worth noting from the offset that Historic England have commented on the application 
and confirm from that with the extant scheme in place they have no objection in principle 
to the development of this site stating the following: 
 
Historic England acknowledges that there are benefits in redeveloping this site for a  
high density, mixed-use scheme which will help the area’s regeneration. 
 

5.62 Historic England initially focused upon the tallest element of the building which would 
likely have had an adverse impact on the wider street scape of the town. 

 
Historic England raise… “concerns over the potential harmful impact the scale and 
design of the proposed new building would have on the setting of nearby conservation 
areas and listed buildings. We drew attention to how the tallest element might relate to 

Page 51



views across the historic townscape and suggested that accurate visual representations 
should be provided to explore these issues.” 

 
5.63 In addition to the tower, Historic England raise concern on the external finish of the 

development. 
 
The massing and elevational treatment of the proposed development also fails to draw  
on the local character and distinctiveness of the surrounding conservation areas and  
specifically on the sense of rhythm created by a tighter historic grain. We think the  
strong horizontal emphasis of the podium level and use of block colours across the  
length of an elevation is particularly problematic in this regard. 
 

5.64 In response to the above concerns the agent has provided verified views to aid Historic 
England. Having reviewed these CGI images Historic England concludes that the harm 
would be at the lower end of ‘less than substantial’. 
 

5.65 The concern over the height of the tower was shared by Officers including Gravesham’s 
Conservation Architect who wished to see the tower reduced in height. 
 

5.66 Historic England conclude the following on the verified views from the summit of Windmill 
Hill Conservation Area by stating the following: 
 
View 1 is from the summit of Windmill Hill. We think this view is important as it indicates 
the proposed building would appear prominently on axis in this view, breaking above the 
horizon, which forms the background to views overlooking the historic townscape.  As set 
out in our initial advice, and the Windmill Hill Conservation Area (Character Area 2b) 
Windmill Hill is known for its far-reaching views out to the north and east, which have 
historic significance as the hill has been used an observation point from at least the 14th 
century. There is therefore a strong relationship between the views from Windmill Hill, the 
town below and views out over towards the river and Essex.  
 
We think it’s unfortunate the development would break above this largely unbroken 
horizon and would introduce a stark juxtaposition compared to the low-rise conservation 
areas that surround the site. This would present a clear detraction from these panoramic 
views to the north and impede the ability to appreciate the organic evolution of the 
historic core of the town.  
 
We recognise other tall buildings consented within Gravesend appear in this view also, 
however these are predominately located to the north and western parts of the town. The 
seldom consented scheme (ref: 20191122) that breaks above the skyline is located more 
on the western periphery in this view. 
 
The harm to the significance of St George’s Church principally derives from the 
cumulative erosion of the spire’s prominence within the wider townscape. The spire was 
designed as a focal point of the town, which could be appreciated from the river, as well 
as from Windmill Hill and from Essex. 18th Century drawings of Gravesend emphases 
the primacy the spire has had over the townscape. It’s clear the prominence of the spire 
has been compromised by recent/consented development. However, the construction of 
this 13-storey tower in the foreground and by breaking above the horizon would further 
reduce our appreciation of the historical design intention and its prominence within the 
townscape. 
 
 

5.67 The below image shows the view that Historic England based their comments on the 
above comments. 

Page 52



 

 
 

5.68 The second view is from Stone Street and Historic England have provided the 
following comments. 
 
View 2 shows Stone Street (Viewpoint 2), a focal point of the Upper Windmill Street 
Conservation Area. As this view shows the development would appear substantially 
taller than the immediate surrounding townscape, standing out in isolation directly 
above the homogonous historic townscape in the foreground. This would reduce the 
appreciation of the historic roofscape and enclosed character of the conservation 
area, which would cause some harm to the character and appearance of the 
conservation area. We however recognise that the site has a permission for up to 9 
storeys on the site, and therefore we do not think the additional impact of this scheme 
would be much greater than what has already been consented. 
 

5.69 The below image shows the view that Historic England based their comments on the 
above comments, albeit with a red line added to emphasise the reduction in height of 
the tower. 

 

 

Page 53



 
5.70 Historic England are of the view that reducing the height of the tower to 9 storeys 

(same height as the extant scheme) would further minimise the harm of the scheme. 
(The red line on the above image shows the height reduction to). 
 

5.71 In response to the above the architect has provided revised plans which has removed 
three storeys from the development which dramatically alters the scheme by removing 
three floors from the tower, the revised plan compared to the original is shown below. 

 
 
10 Storeys      13 Storeys 
 

   
 

5.72 It is considered that the reduction in height and the additional justification supplied by 
the agent ensure the development complies with section 3 of Historic England Advice 
Notice 4 (Tall buildings), thereby reducing the harm of the proposed development 
upon local positive views, to broadly the harm that can occur under the presently 
implemented permission from 2003. The wider consideration of the proposed 
development in relation to the historic 14th century view from Windmill Hill is also 
positively addressed via the reduction in height, as indicated by the red line on the 
verified image below, which shows the extent to which the tower element has been 
reduced. Whilst the tower still remains as a prominent feature within the wider 
townscape, its impact is more comparable to the consented scheme from 2003, albeit 
being an additional storey taller. Ideally the 2003 consented scheme, and the 
proposed development would have not exceeded 8 storeys in height, which would 
have allowed for the proposed development to blend in further within the existing 
townscape. However,, with the wider regeneration of Gravesend Town Centre 
underway with developments such as The Charter under construction and other major 
schemes granted consent the townscape of Gravesend is positively changing. This 
scheme subject to high quality external facing materials will blend in well with 
townscape of Gravesend.  
 

Page 54



 
 

5.73 Historic England comments regarding external facing material and the palette choice 
of materials is noted. The architect has agreed that whilst the plans show a possible 
choice of external facing materials these can all be reserved by a planning condition. 
This would enable the LPA to have full control of the external finish and work with 
Historic England (where applicable) to ensure all their concerns are fully addressed. 
This would also allow for a palette of materials to be chosen, which reduces the 
prominence of the tower within the wider townscape. 

 
5.74 For the avoidance of doubt the submitted plans and documents do not show the 

external finish of the development. All external facing materials will be appropriately 
conditioned.  
 

5.75 It is considered that the removal of three storeys reduced the harm of the building and 
results in a scheme which is more in scale with the remainder of the wider scheme 
and results in a development that is much more in proportion with itself.  
 

5.76 Historic England comments have been taken into account along with the Conservation 
Architect and there concerns have been sufficiently addressed by reducing the height of 
the tower by 3 storeys.  

 
5.77 With regard to the harm to any surrounding listed buildings it is not considered this 

development (when taking into account the extant scheme) would adversely impact on 
the setting of any of the Listed Buildings within the vicinity of the area or the wider town 
centre. This has been confirmed by both Historic England and Gravesham Conservation 
Architect which state there is no harm to Listed Buildings. 

 
5.78 The comments from both parties have been taken into account and 3 storeys from the 

tower have been removed. 
 

5.79 Paragraph 202 of the NPPF (2021) states that where a development proposal will lead to 
less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm 

Page 55



should be weighted against the public benefits of the proposal including, where 
appropriate, securing its optimal viable use. The designated heritage asset is the 
surrounding Conservation Areas and listed buildings. The site is currently a negative 
feature to the surrounding Conservation Areas and he redevelopment of the site will be 
an improvement to the area (currently a car park) and an improvement over the extant 
scheme. 

 
5.80 In support of the scheme are a number of matters which need to be taken into account 

 

 The application site is previously developed land in a highly sustainable location and 
this approach to focusing development on sustainable locations is in line with the 
NPPF which advises that development should be focused on locations which are or 
can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine 
choice of transport modes. 

 The Local Planning Authority has under-delivered against its housing requirement as 
set out in policy CS02 (LPCS) with the prospect of an increased requirement, the 
Council is giving significant weight to the delivering of dwellings in sustainable 
locations such as this. 

 In respect to policy CS14 (LPCS) the delivery of 156 dwellings is a very positive 
proposal especially as all the units of accommodation meet the technical housing 
standards. 

 The NPPF (2021) is explicit about the Government’s objective of significantly boosting 
the supply of homes (paragraph 60), the need to take a positive approach to 
applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not allocated 
for a specific purpose in plans (paragraph 123) and to ensure that developments 
make optimal use of the potential of each site (paragraph 125). Therefore, in 
compliance with Policies CS02, CS14 and CS15 (LPCS) and the NPPF (2021) great  

 weight is given to the proposal for 156 new dwellings. 

 The site is a highly accessible location within easy walking of Gravesend Station with 
a built form in keeping with the character of the area, albeit conditions are needed to 
ensure that the detailing is of the quality needed for a building in this setting. 

 The harm caused to the Heritage assets is less than substantial and there is no harm 
to the setting of listed buildings. 
 

5.81 On balance it is considered that the proposed development with the reduction of the 
tower to 10 storeys will lead to less than substantial harm to the surrounding heritage 
assets. 

 
5.82 Policy CS20 (LPCS) seeks to preserve and enhance the significance of the Borough’s 

heritage assets and their setting. In the case of this application an unsurfaced car park 
(which is currently a negative feature) will be redeveloped with a mixed use scheme 
which will enhance the surrounding heritage assets and will be an improvement over the 
extant scheme. It will also add to economic activity during both the construction and 
operational phases of the development.  

 
5.83 Saved Policy TC2 (LPFR) relates to listed buildings.  It is not considered that the revised 

scheme will have any detrimental impact on the setting of adjacent listed buildings which 
includes those directly adjacent to the site or those elsewhere in Gravesend Town 
Centre, given that there is an extant planning permission which constitutes a fall back 
position. 

 
5.84 Saved Policy TC3 (LPFR) relates to conservation areas and states that development will 

be expected to make a positive contribution. In this instance the redevelopment 
 

Page 56



5.85  It also resists the demolition of unlisted buildings unless they are harmful to the 
conservation area.  In this instance, the building will be retained and restored and its 
appearance improved and therefore accords with this policy. 

 
Archaeology 
 

5.86 Policy CS20 (LPCS) gives a high priority towards the preservation, protection and 
enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a non-renewable resource, 
central to the regeneration of the area and the reinforcement of sense of place. Particular 
attention in this regard will be focused on those heritage assets most at risk.  When 
considering the impact of a proposed development on a designated heritage asset, the 
weight that will be given to the asset’s conservation value will be commensurate with the 
importance and significance of the asset. For non-designated assets, decisions will have 
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 

5.87 Saved Policy TC7 (LPFR) 1994 indicates that planning permission may be refused without 
adequate assessment of the archaeological implications in areas of archaeological 
potential. 
 

5.88 At a national level paragraph 189 of the NPPF (2021) advises that where a site on which 
development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with 
archaeological interest (evidence of past human activity), local planning authorities should 
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where 
necessary, a field evaluation. 

 
5.89 The applicants supporting Archaeological Assessment acknowledges that the present site 

was 19th century housing until the construction of a multi-storey car park in the 1960s and 
this car park was then demolished in 2005. 

 
The assessment for this area shows that there is a very slight possibility of Roman 
archaeology being present, it being in the possible hinterland of the postulated Roman 
settlement. There is a possibility of some archaeology of the Georgian period being 
present in the form of the remains of the terraced housing. This is likely to be highly 
truncated given the likely depths of the foundations of the previous multi-storey car park 
and the disturbance from the removal of these foundations in 2005 and the other 
groundworks at the same time. An overlay plan show that most of the site has been 
excavated away to at least the natural by these various intrusions. 
 

5.90 Considering the archaeological potential (abet limited) of the site and possible past impacts 
on archaeology the inclusion of a planning condition relating to field evaluation for 
archaeology is recommended. 

 
5.91 In summary subject to conditions and signing of a S.106 agreement it is therefore 

considered to be an appropriate use of the site and will have no detrimental impact on the 
character and appearance of the street scene, surrounding heritage assets, including 
neighbouring Conservation Areas, Listed Buildings and wider strategic views and will be 
in accordance with policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Core Strategy 2014, 
saved policies TC2 and TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan 1994 and section 16 of the 
NPPF (2021). 
 

Sustainability  
 

5.92 Policies CS01 (LPCS) requires the Council to take a positive approach that reflects 
the presumption in favour of Sustainable development contained with the Core 
Strategy and the NPPF (2021). Policy CS02 (LPCS) requires development to prioritise 

Page 57



the redevelopment and recycling of underused, derelict and previously developed land 
in the urban area. This application site meets all of these requirements.  Policy CS18 
(LPCS) sets out that new development should aim to reduce the overall carbon 
footprint of on development.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires (where relevant) that new 
development will provide carbon reduction and provision for low carbon and 
renewable imagery, minimising energy consumption and water use. 
 

5.93 At a national level, the NPPF (2021) states in paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable 
development means improving economic, social and environmental improvements 
including moving to a low carbon economy. Paragraph 105 of the NPPF (20121) 
states the planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support of 
these objectives. Significant development should be focussed on locations which are 
or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine 
choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and 
improve air quality and public health. However, opportunities to maximise sustainable 
transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas, and this should be taken 
into account in both plan-making and decision-making. 

 
5.94 Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of sustainability and on 25 

June 2019 at its full Council meeting declared a climate emergency and this includes 
the target to make the borough Carbon Neutral by 2030.  

 
5.95 Accompanying this application to address sustainability is the Design & Access 

Statement, Planning Statement and Energy Assessment. 
 

5.96 The supporting documents outline the proposed package of sustainability measures to 
tackle climate change issues and ensure the proposed development is sustainable. 
 

5.97 It is clear from the supporting information with this application that sustainable 
construction and energy conservation has influenced the design of the scheme, from 
the design of the proposed apartments, offices and retail units to the layout of the 
overall scheme.  

 
5.98 In order to ensure this proposal complies with the required sustainability requirements, 

the following measures will be encouraged  

 Internal lighting should be provided throughout the development, designed in line with 
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers lighting guides. Energy efficient 
LED luminaires shall be utilised throughout. 

 Led Lighting throughout the development 

 Water efficiency  

 Ventilation for the apartments will be based on the 'whole house' approach using 
continuous mechanical extract ventilation with heat recovery (MVHR), as defined 
within the building regulations approved document Part F1 (System 3). 

 Roof mounted solar photovoltaic (PV’s) where possible. 

 In terms of the residential units should be naturally ventilated and cooled. Other 
measures to ensure the units are “leaner” include 100% energy efficient lighting, 
efficient mechanical, electrical and plumbing (MEP) equipment and low fabric U-
values.  U-values measure how effective elements of a building's fabric are as 
insulators. Broadly, the better (i.e. lower) the U-value of a building's fabric, the less 
energy is required to maintain comfortable conditions inside the building.   

 
 
 
 

Page 58



Broadband provision  
 
5.99 Section 10 of the NPPF (2021) acknowledges that reliable high quality 

communications is essential for economic growth including full fibre connections and 
new development shall look to provide full fibre connections. 
 

5.100 Previously planning conditions were used to ensure high speed broadband was 
provided for future developments. However, this is now dealt with through Building 
Control ((Building etc. (Amendment) (England) (No. 2) Regulations 2022).,  
 

5.101 In summary, the proposed development is considered to be sustainable form of 
development that is designed to minimise the impact on climate and result in a 
biodiversity net gain. As such there is no conflict with Policies CS01, CS02, CS18 and 
CS19 (LPCS) and Section 2 of the NPPF (2021). 
 

Amenity (Future Occupiers) 
 

5.102 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 
‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout 
of new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.  On 25 March 2015, the Government issued a written 
ministerial statement which introduced new technical housing standards in England. 
 

5.103 The proposed development of 156 apartments all meet the national space standards 
with many of the units exceeding the minimum floor space. 

 
5.104 At ground floor there are no residential units and the 7 live/work units  have their work 

spaces at ground floor and residential accommodation at first floor. Ground floor 
residential units in this location would not be acceptable and the architect has 
reflected this in the overall design of the development. 

 
5.105 From the outset, the applicant has taken care and attention to provide acceptable 

living conditions for future occupiers. 
 

5.106 A number of apartments proposed could be occupied by families’ and weight is 
attached to the need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as 
required through Policy CS 13 (LPCS). The NPPF (2021) recognises that access to 
high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an 
important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. It is worth noting 
that this is town centre location which is constrained by the surrounding highway 
network and existing built form. 

 
5.107 Saved Policy LT6 (LPFR) requires proposals for new housing development to make 

provision for open space and play space appropriate to the scale of development and 
type of housing, having regard to the provision and proximity to existing open space in 
the locality. 

 
5.108 The explanatory text states that as a guide, open space should be provided in 

accordance with the National Playing Fields Association recommended minimum 
standard for outdoor play space. This has now been updated in “Guidance for 
Outdoor Sport and Play: Beyond the Six Acre Standard” published by Fields in Trust 
(FIT). 

 

Page 59



5.109 For the future occupiers of this development all the residents would have access to 
the communal amenity space in the form of various roof terraces within the 
development as shown below: 

 

 
 

5.110  The landscaping will have to be appropriately conditioned to ensure that any windows 
from adjacent flats that look onto the amenity area will need to have their own 
defensible private amenity space. To ensure this occurs, this will be conditioned. With 
the use of these private roof top gardens the issue of time of use needs to be carefully 
considered. To ensure they are not used at anti-social times which could disturb 
surrounding flats and the wider area the management plan for site will include when 
these areas are accessed by future occupiers. 
 

5.111  With the location of the proposed development being surrounded by roads and a 
railway line to the north, there will be no overlooking into the residential units from 
surrounding buildings. 
 

5.112 Within the development there is no conflict between the commercial uses and 
residential uses. 
 

Page 60



Daylight and Sunlight for future occupiers. 
 

5.113 Having concluded the layout and size of the apartments are acceptable the issue of 
daylight, sunlight and overshadowing for future occupiers needs to be considered. 
 

5.114 When considering the results of the daylight and sunlight analysis, reference is made 
to paragraph 123 of the NPPF (2021) which states “….when considering applications 
for housing, authorities should take a flexible approach in applying policies or 
guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making 
efficient use of a site (as long as the resulting scheme would provide adequate living 
standards). 

 
5.115 At pre-app stage concern was raised that  elements of the internal layout did not 

provide sufficient living conditions for future occupiers. These concerns were taken on 
board and the scheme which was formally submitted now provides an acceptable 
living condition for future occupiers.  
 

5.116 Accompanying this application is a Daylight and Sunlight Review which concludes that 
when taking into account the extant scheme there will be no unacceptable impact for 
future occupiers in regards to Daylight and sunlight. 
 

5.117 With the location of the private amenity spaces being on roof terraces there will be no 
significant overshadowing of these spaces which would be harmful to the amenity of 
future users if it was to occur. 

 
5.118 In summary in regard to BRE test for Daylight, Sunlight and overshadowing it is 

considered that sufficient steps have been taken to design a development which will 
maximise the development on a brownfield site. The report does highlight  in relation 
to daylight there are some isolated locations where some room don’t achieve Vertical 
Sky Component , however all these rooms do achieve sufficient day light.  

 
Air Quality  
 

5.119 Air quality constitutes a material consideration in the determination of planning 
applications (as set out in paragraph 005 of the planning practice guidance) and this is 
reflected in Policy CS19 (LPCS) which requires new development to avoid adverse 
environmental impacts, which include air quality. This is reflected within the NPPF 
(2021) at paragraph 185, which states decisions should sustain and contribute 
towards compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, 
taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air 
Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. 
 

5.120 This eastern and southern part of the site lie within the A226 Air Quality Management 
Area (AQMAs) which has been declared due to nitrogen dioxide emissions from urban 
traffic. 

 
5.121 The applicant has provided an air quality assessment to support their application, 

which considers the impact of the proposed development on the air quality during the 
construction and operation phases. 

 
5.122 The Air Quality assessment concluded that there would be no exceedance of Air 

Quality on any of the apartments and that all residential apartments will benefit from 
Mechanical Ventilation Heat Recovery (MVHR) which will give residents the option to 
open or close windows and still benefit from acceptable living conditions. However, 

Page 61



due to the AQMA, all first floor windows for commercial and residential properties 
fronting Lord Street and Parrock Street will need to be sealed units. This will ensure 
acceptable conditions for future occupiers. 

 
5.123 In addition the applicant has provided a draft construction management plan which 

covers control of dust, noise, vibration and environment impacts such as emissions 
standards by vehicles.  

 
5.124 Notwithstanding the draft construction management plan, in order to ensure that the 

impact of the development is adequately addressed during the construction phase, 
this will be a pre-commencement planning condition building on the basis of the draft 
construction management plan. It is worth noting that in tandem with this application, 
the applicant will need to enter into discussions Kent Highways & Transportation 
Services on how the construction phase impact on the surrounding highway network 
will be managed and mitigated. 

 
5.125  Using the Road Transport Central Present Value of the Defra Damage Costs 

Appraisal Toolkit it is recommended the mitigation measures for the development 
should be undertaken. 

 Production of a travel plan including mechanisms for discouraging high emission 
vehicle use. 

 Welcome Packs for all new residents online and as a booklet, containing 
information and incentives to encourage the use of sustainable transport modes 
from new occupiers. 

 Designation of parking spaces for low emission vehicles. 

 This commitment to install the Electric vehicle charging provision. 
 

5.126 In summary the effective implementation of proposed mitigation measures it is 
considered that air quality should not present a constraint to the granting of planning 
permission for the proposed development. 

 
Noise 
 

5.127 The application site is located at the edge of town centre which is surrounded by 
various existing noise constraints, being the rail line to the north, the A226 to the east 
and south and Eden Place to the west.   

 
5.128 Further from the site to the north, south-east and the west are licensed premises with 

associated external seating/smoking areas.  These are: Silk bar/night club – corner of  
Manor Road and Parrock Street, The Forester’s Arms on Parrock Street and the 
Invicta Bar and the Alto Gusto Wine Bar both on Windmill Street. 

 
5.129 The supporting noise assessment detail the potential effects of both the existing 

environmental noise on the development proposals and the potential noise impacts 
during typical day-to-day operation of the development and proposes mitigation 
measures where considered appropriate to safeguard existing and future residential 
amenity. 
 

5.130 The noise report include the following recommendations 
 

 Windows should be openable, but an alternative ventilation system should 
provided through a passive, mechanical or hybrid system in accordance with the 
report recommendations and in accordance with any additional comments 
provided by the council in relation to air quality.  It is recommended that a suitable 

Page 62



means of alternative ventilation is provided to all dwellings to best ensure future 
amenity of residents.  

 Noise from plant associated with the development must be at a level at least 
10dB below the existing background sound level when measured and assessed 
in accordance with BS4142:2014 1m from the façade of the nearest noise 
sensitive property. 

 A full assessment of façade performance requirements should be undertaken at 
the further design stages, and recommendations should take into account all 
sources of potential noise including those arising from traffic, Tilbury 2 and other 
river-based activities, noise from or associated with existing commercial uses in 
the locality to ensure that the Internal ambient noise levels and Internal maximum 
noise levels set out in BS8233:2014 and Professional Practice Guidance on 
Planning & Noise/WHO Guidelines for Community Noise respectively will not be 
exceeded. 

 Any additional works identified at any stage of the development as being required 
to meet these requirements shall be implemented and evidence provided for 
approval by the Local Authority prior to first occupation 

 Consideration should also be given to low noise surfaces on roads and car park. 
 
5.131 Subject to the above recommendations which will be incorporated in relevant planning 

conditions the proposal is deemed to provide acceptable living conditions for future 
occupiers. There is no conflict with local or national planning policy in regard to the 
amenity of future occupiers. 
 

Amenity (Neighbours) 
 

5.132  Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 
privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties 
and land and paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) requires development to have a high  
standard of amenity for existing users (In this case surrounding properties). 
 

5.133 A key issue in considering this application is the extent to which the new development, 
principally the new building, but also the associated impacts such as vehicle 
movements will impact upon the living conditions of adjoining residents. Whilst in most 
cases an inevitable consequence of redeveloping a town centre location will be 
detrimental impact upon some nearby residents. It is necessary to be able to ascertain 
the level of harm to resolve whether the merits of redevelopment outweigh the harm 
that may be caused. 
 

5.134 Whilst any development on this site will affect views from surrounding residential 
properties, it is important to highlight that ‘loss of a view’ is not a material planning 
consideration. However, adverse effects such as ‘overshadowing, loss of day/sunlight, 
loss of privacy, loss of outlook and general appearing overbearing are valid planning 
concerns, that require consideration in assessing the proposed development.  
 

5.135 Careful consideration needs to be given to the impact on existing residents, during the 
construction phase and this would be secured through an appropriate condition and 
would cover such issues as hours of work, external lighting, dust suppression, pest 
control and delivery arrangements.  Notwithstanding the draft construction 
management plan, which has been submitted a formal construction management plan 
will be conditioned. At this stage a construction management plan cannot be agreed 
as the applicant is having on-going discussions with Kent Highways & Transportation 
Services regarding how the development will be accessed from the surrounding 
highway network during the construction phase. 

Page 63



 
5.136 Members need to be aware that the principle of development on the site has been 

agreed with the implementation on site of 20030315. 
 

5.137 Having regard to the economic and regenerative benefits of the scheme and the 
appreciation that an inevitable consequence of redeveloping a town centre location is 
often an adverse impact on existing properties, it is considered that the extent of 
adverse impact to the adjoining residents (in this case being the height of the building) 
identified is not sufficient to refuse consent of this application. The issue of ‘right to 
light’ is not a material planning issue and has not been considered during this 
assessment. 

 
5.138 The existing site is an open car park which has poor lighting and creates a poor sense 

of environment for existing neighbouring properties. This development will introduce 
built form back onto the site and introduce natural surveillance onto the site and 
surrounding streets. 

 
5.139 As shown below from an historic application on the site there was historically a terrace 

of dwellings fronting onto the west side of Parrock Street. This development will re-
introduce a built from onto this site. Overlooking will be no greater than the extant 
scheme or historic street pattern that was in place until the 1960s. Below shows the 
historic street pattern prior to the sites clearance. 

 

 
 

5.140 The applicants supporting Daylight and Sunlight report concludes that in all instances, 
despite the urban location, the neighbouring properties will achieve the numerical 
values set out in the BRE guidelines with regards to sunlight.   

 

Page 64



5.141 Overall and taking all of the above into consideration, the proposed development has 
been designed in such a way to address any issues of overlooking or overshadowing 
and subject to a condition securing a landscaping scheme and management plan, the 
development would accord with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 of the NPPF 
(2021). 

 
Open Space 
 

5.142 As many of the dwellings proposed could be occupied by families’ weight is attached to 
the need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as required through 
Policy CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). At a national level The NPPF (2021) 
recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and 
recreation can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of 
communities. 
 

5.143 The location and layout of this building offers limited ability to provide on-site amenity 
space for future occupiers with some roof terraces offering private amenity space.  
 

5.144 The scheme will help re-introduce much needed streetscape with soft and hard 
landscaping along Eden Place and the northern boundary of the site which is illustrated 
below. 

 
 

 
 

Page 65



5.145 The provision of high quality and accessible leisure facilities in the Borough is essential to 
improving the health, community cohesion, prosperity and wellbeing of its residents. 
Although the development itself will provide some additional public realm.  Due to the 
constrained nature of the site it would not be expected that the developer would be 
expected to provide formal leisure provision on site, but it is reasonable to expect the 
applicant to offset the impact of its development on existing leisure facilities in the area. 

 
5.146 The approach promoted by officers is to secure a financial contribution towards the 

upgrading of existing local sporting facilities located within a reasonable distance of the 
application site, such that it will be directly related to the development and will contribute 
to offsetting the impact of the increased population. 

 
5.147 GBC Leisure Services have identified projects that the development could contribute 

towards which will be secured through the S.106 agreement.  
 

5.148 It is concluded that the overall development will provide acceptable open space for future 
occupiers and the site is within walking distance of various other amenities for families, 
there is no conflict with Policy CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). 

 
Tall Buildings Fire Safety 
 

5.149 Following the Grenfell Tower fire on 14 June 2017 the government commissioned the 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety led by Dame Judith Hackitt. 
The report highlighted the need to transform the fire and building safety regime and 
recommended that “some minimum requirements around fire safety will need to be 
addressed when local planning authorities are determining planning applications and will 
require input from those with the relevant expertise.” 
 

5.150 As part of the above the applicant is required to submit a fire statement which needs to 
consider fire safety matters which relate to planning matters, for example the site layout 
water supplies etc. 

 
5.151  The HSE were consulted on the applicant’s fire statement and responded on 25th May 

objecting to the proposal on the following elements: 

 4 stair cases serving upper floors connect with cover car park and cycle storage 
(which store e bikes containing lithium batters) and the HSE object to staircases 
which forms the only means of escape from flats should not connect with a covered 
car park or ancillary areas of higher fire risk. 

 The level 1 drawing shows an office window and an office door in close proximity and 
at right angles to the doors leading to stairs B1 and B2. This angle and proximity may 
allow the spread of fire and/or smoke from an office to an escape route. 

 The ground floor drawing shows that there is no protected access route from outside 
to the core B1 firefighting shaft (including the firefighting staircase and lift). 

 Fire service access and facilities in the covered car park appear insufficient. To 
access firefighting water, firefighters may not wish to use the rising mains in the 
adjoining staircases, as to do so would necessitate opening a door to the stairs, as 
well as the door to the car park, and wedging these doors open with a fire hose. In a 
fire incident this would allow smoke and/or fire from a car park fire to enter the 
escape routes from the upper floors. However, if firefighters enter the car park from 
the vehicle access point, it appears that hose laying distances are excessive (in 
excess of 65m) and would compromise effective firefighting. 

 fire safety guidance states that that 34m is the maximum distance firefighters should 
into a building to rescue a casualty, where no stair climbing is required. Again, the 

Page 66



penetrate distance from the vehicle entrance to the remote point of the car park 
significantly exceeds this distance. 

 
5.152 The agent was informed of the HSE objection and were asked to undertake the required 

design changes that the HSE would support.  The applicant undertook design changes 
and arranged a meeting with the case officer and HSE on 21st September 2022. 
 

5.153 The HSE reviewed the revised information and confirmed on 24th October 2022 that they 
are happy with the revied fire safety changes and no longer object to the proposal.  
 

5.154 It is therefore concluded that the revised plans and fire safety statement are acceptable 
and no further information is required. The applicant will still be required to address all fire 
safety issues during required to comply with Building Control Regulations. 
 

Wind/Microclimate 
 

5.155 In support of this application, a wind microclimate desktop assessment has been 
submitted and identifies very little is required in order to deal with potential wind and 
microclimate. Whilst the report has not been updated to reflect the reduction in height of 
the tower, the reduced tower heigh would generally reduce impact of the wind 
microclimate created by the tall structure. The report concludes the following: 
• Canopy/balcony at the base of the tower 
• Perimeter screen around the base of the tower 
• Strategically placed wind screens to serve the various roof terraces for the 

development. 
 

5.156 To ensure all the appropriate mitigation measures are in place this will be appropriately 
conditioned and will include details of how all balconies and roof gardens will ensure 
children and adults risk to being blown over balconies in strong winds will be minimised. 
This will also allow the applicant to address the reduction in height of the tower and the 
implications that it may have for any mitigation measures needed.  

 
Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

 
5.157 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate facilities for the storage 

and recycling of wasted generated, further clarification is provided in Planning 
Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements (2019).  In order to ensure this proposal 
complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) Gravesham Borough Council’s Waste and 
Recycling department have been consulted. 
 

5.158 The application is supported by a refuse strategy which has been prepared in 
accordance with Gravesham’s Planning Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements 
(2019). Gravesham Waste services have been consulted and are satisfied that the 
collection strategy for the site works both for the commercial and residential elements 
of the scheme. 

 
5.159 This scheme includes the utilisation of bin chutes within the buildings, generally new 

build developments in Gravesham have not incorporated such solutions within 
developments, which has raised a concern from Gravesham Waste services related to 
potential future occupiers of the development putting waste down the wrong chutes 
and thereby contaminating waste. In order to address this potential issue, the waste 
management strategy for the site will be appropriately conditioned. 

 
5.160 Refuse vehicles will enter via Eden Place and collect the waste from various bin 

stores on site and exit at the north east onto Parrock Street. The design of the 

Page 67



development allows refuse vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear. This 
is demonstrated bellow. 

 

 
 

5.161 There is no highway objection or objection from Gravesham Waste Services on the 
proposed refuse strategy for the site. 
 

5.162 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements subject to appropriate planning 
conditions relating to final details of refuse arrangements it is considered the proposal 
complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

 
Surface Water Drainage 
 

5.163  Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage 
and surface water run-off and  Kent County Council (KCC) is the Lead Local Flood 
Authority. The Environment Agency has been consulted and their response raises no 
objection in relation to surface water drainage 
 

5.164 KCC have been consulted but have provided no formal comments to date. 
 

5.165 Accompanying the application is a Flood Risk & Drainage Report which addresses in 
detail, Flood Risk, Surface Water Drainage Strategy, Foul Water Drainage Strategy 
and a Management and Maintenance Plan. 

 
5.166 The report concluded that the best solution for dealing with surface water drainage for 

the site will be a combination of porus paving, filter drains,bio-rentention gardens, flow 
control devices and possible Green/Brown/Blue Roofs. 

Page 68



 
5.167 it is proposed that KCC SUDS standard conditions are sought, which are as follows: 

 
1. Development shall not begin until a detailed sustainable surface water drainage 

scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the Council. 
2. Details of operation and maintenance of the sustainable surface water drainage 

scheme. 
3. Verification Report pertaining to the surface water drainage system. 
4. Details of infiltration if used to manage flood water. 

 
5.168 Any discharge of the above condition would require KCC to be consulted to ensure the 

development complies with the requirements of the Lead Local Flood Authority. 
 

5.169 The site is within Flood Zone 1 but a flood risk assessment is not required, the 
Environment agency has been consulted but raise no objection to the proposal. 
Furthermore, the applicant supporting document confirms the site is not at risk from other 
sources of flooding such as surface water. 
 

5.170 With regard to the impact on the surrounding sewer network Southern Water raises a 
technical objection that there is limited opportunity to divert the existing combined sewar. 
However, Southern Water contradict themselves by then stating: 

 
In order to protect public sewers and water supply apparatus, Southern Water requests 
that if consent is granted, the following condition is attached to the planning permission; 
The developer  must agree with Southern Water, prior to commencement of the 
development, the measures to be taken to protect the public sewers and water supply 
apparatus. 

 
5.171 Taking into account there is an extant scheme on site it is considered the best course of 

action will be to have a pre-commencement condition requiring Southern Water issues to 
be resolved.  
 

5.172 In summary, it is considered that the proposal would comply with Policy CS18 (LPC) in 
regards to drainage matters subject to the inclusion of relevant planning conditions.  

 
 

Contaminated Land 
 

5.173 Policy CS19 (LPCS) indicates that new development will be located, designed and 
constructed to avoid adverse environmental impacts from pollution, including noise, air, 
odour and light pollution, and land contamination. 
 

5.174 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021) indicates that planning decisions should contribute to 
and enhance the natural and local environment by, amongst other things: 
e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, 
water or noise pollution or land instability; and 
f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable 
land, where appropriate. 
 

5.175 The application is accompanied by a phase 1 Environmental report The report concludes 
that there contamination issues associated with the site.  
 

5.176 In order to account for any potential contamination issues a contaminated land condition 
will be included. 

Page 69



 
5.177  No objection to the proposal subject to the inclusion of the contaminated land condition as 

requested by GBC Environmental Protection Services     and the proposal complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 170 of the NPPF (2021). 

 
Railway Infrastructure  
 

5.178 Directly to the north of the site is the North Kent railway line and it is vital that this 
development will not have any adverse impact on the railway line either during the 
construction phase. 
 

5.179 Network Rail commented on the scheme and stated that building should ideally be 
between 2m and 3m away from the railway land. This is generic advice and does not take 
into account the railway line is down in a cutting. 

 
5.180 Notwithstanding this the agent has agreed to a revised the layout with the detached two 

storey office building being set 2m from the boundary of all network rail land as shown 
below: 

 

 
 

5.181 Suitable planning conditions will be included to ensure the interests of Network Railway 
land are not compromised during the construction phase. 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
5.182 Paragraph 174 and 177 of the NPPF (2021) requires planning decisions to ensure that the 

natural and local environment is enhanced by minimising impacts on and providing net 
gains for biodiversity and this is reflected in Section 40 of the Natural England Commission 
Rural Communities (NERC) Act (2006) and the Environmental Act (2021). 
 

5.183 Policy CS12 (LPCS) indicates that sites designated for their biodiversity value will be 
protected, with the highest level of protection given to internationally designated Special 
Protection Areas, Special Areas of Conservation and Ramsar sites, and that there will be 
no net loss of biodiversity in the Borough. 

 
Appropriate Assessment  
 

Page 70



5.184 The Habitats Directive protects certain species of plants and animals that are particularly 
vulnerable and requires a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to be undertaken by a 
competent public body, such as a local planning authority where any development has the 
potential to have an impact on a European protected site.  The process of HRA involves an 
initial ‘Screening’ stage followed by an Appropriate Assessment (AA) if proposals are likely 
to have a significant (adverse) impact on a protected site - in this case the Thames Estuary 
and Marshes Special Protection Area of SPA (termed Natura 2000 site). 
 

5.185 In the light of any such assessment, the Borough Council may only grant planning 
permission if it has been ascertained that the proposed development will not, either on 
its own or in-combination with other plans and projects, have an Adverse Effect on the 
Integrity (AEOI) of such a site, unless there is no feasible alternative or imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest apply. 
 

Recreational Pressures on the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) 
and SAMMS 

 
5.186 The Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) is classified in 

accordance with the European Birds Directive which requires Member States to 
classify sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 1 of the European 
Directive, which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and also sites that 
form a critically important network for birds on migration.  It is also listed as a Wetland 
of International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site).  Studies 
have shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest 
with recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings 
were likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected 
bird species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The studies 
found that 75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 6 
km of the SPA boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance 
can be such that they affect the status and distribution of key bird species and 
therefore act against the stated conservation objectives of the European Sites.   
 

5.187 The Local Planning Authority has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every 
planning application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 
6km zone since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £275.88 per dwelling) where 
applicable.  This approach is approved by Natural England for all new residential 
developments.  For every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats), 
the tariff contributions are secured through a Section 106 legal agreement or unilateral 
undertaking or if there are no other financial contributions this is secured through a 
contribution agreement.  Where a developer is unwilling to make the SAMMS 
payment, sufficient evidence is required to be supplied to enable the Council to 
undertake an Appropriate Assessment to determine that it is unnecessary to mitigate 
any potential Likely Significant Effect. 
 

5.188 The tariff has previously been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate 
Assessment (AA). However, in a recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) 
ruling this approach was not considered to be valid, as the CJEU considered the first 
stage to be a screening assessment as to whether the development either alone or in 
combination, is likely to have significant effects on a designated site without 
mitigation.  In this respect, the CJEU judgement made a distinction between “the plan 
or project” itself and “measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a 
plan or project on a European site”. This means that mitigation measures, which are 
intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be assessed within the framework of an 

Page 71



Appropriate Assessment and that mitigation measures cannot be taken into account 
at the screening stage. 
 

5.189 The applicants accept that a Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy 
(SAMMS) mitigation contribution would be required to offset any potential recreational 
impacts, and that with the adoption of this payment then the scheme will prevent any 
likely significant impact occurring, but that further adverse impacts from the proposed 
development on designated sites are not anticipated.  The Local Planning Authority is 
therefore satisfied that the proposals would put in place adequate measures to mitigate 
potential significant adverse impacts on the Thames Estuary and Marshes SPA/Ramsar 
sites and to protect their integrity in accordance with their conservation objectives.  On 
this basis, the proposal is considered to comply with Paragraphs 180 and 181 of the 
NPPF and policy CS12 (LPCS), and the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats 
and Species Regulations 2017.  Potential impacts on the European Sites do not therefore 
impose an impediment on the grant of planning permission in this instance. 

 
Biodiversity Net Gains  
 

5.190 The application is accompanied by an Ecology and Biodiversity net Gain Report which 
summarises the current condition of the site as consisting of bare ground with vegetation 
being limited to weeds and occasional small scattered buddleia scrub and a small strip of 
amenity grass land in the north of the site. There are some boarding sycamore trees. 
 

5.191 The report recommends the development provide significant increase in biodiversity net 
gain which will be appropriately conditioned. As outlined by responses received, a 
suitably worded condition will be included so that the development makes provision for 
bird boxes and other enhancements for wildlife. 
 

5.192 In regards to biodiversity and ecology there is no conflict with local and national planning 
policy subject to the relevant planning conditions and the SAMMS payment being 
secured. 

 
Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing 
 

5.193 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism that we as a 
Council, often use to secure financial contributions or other forms of mitigation such as 
affordable housing from developers, make a development proposal acceptable in 
planning terms.   
 

5.194 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on behalf of 
third parties any contributions will need to meet all of the tests listed below: 

 
(A)    necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 
(B)    directly related to the development; and 
 
(C)    fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
Developer Contributions  

 
5.195 It is important to ensure that sufficient infrastructure is provided to meet the needs of new 

residents, employees and businesses in the Borough.  As recognised in the NPPF 
(2021), the provision of new infrastructure is an important part of new development and 
the Council has worked with local service providers to identify their infrastructure needs 

Page 72



over the plan period.  Policy CS10 (LPCS) states that where new development generates 
a need for new infrastructure, developers will have to provide or contribute towards such 
provision, subject to viability consideration. 
 

5.196 KCC have requested the following contributions  
 

Contribution Amount Per Unit Total Amount 

Secondary Education  £1,135.00 £107,825.00 

Special Education Needs 
and Disability 

£262.96 £41,021.76 
 

Community Learning £16.42 £2561.52 

Youth Services £65.20 £10,218.00 

Waste £129.20 £20,155.20 
 

Adult Social Care £146.88 £22,913.28 

Libraries £55.45.00 £8,650.20 

Total amount payable  £213,344.96 

Trigger Point Prior to Commencement  
 

 
5.197 KCC’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent is clear that there is a 

significant deficit of secondary school provision in Gravesham as such there is sufficient 
evidence for KCC's contribution request.  In regard to Special Education Needs and 
Disability, Community, Youth Services, Adult Social Care and Libraries KCC have 
confirmed acceptable site specific schemes and no further clarification is required. 
 

5.198 With regard to waste KCC have their KCC Developer Contribution Guide out for 
consultation which includes appendix 18 ‘Waste Disposal and Recycling’. It is considered 
that this information is sufficient to request Waste Contributions for this development and 
no further information clarification is required. 

 
Gravesham Leisure Services  
 

5.199 Policy CS13 (LPCS) and the NPPF (2021) recognises that access to high quality open 
spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to 
the health and well-being of communities. As also outlined by Sport England, 
consideration should be given to how any new development, especially for new housing, 
will provide opportunities for people to lead healthy lifestyles and create healthy 
communities.  Due to the constrained nature of this development, it would not be 
expected that the developer would provide types of formal and informal leisure provision 
at site, but it is reasonable to expect the applicant to offset the impact of its development 
on existing leisure facilities in the area being the provision of 3G artificial pitches, 
junior/youth grass pitches and ancillary buildings, swimming pool lanes and an overall 
ageing leisure centre facility stock at Cygnet and Cascades Leisure Centres (of which a 
new Cascades is currently being designed). 
 

5.200 Taking into consideration the development’s location within the borough and real time 
need/deficiencies on the ground, the development needs to make a financial contribution 
of £197,717 towards a series of general leisure facility types towards projects within this 
locality.  This figure has been accepted by the applicant and complies with local and 
national planning policy. 
 
NHS Requests 
 

Page 73



5.201 NHS Kent and Medway Strategic Planning and Primary Care Estates have requested 
£97848 towards enhancing local medical facilities and is deemed to be acceptable and 
meets the relevant tests. The applicant has agreed to this request. 
 
Total Requests 

 
5.202 The applicant has agreed to all of the above requests and the heads of terms for financial 

contributions are as follows: 
 

Obligation Sum 

Kent County Council £213,344.96 

Gravesham Leisure Services £197,717 

Bird Wise North Kent 
SAMMS 

£43,037.28 

NHS Kent and Medway £97,848 

Total Figure:  £551,947.24 

 
Affordable Housing 
 

5.203 The Borough Council’s position on affordable housing, as set out in Policy CS16 (LPCS) 
is that affordable housing will be required at a provision of 30% on sites in the urban area 
proposing 15 or more dwellings or on sites of 0.5 hectares or more.  Policy CS16 (LPCS) 
seeks a broad mix of 70% rented and 30% shared ownership (negotiable), although the 
tenure mix should meet local needs and achieve a viable, sustainable and socially 
inclusive development. 

 
5.204 Notwithstanding Policy CS16 (LPCS) requirements for affordable housing this policy 

and the core strategy is silent on BTR. As such BTR affordable housing requirements 
will be in accordance with information/guidance within the NPPF (2021) Planning 
Practice Guidance (PPG). 

 
5.205 With this application the residential element is (BTR) which is defined previously in 

this report. 
 

5.206 With regard to affordable housing the agent has confirmed they will provide the required 
20% of the proposed apartments as affordable (private rented) housing, meeting the 
criteria set out in paragraph 002 (Build to Rent) of the PPG. paragraph 002 states that if 
local authorities wish to set a different proportion of affordable housing they should justify 
this using the evidence emerging from their local housing need assessment, and set the 
policy out in their local plan.  

 
5.207 Policy CS16 (LPCS) is silent on BTR. In the absence of any evidence based local 

Policy, the nationally recommended minimum 20% level of affordable housing is 
deemed to be the appropriate level. For this development 20% affordable housing 
equates to 31 units. 

 
5.208 In order to be appropriately ‘affordable’ (as defined by the Government) the minimum 

rent discount for the 31 units will need to be 20% below private rent relative to local 
market rents. The PPG states that the discount should be calculated when a 
discounted home is rented out, or when the tenancy is renewed. The rent on the 
discounted homes should increase on the same basis as rent increase for the market 
tenancies within the development. 

 

Page 74



5.209 A further requirement of the PPG is how the affordable private rent properties are 
marketed and managed. The PPG states that the affordable private rent should be 
under common management control, along with the market rent BTR homes. The 
affordable homes should be distributed throughout the development and physically 
indistinguishable from the market rent homes in terms of quality and size. As such 
BTR will not need the separate involvement of a registered landlord. Combining the 2 
tenures this way improves viability and any alternation of units between affordable 
private rent and market rent over time is made easier. 

 
5.210 The entire residential element would be required to be managed by one management 

company and the following would be secured through the S.106 agreement 
 

 The property manager shall be a member of a recognised ombudsman scheme.  

 Each apartment shall be let separately, as self-contained C3 for private residential 
use.  

 Each tenancy agreement shall be offered at a minimum of three years but may be 
shorter if the tenant does not require a period of this length. Where refurbishment 
works are planned and a committed date is set out, shorter tenancies may be 
offered within 3 years leading up to the refurbishment works.  

 A complaints procedure will be put in place for residents.  

 There will be on-site management, including measures in place for prompt 
resolution of issues and some daily on-site presence, as a minimum.  

 As set out in paragraph 008 of the PPG a claw back arrangement would be 
included that if any homes within the BTR scheme are disposed of including the 
withdrawal of affordable private rent homes at any time, or conversion of private 
market rent homes to another tenure before the end of a covenant period. 

 
5.211 The proposal complies with the requirements for affordable housing and will be 

secured via the S.106 agreement. 
 

Highways 
 

5.212 The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 
states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and that 
transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of travel 
choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that sufficient car 
parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted standards 
which will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport accessibility to services 
and facilities. This is also reflected by Saved Policy T1 (LPFR) which requires proposed 
development to be adequately served by the highway network and Saved Policy P3 
(LPFR) which sets out highways parking standards for development. 
 

5.213 At a national level the NPPF (2021) states at paragraph 105, significant development 
should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting 
the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The NPPF (2021) 
goes on to state development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds 
where the cumulative impact of development is severe. 

 
5.214  KCC as the highways authority were consulted and confirm that prior to the application 

being submitted the applicant had pre-application discussions with applicant and the 
supporting Transport Assessment is based on those discussions. 

 
5.215  KCC would like to see cycle routes to and from the site. However, the scale of the 

development and location (being within the town centre) where future occupiers have all 

Page 75



facilities within walking distance, cycle lanes would not be required to make the scheme 
comply with the development plan. 

 
5.216 It is considered that sufficient on site secure bike storage is being provided and details of 

this will be secured by a suitably worded planning condition. 
 

Proposed Highway Layout & Arrangements 
 

5.217 Vehicular access for the development will use the existing two way road known as Eden 
Place with the vehicular access to the building being on the western side of the building. 
At the northern end of the site where Eden Place currently is a turning head this road will 
be a one way road that will access onto Parrock Street. The below plan shows the 
highway layout of the site. 
 

 
 

5.218 Pedestrian access around the site will be maintained and improved over the existing 
layout, at the northern end of the site there is currently no pedestrian access between 
Eden Place and Parrock Street. This development will introduce a pedestrian link 
between these two roads providing a safe and secure environment for future occupiers. 

Page 76



 
5.219 The existing pedestrian access linking Eden Place to Manor Road will not be impacted 

by this development. 
 

5.220 KCC Highways confirm that Eden Place is an adopted highway and the proposed 
changes to the highway will require a Section 278 agreement. Within KCC comments 
there was concern that the submitted tracking diagrams demonstrated that access by 
service vehicles whilst achievable was very tight. Itis noted that the size of the refuse 
freighter used was not to the latest standard used by GBC and as such the tracking 
diagrams needed to be adjusted to take this into account and demonstrate that access is 
still achievable. 

 
5.221 Revised tracking diagrams have been provided by the agent which show that vehicles 

will be able to service the existing properties on Eden Place and turn around if required 
which addresses KCC concerns. Additionally, the agent has confirmed they will engage 
with KCC in regard to the S.278 requirements.  

 
5.222 In summary with regards to highway improvements KCC Highways are happy with the 

suggested improvements subject to approving the relevant details. 
 

5.223  These details will be appropriately secured through a legal agreement or appropriate 
planning condition(s). It is considered the use of a pre-commencement condition would 
be the most suitable approach to securing the required highway improvements. 

 
5.224 In regard to the parking provision this requires a maximum of: 1 car parking space per 

dwelling for 1 bed dwellings; 2 car parking spaces per dwelling for 2 and 3 bed 
dwellings. A total of 51 spaces are provided. It should be noted that under the extant 
scheme 108 spaces were provided with 28 of those spaces being on Eden Place which 
served 106 residential units. 

 
5.225 Neither KCC or Gravesham Highways have raised objections to the level of parking but 

suggest this should be backed up by a travel plan and other mitigation measures. 
However, measures such as public transport tickets or a car club etc would not be 
appropriate due to the small nature of this scheme compared to other larger 
developments such as The Charter or Albion Waterside where these measures were not 
deemed necessary  

 
5.226 The development does not provide any dedicated visitor parking, but with this 

development being within a town centre location with public car parking directly to the 
south of the site and other parking being available within the town centre, visitors have 
sufficient alternative parking options. The site is also within an accessible location, which 
means visitors can arrive to the site via walking, cycling and through using public 
transport (buses, trains and the ferry).  

 
5.227 Within the development, all occupiers will have access to secure bicycle storage which 

will help move the reliance away from car dependency.  
 

5.228 Regardless of the above parking provision, it should be noted that as this is a town 
centre location within walking distance of public transport links (bus, railway and ferry) 
and within walking distance of the primary shopping area of Gravesend, if the proposal 
was a car free development for future occupiers it would still comply with national 
planning policy due to its highly sustainable location. 

 
5.229 Servicing for the proposed development and the surrounding commercial properties has 

been acknowledged by the applicant and it is deemed this development will not 

Page 77



undermine the existing surrounding commercial premises or commercial elements of this 
scheme. 

 
5.230 With majority of this development being 156 BTR apartments serving this development 

will principally be refuse, home deliveries and the relatively frequent movement of 
householder goods in and out of the apartments as tenants change. 

 
5.231 For commercial elements such as the office space and workshop a loading bay is 

provided at the north end of the site with a loading bay also shown on Parrock Street. 
Furthermore, with relatively low traffic on Eden Place there would be loading/unloading 
options also available at this location.  

 
5.232 The existing commercial properties fronting onto Eden Place will retain their existing 

service/ parking arrangements and will not be adversely impacted by this proposal.  
 
Impact on public car parking. 
 

5.233 The existing car park is a permit only car park which is used unsurfaced and consists of 
220 car park spaces which are not formally marked out. The car park is underused and 
was only ever intended to be a temporary car park until the extant scheme was 
implemented or other development potentials found for this site.  
 

5.234 The submitted Transport Statement confirms that taking into account the loss of Lord 
Street Car Park (which is only a temporary car park) there is adequate capacity to 
provide sufficient town centre parking in other car parks. 

 
Traffic Generation 
 

5.235 The supporting Transport Assessment (TA) considers traffic generation by this 
development and states the following: 
 
It is important to recognise that the existing historic parking demand of the Lord Street car 
park is already on the local road network and whichever car parks it relocates to, it will 
not change the overall traffic on the local road network.  Additionally, the proposed 
development trip generation at the site is low and the low level of parking provision and 
central location will assist in encouraging sustainable travel trips to and from the site. 
 
The overall impact is considered to be low because of the assumption that the existing 
car park demand would dissipate to other car parks around the Town Centre and with this 
traffic already being on the Town Centre network.  New trips to and from the site are 
expected to be low in that any office and retail trips will be spread amongst other car 
parks, thereby dissipated within the network, whilst the remaining residential vehicle trip 
generation is predicted to be low.   
 

5.236 Taking the above into account along with the extant scheme on site it is not considered 
the development will have an adverse impact on the surrounding highway network and 
both KCC and Gravesham Highways officers agree with the applicants TA in regards to 
impact on highway network. 
 

Highway Impact during construction  
 

5.237 The supporting TA and draft construction management plan, submitted with this 
application, outlines how the applicant intends to construct the development. The 
applicant acknowledges that even though a draft construction management plan has 

Page 78



been submitted, the final details will need to be conditioned and require both the consent 
of Gravesham and KCC.   
 

5.238 In order to ensure this development does not have an adverse impact on the surrounding 
highway network during construction, a management plan will be conditioned which shall 
include the following issues relating to highways 

 Route of construction and delivery vehicles to and from site 

 Parking and turning areas for construction, delivery vehicles and site personnel 

 Timing of deliveries 

 Provision of wheel washing facilities 

 Temporary traffic management/signage 
 

5.239 The Construction Management Plan will be the subject of a pre-commencement condition 
that will require the input from the borough and county highways officers. 
 

5.240 In conclusion, when considering the parking provision for the site and the impact on the 
highway network during the schemes’ full occupation, the proposed development is 
unlikely to have significant impact on the highway network which has been confirmed in 
the applicants transport assessment. As such there is no conflict with local or national 
planning policy. 
 
Commercial Uses 
 

5.241 The proposed development includes retail use at ground floor which needs to be 
considered against Policy CS08 (LPCS) which defines the primary retail area within 
Gravesend town centre. As this development is inside the defined primary retail area, it 
has to be considered to be location where retail development will be supported.  
 

5.242 At ground floor two retail units are proposed which help provide primary retail frontage on 
Lord Street and Parrock Street which provides a total of 249m² of retail space. In addition 
spread across the development is office space (1933.25m²) is provided along with a 
detached two store building at the northern end of the site adjacent to the railway line. 

 
5.243 The office use within the development complies with Policies CS07 and CS05 (LPCS) 

which supports office use within Gravesend town centre. 
 

5.244 The live/work units also include 370m² of workspace for occupiers of the live/work units. 
 

5.245 In summary the commercial element of the proposal does not conflict with local and 
national planning policy. 

 
6. Final Balancing Exercise  

 
6.1 The proposed development is deemed to be a sustainable form of development that 

accords with national and local planning policy.  The agent / applicant has confirmed they 
will provide all of the S.106 financial contributions which meet the relevant tests set out 
within the NPPF (2021). 
 

6.2 The Council is mindful that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated 
heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 
requires clear justification and following Dorothy Bohm v SSCLG [2017], this means that 
the scheme as a whole needs to be considered. It is considered that the redevelopment 
of this site will have less than substantial harm and comply with local and national 
policies regarding Heritage. 

Page 79



 
6.3 This report has considered the entire scheme as a whole and in summary it is considered 

that there are no material overriding issues and concerns that have not been considered 
and addressed including responses received from consultees and third party 
representations. The proposal accords with policies CS01, CS02, CS10, CS11, CS12, 
CS14, CS15, CS19 and CS20. On balance it is considered that the proposal is in 
accordance with the development plan as a whole and that there are no material 
considerations which indicate otherwise. In particular, the Council also has concluded 
that the clear and convincing justification has been given which is required by the NPPF 
(2021). It is therefore recommended that that the proposal can be supported. 

 
6.4 Permission is recommended subject to the S.106 being signed and appropriate planning 

conditions being included. 
 
 

 
Recommendation 
 
Delegated to the Service Manager (Planning) to grant PERMISSION subject to the applicant 
agreeing pre-commencement conditions and the completion of a section 106 legal 
agreement. 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 

 
Time Limit 
 
1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 
 
Reason In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended 

by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
Approved Plans 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 

following schedule of approved plans: 
 
 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0300 Rev O – Level 00 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-01-DR-A-0301 Rev P - Level 01 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-02-DR-A-0302 Rev M - Level 02 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-03-DR-A-0303 Rev N- Level 03 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-04-DR-A-0304 Rev N - Level 04 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-05-DR-A-0305 Rev N - Level 05 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-06-DR-A-0306 Rev N - Level 06 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-07-DR-A-0307 Rev N- Level 07 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-08-DR-A-0305 Rev L - Level 08 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing.00392-SLK-XX-09-DR-A-0309 Rev L - Level 09 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-R1-DR-A-313 Rev K – Level R1 – Proposed Plan 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0600 Rev F – North Elevation as Proposed 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0601 Rev F – East Elevation as Proposed 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0602 Rev F – South Elevation as Proposed 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0603 Rev G – West Elevation as Proposed 

Page 80



 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0604 Rev E – Courtyards – North + South 
Internal Elevation 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX--ZZ-DR-A-0605 Rev E – Courtyards – East + West 
Internal Elevation 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0904 – Rev E – Eden House Details 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0700 Rev H - Site Sections - A - A + B - B 

 Drawing No. 00392-SLK-XX-ZZ-DR-A-0701 Rev H - Site Sections  C – C 

 Drawing No.00392 SLK XX ZZ DR A 0904 Rev E - Floor Plans Section and Elevations 
for Eden House 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0100 Rev D – Location Plan 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0101 Rev D – Block Plan 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0102 Rev D – Existing Site Plan 

 Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0200 Rev M – Proposed Site Plan 
 
Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
Pre-commencement Condition(s) 
 
Code of Construction Practice 
 
3. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 

Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The development hereby permitted shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice. For the 
avoidance of doubt Code of Construction Practice shall include, but not exclusively cover 
the following: 

 
a) Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) 
b) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to and from site 
c) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel 
d) Timing of deliveries  
e) Provision of wheel washing facilities  
f) Temporary traffic management/signage 
g) Storage of plant and materials 
h) Dust management controls; 
i) Location and height of cranes and scaffolding; 
j) Measures of minimising the impact of noise and, if appropriate, vibration arising from 

construction activities; 
k) Predicted noise and, if appropriate, vibration levels for construction using methodologies 

and at locations agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
l) Scheme for monitoring noise and if appropriate, vibration levels using methodologies and 

at points agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
m) Scheme for location and appearance security fencing/hoardings, depicting a readily 

visible 24-hour contact number for queries or emergencies; 
n) Details of disposal of waste arising from the construction programme, including final 

disposal points (the burning of waste on the site at any time is specifically precluded); 
o) Hours of operation;  
p) Smoke management controls; 
q) Odour controls; and 
r) Any other matters relevant to this particular site. 

 

Page 81



Reason To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to protect the amenity of local 
residents and businesses in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Highway works 
 
4. Prior to the commencement of development a detailed highway scheme (to accord 

substantially with Drawing No.00392-SLK-XX-00-DR-A-0200 Rev M shall be submitted to 
and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority in consultation with the Local 
Highways Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt this shall include details of surface 
finishes for roads, footpaths, and car parking areas.  The development shall only be 
completed in accordance with the approved details to be delivered through agreement 
(including timeframe) with the Local Highway Authority. 

 
Reason  To ensure adequate highway improvement works are provided in a timely manner 

to ensure no adverse impact to the safe and free flow of traffic on the highway 
network; to ensure that the final external appearance of the public highway is 
acceptable and built to appropriate and recognised safety standards and in 
accordance Policy CS11 of Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014). 

 
Maintaining existing pedestrian and vehicular accesses to and through the site 
 
5. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until such time that a 

scheme and timetable for maintaining access through the site(include retaining access 
for existing servicing arrangements), during the construction has been submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved scheme. 

 
Reason In order to minimise the impact of the construction phase upon town centre users 

and in accordance with adopted Policy CS11 Gravesham Local Plan: Core 
Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Contaminated Land Strategy 
 
6. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a strategy to deal 

with the potential risks associated with any contamination of the site has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the 
following components: 

 
a)  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified all previous uses; potential 
contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, 
pathways and receptors; and potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at 
the site.  
 
b)  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed 
assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 
c)  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) 
and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  
 
d)  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and 

Page 82



identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance 
and arrangements for contingency action.  
 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable 

risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line with 
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and to accord with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Archaeology  
 
7. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until the applicant, or 

their agents or successors in title shall:  
 
a. Submit a written scheme of archaeological investigation for approval in writing  by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The written scheme of archaeological investigation shall 
include the programme, timetable and methodology of any necessary further 
archaeological investigation and recording (including the phasing of any archaeological 
investigations). 

  
Prior to the commencement of any development within each phase, the applicant, or their 
agents or successors in title, shall: 

  
b. Implement any necessary further archaeological field investigation for the relevant 
phase(s) in accordance with the written scheme of archaeological investigation, or as 
agreed with the local planning authority; and 

 
c .Implement any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important 
archaeological remains and/or further archaeological field investigation and recording in 
accordance with the written scheme of archaeological investigation. 
 

Reason  To protect the visual amenities of the building and the surrounding area and to 
preserve the character and appearance of the Conservation Area in accordance 
with Policies CS19  and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 
2014) and Saved Policy TC3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994. 

 
 
Sustainable Surface Water Drainage 

 
8. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 

sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall  

 
(i)  demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm) 

 
(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm, 

 
(iii)  demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present  

Page 83



 
(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and 

 
(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime.  

 
The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 

proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at 
risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused 
by mobilised contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage 
provisions, in accordance with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Public Sewers 
 
9. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until details of the 

measures which shall be undertaken to divert the public sewer(s) underneath the site 
have been submitted to and approved in writing. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 
Reason In order to protect drainage apparatus in accordance with Policies CS18 and CS19 

of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
Foul and Surface Water Sewerage Disposal 
 
10. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence details of the proposed 
means of foul and surface water sewerage disposal shall be submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

  
Reason To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this 
proposal; to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions in accordance with 
Policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
 
Above Ground Works 
 
Air Quality 
 
11. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence details for an air handling 
system shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.  
The air quality handling system shall then be installed in accordance with the approved 
details. For the avoidance of doubt the installation of the air handling system will ensure 
the indoor air quality of each apartment is good and will enable the windows to be kept 

Page 84



closed to reduce disturbance from outside noise. The air handling system must bring in 
clean air to each residential apartment so as to create positive pressure to ensure that 
pollution from outside is prevented from entering the unit. The scheme must also include: 
 

  i. An inlet flow greater than the outlet flow to ensure a positive pressure; 
ii. heat recovery; 
iii. sealed windows on all roadside elevations when required by the ventilation 
company to ensure the air system works as required; 
iv. the air supply must come  from a suitable clean source e.g. a rear roof of 
building etc.  Care must be taken to locate the inlet such that it ensures that  only 
clean air is brought into the residential units and that excessively hot or cold air  is 
not brought in; and 

   v. sound attenuation such that there is no breakout noise or vibration from the 
system. 

 
b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion commissioning 
report by a competent ventilation engineer confirming that the approved system has been 
incorporated into the residential apartments and that the systems fulfil the purpose (i.e. 
that it prevents outside air entering the residential apartments) shall be submitted to and 
approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt this shall 
include an inspection by an officer of the Local Authority to see the system is in place and 
in suitable working order. 

 
The approved scheme shall be maintained in full working order for the lifetime of the 
development. 

 
Reason To ensure a satisfactory environment for future residents in accordance with Policy 

CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 

Noise mitigation scheme 
 
12. a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents 

and application form, before any above ground works commence, a revised noise 
impact assessment shall be carried out and shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt the revised noise 
impact assessment shall set out how the detailed design and construction of the 
development which will ensure compliance with the following requirements: 

i. The internal ambient noise levels in all habitable rooms of the residential 
dwellings shall not exceed the guideline LAeq values in Table 4 of BS 8233:2014 
ii. The maximum internal noise levels in all habitable rooms should not normally 
exceed 45dB LAmax more than 10 times per night in accordance with the 
Professional Practice Guidance on Planning & Noise and the WHO Guidelines 
for Community Noise. 
iii. The rating noise from fixed building services/mechanical plant/equipment 
associated with the development shall be at least 10dB below the existing LA90 
background level at the nearest noise sensitive receptors (i.e. dwellings) when 
measured and assessed in accordance with BS4142:2014 

 
Where compliance with these criteria will rely on closed windows, the development must 
include sufficient and suitable ventilation to affected residential dwellings by means other 
than opening windows to ensure that the internal noise levels required by the above 
conditions can be retained all year round. The revised noise assessment should not be 
limited to noise from traffic and plant, but should also take into account the impact of other 
existing audible noise sources such as music and behavioural noise from, and associated 
with, existing licenced premises (in the areas of Parrock Street, King Street and Windmill 

Page 85



Street) during the evening and night-time economy period, and early morning delivery 
noise to nearby commercial uses, as appropriate. 

 
b) Prior to first occupation of the apartments, a suitable post-completion demonstrating 
compliance with (a) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority 

 
The approved details shall be maintained for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason To ensure a satisfactory environment for future residents in accordance with Policy 

CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
External Facing Materials 

 
13. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence details (and samples where 
requested by the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in the 
construction of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to any part of the development first being brought into use. 
 
Reason  To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a 

satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and new development in 
accordance with adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

 
Crime Prevention Measures  
 
14. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence, details of crime prevention 
measures according to the principles and physical security requirements of Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design (CPTED) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved measures shall be implemented prior to any of the 
residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and shall thereafter retained. 
 
Reason To ensure the development protects the environment of the site and its locality 

generally, in the interest of security, crime prevention and community safety and is in 
accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

 
Prior to Occupation  
 
Sound Insulation  
 
15. Prior to the first occupation of the apartments, a sound insulation assessment shall be 

carried out, submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Assessment shall include details of the assessment methodology and of the substantially 
enhanced sound insulation performance of the construction that separates the residential 
and commercial elements which shall resist the transmission of airborne sound such that 
the weighted standardised difference (DnT, W + Ctr) is not less than 53 decibels (i.e. an 
enhancement of the minimum levels stated in the Building Regulations of 10dB).  

 
Any works identified as being required in order to achieve a weighted standardised 
difference of not less than 53 decibels as required above shall be implemented and 

Page 86



evidence provided (if necessary, by way of a further sound insulation assessment report) 
for approval by the Local Authority prior to first occupation. 

 
Reason  In order to protect the amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Policy CS19 

of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
Bat/Bird roosting opportunities 
 
16. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 

notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a scheme for providing bat/bird roosting opportunities at the site shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved 
scheme shall be implemented in full prior to the first occupation of the residential unit. 

 
Reason  In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with adopted Local 

Plan Core Strategy Policy CS12 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

 
Management Plan 
 
17. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 

notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, a management plan to ensure the long-term management and 
maintenance of all public realm and other areas with public amenity function within the 
ownership and/or management of the applicant shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The said management plan shall contain details 
of a mechanism to ensure that sufficient resources are made available to provide for the 
maintenance of the public realm in accordance with the approved strategy for the lifetime 
of the development. For the avoidance of doubt the said management plan shall include 
details of the maintenance regime to be applied in relation to: 

 
(a) Hard and soft landscaping; 
(b) The maintenance of the surface water drainage systems; 
(c) Public car parking areas and external lighting; 
(d) The cleansing of public areas (including the removal of litter and graffiti); and 
(e) All internal and external internal communal spaces. 

 
The approved management plan shall then be implemented in full prior to any part of the 
permitted development being occupied or used.  

 
Reason  To secure measures for the long term management and maintenance of the public 

areas to ensure the development is of a satisfactorily high design standard during 
its lifetime and in accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS19 
of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Travel Plan 
 
18. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and 

notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, the applicant shall prepare and submit for the approval of the Local 
Planning Authority a final Travel Plan generally in accordance with the Framework Travel 
Plan submitted with this application. The Travel Plan shall include, amongst other things, 
the appointment of a Travel Plan Co-ordinator and the plan shall be monitored at yearly 
intervals; the measures approved in the Travel Plan shall be implemented in accordance 

Page 87



with the approved details or any changes subsequently made under its monitoring review 
process. 

 
Reason  In accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy Policy CS11 of the 

Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
 
Biodiversity and Ecological Enhancement 
 
19. Within six months of works commencing, details of how the development will offset 

biodiversity loss/enhance biodiversity will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. This will include a native species-only landscape scheme. The 
approved details will be implemented and thereafter retained.  

 
Reason In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with Policy CS12 of the 

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Details of Balconies and Balustrades 
 
20. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of the balconies and balustrades for the development shall submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details of the balconies shall include information 
on how future occupiers will have sufficient privacy when using the balconies and to protect 
the privacy of surrounding properties. The approved details shall be provided prior to first 
occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and 
thereafter be retained for such purposes at all times.  

 
Reason  In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion and 

protect the amenity of occupiers and neighbouring properties in accordance with 
Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Obscure Glazing 
 
21.  Prior to first occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, a 
schedule and details of all windows within the development to be obscure glazed (and 
where applicable fixed shut) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall thereafter be implemented as approved prior to any of the 
residential units hereby permitted first being occupied. For the avoidance of doubt any 
obscure windows shall be glazed with obscure glass to a level equivalent to Pilkington Level 
3 or above (or the nearest equivalent standard) and shall be permanently retained as such. 
All fixed shut windows shall be permanently retained as such. 

 
Reason  To protect the amenity and privacy of neighbouring properties in accordance with 

Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments 
 
22. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt the 
details shall include the following:  

 

Page 88



 proposed boundary treatments,  

 proposed finished levels and contours,  

 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 
gardens and amenity areas;  

 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other 
supporting structures 

 details of the pedestrian access and circulation areas  

 minor structures such as play equipment, log piles, and any proposed seating. 
 

The approved works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to 
first occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the landscaped elements of the scheme as proposed are properly 

designed and suitably implemented in the interests of visual amenity and highway 
safety in accordance with Policies CS11 and Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved policy T5 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan First Review (1994). 

 
Soft Landscaping Scheme  
 
23.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, a 
scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the type and species of 
planting to be carried out, to include their quantity and size as well as arrangements for 
aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full 
during the first available planting season following first occupation of the development. Any 
trees or plants that die, are damaged, removed or become diseased within five years from 
the date that the development is first brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a 
similar size and species during the next available planting season.  

 
Reason To ensure that the landscaped elements of the scheme as proposed are properly 

designed and suitably implemented in the interests of visual amenity in accordance 
with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Formation of Parking Spaces 

 
24. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, the 
vehicle parking areas shown on the approved plans shall be formed, surfaced, drained and 
marked out in accordance with a scheme first to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order, 
with or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the site in such a 
manner or in such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved vehicle 
parking and turning areas. 

 
Reason To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the 

development, in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First 
Review (1994). 

 
Cycle Storage 

Page 89



 
25.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of the proposed cycle storage facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved cycle storage facilities shall be provided prior to 
prior to any of the residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and thereafter be 
retained for such purposes at all times. 

 
Reason  In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policy CS19 

of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 
of Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 

 
Refuse Arrangements 
 
26. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of the refuse arrangements (for the avoidance of doubt the management of chutes) along 
with a refuse collection management plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details shall ensure adequate provision for 
non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste and security arrangements for the 
refuse stores and the management plan shall include arrangements for how the bins shall 
be taken nearer to the public highway on collection days and then returned to the bin store 
after the refuse has been collected.  The development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details prior to first occupation of any of the residential/commercial units 
hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained for such purposes at all times.  

 
Reason In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the 

interest of amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan 
Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Deliveries and Servicing the Proposed Development 
 
27.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 

the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
and arrangements for deliveries and servicing the proposed development, shall be 
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter 
be implemented as approved. The servicing strategy shall include the following: 

 
(a) Details for the servicing of the residential apartments and communal spaces to be 

provided as part of the development, to have regard to the phased delivery of the 
development and interim arrangements required until such time as the whole 
development is built out and operating; 

 
(b) Details as to how existing properties will be serviced during the construction of the 

development and once it has been built out (if this differs). 
 
Reason To ensure acceptable delivery and servicing arrangements to enable the efficient 

operation of the development and to minimise any potential impacts on the road 
network and existing properties and businesses and in accordance with adopted 
Local Plan Core Strategy Policies CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: 
Core Strategy (September 2014).  

 

 

 

Page 90



Prior to Installation  
 
Plant Equipment 
 
28. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form prior to the 

installation of plant equipment, details of any services and plant systems, including roof top 
plant equipment shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details shall include the siting, external appearance and any proposed 
screening.  The works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details prior to first occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted.   

 
Reason  In the interest of the amenities of neighbouring properties and the area generally and 

in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014). 

 
On-going Conditions  

 
Watching Brief 
 
29. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 

site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination 
will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable 

risk from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from 
previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with 
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 
Dishes/Telecommunication  
 
30.  No satellite antenna, apparatus or plant of any sort (including structures or plant in 

connection with the use of telecommunication systems or any electronic communications 
apparatus) shall be erected on the site or roofs/walls of the development hereby approved. 

 
Reason  In the interests of the visual amenity of the development and in accordance with 

Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Generators 
 
31. The diesel generators shall only be used for emergencies only and for testing purposes 

only. 
 
Reason In order to protect the amenity of the occupants of the development and the 

neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policies CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Outside storage 

 
32. No E(g) uses or ancillary storage uses shall take place within the site outside of the 

buildings, other than the loading or unloading of vehicles. 
 

Page 91



Reason In order to protect the amenity of the occupants of the development and the 
neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policies CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Background Noise (live/work Units) 

 
33. The rating level of the noise emitted from the live/work units hereby permitted (other than 

noise from the exit or entry of road vehicles), shall not exceed the existing background 
noise level by more than 3 dB. The noise levels shall be determined at the points nearest 
to adjacent noise sensitive premises. The measurements and assessments shall be 
made according to BS4142:1997. 

 
Reason In order to protect the amenity of the occupants of the development and the 

neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policies CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Live/work Use 

 
34. The business floorspace of the live/work unit shall not be used for any purpose other 

than for purposes within Class E(g) in the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 

 
Reason In order to protect the amenity of the occupants of the development and the 

neighbouring properties and in accordance with Policies CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).). 

 
Office Use 
  
35. The office space within the development shall only be used for the purposes falling within 

E(c) and E (g) in the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 
1987 (as amended), or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory 
instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification. 

 
Reason In order to control the office use in accordance with Policies CS07 and CS19 of the 

Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Hours of Use (Offices) 
 
36. The E(c) and E (g) use hereby permitted shall only be open for business between the 

hours of 07:00 hours and 19:00 hours Mondays to Saturdays and shall not be open for 
business at any other times.  

 
Reason: In the interests of residential and visual amenity and pursuant to Policy CS19 

Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 

 
Informatives 
 

1.STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-
MAKING 
 

2. REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 

Page 92



3. DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 
 

4.KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
 

5.BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 
 

6.UTILITIES 
 

7.NAMING & NUMBERING 
 

8.DRAINAGE/SEWERAGE 
 

9.NETWORK RAIL  
 
10.SMOKE CONTROL 
 
11.WATER EFFICIENCY  
 

 

Page 93



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

SUMMARY REPORT 

Application Ref: 20221179 

Site Address: Land At St Columbas Close Gravesend Kent 

Application 
Description: 

Demolition of Nos. 1-12 St Patricks Gardens. Nos. 36-41 St Patricks 
Gardens and Nos. 28-42 even nos. only St Columbas Close, and the 
caretakers facility.  Erection of 2no. 2 storey buildings, 1no. 3 storey 
building and 1no. part 3 and part 4 storey building; to provide 46 
residential dwellings (Class C3) residential use, with associated 
vehicle and pedestrian access, amenity space with hard and soft 
landscaping, car and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage 
provision, and other associated works.   

Applicant: Sarah Holmes, Gravesham Borough Council 

Agent: Mr Will Philps, BPTW 

Ward: Westcourt 

Parish: Non-Parish Area 

Decision due date: 1 February 2023 

Publicity expiry date: 13 December 2022 

Decision Level: Planning Committee 

Reason for referral: Local Planning Authority is the applicant 

Recommendation: 
DELEGATED to the Service Manager (Planning) for PERMISSION 
subject to planning conditions and the completion of a unilateral 
agreement 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary of Reasons for Recommendations 
 
This is a major planning application for the demolition of 26 units, comprising Nos. 1-12 St 
Patricks Gardens, Nos. 36-41 St Patricks Gardens and Nos. 28-42 even nos. only St 
Columba’s Close, and the caretakers facility.  With the construction of 2no. 2 storey buildings, 
1no. 3 storey building and 1no. part 3 and part 4 storey building to provide 46 residential 
dwellings, a net increase of 20 units. 
 
The proposed development is deemed to be a sustainable form of development that accords 
with the development plan and material considerations. The applicant has confirmed they will 
provide all of the financial contributions which meet the relevant tests set out as statutory tests 
in regulation 122 of The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended by the 
2011 and 2019 Regulations) and as policy tests in the NPPF (2021). 
 
All representations received from both 3rd parties and statutory consultees have been taken 
into account when considering this proposal and no amendments to the proposal are required. 
 
Subject to the conditions set out at the end of this report, it should be delegated to the Service 
Manager (Planning) for permission subject to the completion of a unilateral agreement.   
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 

Page 95 Agenda Item 5b

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/948/regulation/122/made


   
 

 

 
MAIN REPORT 

 
1. Proposal  
 
1.1 The proposal is for the demolition of 26 units, comprising Nos. 1-12 St Patricks Gardens, 

Nos. 36-41 St Patricks Gardens and Nos. 28-42 (even nos. only) St Columbas Close, and 
the caretakers facility, with the erection of 2no. 2 storey buildings, 1no. 3 storey building and 
1no. part 3 / part 4 storey building to provide 46 residential dwellings (Class C3), with 
associated vehicle and pedestrian access, amenity space with hard and soft landscaping, car 
and cycle parking, refuse and recycling storage provision, and other associated works.   
 
Existing Site and Demolition Plan (Buildings shaded red) 

 
 

1.2 The proposal will include a total of 34 parking spaces, which would be an additional 26 
parking spaces, and 3no. detached secure weatherproofed cycle stores providing a total of 
58 cycle spaces. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 96



   
 

 

Proposed Site Plan 

 
 

1.3 Overall, the existing general layout would broadly remain, with the replacement buildings 
being located in similar locations to the existing (see new buildings Block A, Terrace T01 and 
Block B above), with one additional new building (M01) being more centrally located. 

 
1.4 Block A would consist of a part 3, part 4 storey building with roofspace accommodation, 

located to the west of the site, providing 20 units in total, including 5no. 1bed 2 person units, 
5no. 2 bed 3 person units, 4no. 2 bed 4 person units, and 6no. 3 bed 5 persons units. 
 
Block A – Proposed Elevations 

 

Page 97



   
 

 

 
 

1.5 Block B would consist of a 3 storey building located to the north-east of the site, providing 14 
units in total, including 8no. 1bed 2 person units and 6no. 2 bed 3 person units. 
 
Block B – Proposed Elevations 

 
 

 
 

1.6 Terrace T01 would consist of a row of 6no. 2 storey terrace single residential dwellings, with 
roofspace accommodation, located to the north-west of the site, providing 4no. 3 bed 5 
person and 2no. 4 bed 6 person dwellings. 
 
Terrace T01 – Proposed Elevations 

 
 

 
 

Page 98



   
 

 

1.7 Maisonette M01 is a 2 storey building, located to the south of Terrace T01, consisting of 6no. 
maisonettes, providing 2no. 1 bed 2 person and 4no. 2 bed 3 person units. 
 
Maisonette M01 – Proposed Elevations 

 
 

 
 

1.8 The proposal would provide 46 affordable units.  The overall schedule of accommodation for 
the proposed development is as follows: 
 

Accommodation 
Mix 

1b/2p 
flat 

1b/2p 
maisonette 

2b/3p 
flat 

2b/3p 
maisonette 

2b/4p 
flat 

3b/5p 
flat 

3b/5p 
house 

4b/6p 
house 

Total 
Units 

% units 
overall 

Rent 13 2 11 4 4 6 4 2 46 100% 

Intermediate         0 0% 

Privat Sale         0 0% 

Total Units 13        46 100% 

 
1.9 A communal space would be located to the rear of Maisonette M01, a communal garden to 
the rear of Block B, together with an outdoor gym and grow your own area located to the south-
east of the site. 
 

Proposed Landscaping Plan 

 
 

Page 99



   
 

 

1.10 Entrance to the site would be via a new vehicular access from Valley Drive, located to the 
north of Block A, with the access road running to the east towards the parking bays located 
to the west and south of Block B. 
 
 

2. Relevant Planning History 
 

2.1 Since the construction of the bedsit/flats in the late1950’s/early 1960’s there is no relevant 
planning history.  
 
 

3. Planning Policies 
 
Development Plan 
 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) (September 2014): 
• CS01 – Sustainable Development 
• CS02 – Scale & Distribution of Development  
• CS10 – Physical and Social Infrastructure 
• CS11 – Transport 
• CS12 – Green Infrastructure 
• CS13 – Green Space, Sport and Recreation 
• CS14 – Housing Type and Size 
• CS15 – Housing Density 
• CS16 – Affordable Housing 
• CS18 – Climate Change 
• CS19 – Design & Development Principles 

 
3.1 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2021) sets out that policies within adopted local plans should be 

reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should 
then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set out in 
Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England Regulations 
2012. 

 
3.2 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 

adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 due 
to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the 
need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) generally conform with the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021), the Council will also seek to replace these saved policies via the 
emerging Local Plan. 

 
Saved Policies in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (LPFR) (November 1994): 
• P3 – Vehicle Parking Standards 
• T1 – Impact of Development on the Highway Network 
• T5 – New Access onto Highway Network 
• LT6 – Additional Open Space in New Housing Developments 

 
Other material considerations  
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
• Section 4 – Decision-making 
• Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
• Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities  

Page 100



   
 

 

• Section 9 – Promoting Sustainable Transport 
• Section 10 – Supporting high quality communications 
• Section 11 – Making effective use of land  
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 
• Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
Including the National Design Guide (January 2021) 
 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
• SPG2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996) 
• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006) 
• Housing Standards Policy Statement, 1st October, 2015 
• Technical Housing Standards: Nationally Described Space Standards 
• KCC Guide to Development Contributions and the Provision of Community Infrastructure 

(2007) 
• Kent Design Guide 
• Planning Guidance on Waste Collection Requirements (2019) 

 
 

4. Consultations, Publicity and Representations 
 

Internal  
 
GBC – Highways Officer 
 
09.11.22 
In general, I have no issues with the application, it has been subject to extensive 
consultation prior to submission, various issues have been resolved with during this process, 
and the application now reflects the requirements to meet the property uplift in numbers and 
tenures.  
 
The one issue outstanding is the visibility for vehicles emerging from the two parking spaces 
to the rear of Block A. Visibility splays should either be provided to reflect the speed limit or if 
appropriate, the design speed if suitable measures are included within the proposal. The 
Kent Design Guide suggests that there should be 40m between speed restraint features to 
achieve a 15mph target speed, and this would permit a visibility splay of 17m x 2.4m x 17m 
on level ground, but a gradient will change this. A 10% gradient increasing the visibility to the 
right to 19 metres whilst leaving that to the left unchanged. Other options may be available 
and depending on the status of the road, they should be discussed with Kent County Council 
or Gravesham Borough Council as appropriate. The most obvious measure would be to 
include a chicane adjacent to the maisonette to the right of the parking spaces, providing 
suitable signage is provided and it does not adversely affect vehicles parking at the first 
house on the north side of the road or using the parking spaces.  
 
15.12.22 
The proposal seems to be borderline, but as I cannot carry out any measurements, I cannot 
be certain. For a design speed of 15mph the sight line requirement would be 18 metres in 
both directions on level ground. However, gradients can change this, and we do not know 
the final gradient of the road. A gradient of 10% would require 19 metres, whilst 15% would 
be 20 metres to the right, neither of which appear achievable. 
 
Looking at the formula for sight lines and the guidance for gradients and speed restraints in 
the Kent Design Guide, the following would be acceptable. Gradient of the road does not 

Page 101



   
 

 

exceed 6% within the sight line distance and speed restraint features are at 40metre 
intervals, the requirement for 15mph. 
 
04.10.23 
The drawings attached to your original email dated 30/12/2022 are fit for purpose. I have no 
objections. 
 
Revised plans showing amended car parking spaces and swept path analysis drawings 
were submitted on 09.01.23 to address Highway concerns. 
 
11.01.23 
No objections to the revised plans. 

 
GBC – Environmental Protection 
After reviewing the application we have the following comments; 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
The applicant has provided a Phase 1 and 2 contaminated land report produced by RPS 
Group on August 2022. 
 
The report identifies Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) present in made ground at the 
site, at levels that may pose an unacceptable risk to residents within the proposed private 
garden areas. 
 
The report goes on to recommend the following measures are taken to protect future 
occupiers as well as contractors working on the development; 
 

 The private gardens of the development should prior to occupiers should either have the 
made ground removed, or alternatively a suitable clean cover system installed. 

 It is recommended that a site specific Remediation Strategy incorporating Validation Plan 
and protocols for managing any contamination encountered during redevelopment is 
produced. The Remediation Strategy should include details of the covers systems 
required in areas of soft landscaping 

 Any soil imported for soft landscaping to be incorporated as part of the redevelopment 
should be analysed to confirm suitability for use. 

 Given their age, it is possible that asbestos containing material is present within the 
buildings on site. A formal Asbestos Refurbishment / Demolition Survey should be carried 
out prior to any demolition work commencing. 

  
We advise that the applicant follows all recommendations provided within the 
aforementioned report.   
 
They must also confirm whether they will be removing the made ground that poses a risk to 
the private gardens, or if they will be implementing a clean cover system.  If it is the later 
then the applicant must provide details of the clean cover system prior to determination by 
the LPA. 
 
Noise Control 
 
The applicant has provided a noise impact assessment produced by Nova Acoustics dated 
24 October 2022. 
 
The report considers compliance with BS8233:2014 and BS4142:2014 and recommends the 
following measures to protect the amenity of future residents; 

Page 102



   
 

 

 

 If the development has rooms within the roof space the roof system will require additional 
sound insulation to achieve appropriate internal noise levels. Where the roof, is being 
utilized as a voided loft space with thermal insulation the following detailing is not 
required. Where rooms are within the roof, the ceilings should consist of standard roofing 
slates, 100mm 45kg/m2 fitted tightly between the 200mm roof joists and 1no. 15mm 
SoundBloc plasterboard fixed to British Gypsum RB1 resilient bars to achieve a minimum 
sound reduction of 50dB Rw. Any other configuration of roof that would achieve at least 
50dB Rw will be suitable for the development. For concrete base roof construction, where 
rooms are within the roof, the ceilings should achieve a minimum sound reduction of 
50dB Rw. Concrete base constructions typically should achieve the minimum sound 
reduction. Any other configuration of roof that would achieve at least 50dB Rw will be 
suitable for the development. 

 The glazing suppliers are required to demonstrate the acoustic performance of their 
proposed system either by providing an acoustic test report in accordance with BS EN 
ISO 10140-2:2010 or an evidence-based calculation. 

 The ventilation suppliers are required to demonstrate the acoustic performance of their 
proposed system either by providing an acoustic test report in accordance with BS EN 
ISO 10140-2:2010 or an evidence-based calculation. 

 All mechanical plant associated with the development should not exceed the cumulative 
plant noise limit level of 26.0 dBA at the closest NSR. 

 
Prior to determination by the LPA we advise that the report’s recommendations are 
implemented and suitable evidence of this provided. 
 
Code of Practice on Construction and Demolition 
 
Due to the scale of the development and potential for nuisance from the demolition and 
construction phases we recommend that the Code of Practice on Construction & Demolition 
is conditioned. 
 
Fowl Water Drainage 
 
The applicant has provided a drainage report produced by Ridge & Partners LLP on October 
2022.   
 
In the report they advise; 
 

   A capacity check/analysis will need to be progressed with Southern Water to ensure that 
the existing foul sewer network has sufficient capacity to accommodate the proposed foul 
water discharge from the proposed development. 

 
We advise that prior to determination by the LPA that the applicant provides sufficient 
evidence that they have contacted Southern Water and have their approval to connect to the 
existing foul sewer network.  
 
Smoke Control Area Informative 
 
The proposed development is situated in a smoke control area.  As such, only authorised 
smokeless fuels as listed in the Smoke Control Areas (Authorised Fuels) Regulations 1991 
shall be burnt or fireplaces/appliances exempted by Smoke Control (Exempted Fireplaces) 
Orders shall be utilised.  Exempt appliances are appliances (ovens including pizza and 
tandoori ovens, wood burners and stoves) which have been exempted by Statutory 
Instruments (Orders) under the Clean Air Act 1993. These have passed tests to confirm that 

Page 103



   
 

 

they are capable of burning an unauthorised or inherently smoky solid fuel without emitting 
smoke. They must be fitted and used according to manufacturer's instructions and they can 
only be used for the fuel for which they are designed. When purchasing fuels and fireplaces 
the applicant should clarify with the vendor their suitability with respect to use in Smoke 
Control Areas. For further information, including confirmation that an appliance and/or fuel is 
suitable for use in a smoke control area, the applicant should contact the Council's 
Regulatory Services air.quality@gravesham.gov.uk 
 
GBC – Leisure & Resilience Manager 
 
01.12.22 
The areas of green space for proposed development for this particular pre-application do not 
register within the 2016 Open Space Assessment, undertaken by consultants Knight, 
Kavanagh & Page (KKP), due primarily to their size.  However, as mentioned previously at 
the pre-application stage, these small areas of amenity greenspace especially once added 
together, can still be recognised as providing some visual amenity to their locality.   
 
The preferred policy approach to a space in this category should generally be to enhance its 
value in terms of its present primary purpose. Therefore, comments made at the Pre-
application stage are still relevant in that it would be prudent to check with Horticultural 
Services (if not done already) regarding the details provided within the Landscaping Plan so 
that they are comfortable as to how the area has been reconfigured, how it will then be 
managed and maintained. 
 
It had been mentioned at the pre-application stage that there should be an early agreement 
on an additional small, commuted sum for off-site leisure/play development improvements 
again in consultation with Horticultural Services. I assume that this has now been 
superseded by the proposed plans for enhancements to the area alongside the proposal for 
regeneration at St. Columbas Close, in that the remaining St. Patrick’s area is also proposed 
to be improved? It mentions within the Design & Access statement that this area ‘will deliver 
a sympathetic design of the communal open space and garden areas to provide residents 
with a place to meet, to exercise and to enjoy.’ Details on the delivery timeline of this area 
should be agreed with Horticultural Services and agreement as well as whether these 
additional enhancements mitigate the need for an off-site commuted sum for similar 
improvements to existing sites close by (e.g. The Warren, St Dunstan’s Drive, or somewhere 
similar).   
 
30.12.22 
Using the Sport England Facilities Calculator based on 2.5 residents x 26 dwellings provides 
a figure of £58,301. This contribution is to be used at nearby general play and multi-use 
games area enhancements within 1 mile of the development, for example; The Warren, 
Kings Fam, St Gregory’s, Central Open Space etc.    

 
GBC – Private Sector Housing 
We can confirm Private Sector Housing have no comments to relay in relation to our housing 
legislations and regulations. We believe the proposed scheme is currently out of our remit 
with Planning requirements and Building Regulations taking precedence. 
 
GBC – Waste Management 
I have reviewed this planning application and have the following comments on refuse 
collection arrangements. 
 
I have taken a look at the plans you have attached and the location of bin stores/number of 
bins appear to meet with our expectations. 
  

Page 104



   
 

 

With regard to block B, will the bin store be at car park level or is there an incline, I know that 
the St Patrick’s site is not flat so helpful to know. 
  
We would require drop kerbs to move the larger bins around. 
  
One thing, we will be blocking the entrance road when we collect these bins especially block 
A but this should only be for a short period. 
  
Gravesham Borough Council operates a fortnightly collection of refuse and recycling and a 
weekly collection of food waste. 
 
It is the responsibility of the developer to ensure that all the relevant bins and sufficient 
storage space is provided for each property.   
 
The immediate area outside the bin store should be level with the road, should not include 
an incline and the installation of a drop kerb where necessary is mandatory.  Car parking 
spaces should not be allocated immediately in front of the access to the bin store. 
 
It is recommended that bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via a key or a key 
code pad. 
 
Developers are welcome to purchase their own 1100ltr bins however the bins must be metal 
and comply with European Standard EN840. 
 
Collections from sites will not occur until containers are in place.  It is the 
responsibility of the developer to collect and remove any waste at their cost until the 
Council is satisfied that all waste requirements have been met.  All complaints in 
regard to non-collection due to the fault of the developer will be passed onto to the 
developer for response. 
 
The Council should be informed at least two weeks prior to collections taking place. 
 
Finally I have concerns about the access to the site for the refuse collection vehicle.  I 
require more detailed information on the tracking information provided by DHA Transport.  
Generally where appropriate we will not enter private land to collect refuse bins, if we are 
required to then we will not be responsible for any damage the collection vehicle may cause 
to the road surface.   
 
For information the Council’s refuse collection vehicle information is below. 
 
The Council uses three axle, rear steer 26 tonne collection vehicles. 
Width – 2.5m 
Overall length – 10.5m 
Height – 3.8m 
Kerb Turning Circle – 18m 
Wall to Wall Turing Circle – 19m 

 
External 
 
KCC – Developer Contributions 
We refer to the above planning application which concerns proposed residential development 
at Land at St Columba’s Close, Gravesend and comprising: 46 new households 
(applicable for contributions on sites of 0.5ha or more).   
  
The County Council has assessed the implications of this proposal in terms of the delivery of 

Page 105



   
 

 

its community services and is of the opinion that it will have an additional impact on the 
delivery of its services. These impacts will require mitigation, either through the direct 
provision of infrastructure or the payment of an appropriate financial contribution.  
  
KCC Preliminary Assessment March 2021  
32 proposed new homes (10 x 1 bed flats + 20 applicable flats + 2 applicable houses), 
replacing 10 existing homes (2 applicable houses + 8 applicable flats)   
= net gain 22 new homes (10 x 1 bed flats + 12 applicable flats)  
  
KCC Current Assessment January 2023  
46 Proposed new homes (15 x 1 bed flats + 25 applicable flats + 6 applicable houses), 
replacing 10 existing homes (2 applicable houses + 8 applicable flats)   
= net gain of 21 new homes (17 applicable flats and 4 applicable houses)  
  
‘Applicable’ excludes: 1 bed units of less than 56 sqm GIA, and any sheltered  
accommodation. Please confirm the 15 x1 bed units proposed are below this 
threshold? 
 
The Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (the CIL  
Regulations) (Regulation 122) require that requests for development contributions of  
various kinds must comply with three specific legal tests:  
 
1. Necessary,  
2. Related to the development, and  
3. Reasonably related in scale and kind  
 
These tests have been duly applied in the context of this planning application and give rise 
to the following specific requirements (the evidence supporting these requirements is set out  
in the attached Appendices).   

  
Request Summary 
 

Page 106



   
 

 

 

Page 107



   
 

 

 
 
 Please note that these figures:  

 are to be index linked by the BCIS General Building Cost Index from April 2020 to the 
date of payment (Apr-20 Index 360.3)  

 are valid for 3 months from the date of this letter after which they may need to be recalculated 
due to changes in district council housing trajectories, on-going planning applications, 
changes in capacities and forecast rolls, projects and build costs.   

  
Justification for infrastructure provision/development contributions requested  
  
The County Council has modelled the impact of this proposal on the provision of its existing 
services and the outcomes of this process are set out below and in the attached 
appendices.  
  
Education  
  
Kent County Council is the Statutory Authority for education and is the Strategic Commissioner of 
Education Provision.  
  
Primary Education  
  
The impact of this proposal on the delivery of the County Council’s services is assessed in 
Appendix 1.  
  
The proposal gives rise to additional primary school pupils during occupation of the development. 
This need, cumulatively with other new developments in the vicinity, can only be met through 
the Primary School Project.   
 
This proposal has been assessed in accordance with the KCC Development Contributions  

Page 108



   
 

 

Guide methodology of ‘first come, first served’ assessment; having regard to the indigenous  
pupils, overlain by the pupil generation impact of this and other new residential  
developments in the locality.  
 
Secondary School Provision  
 
The impact of this proposal on the delivery of the County Council’s services is assessed in  
Appendix 1.  
 
A contribution is sought based upon the additional need required, where the forecast  
secondary pupil product from new developments in the locality results in the maximum  
capacity of local secondary schools being exceeded.   
 
The proposal is projected to give rise to additional secondary school pupils from the date of  
occupation of this development. This need can only be met through the provision of new  
accommodation at the Secondary school Project and will be provided and delivered in  
accordance with the Local Planning Authority’s Infrastructure Delivery Plan (where  
available); timetable and phasing.   
 
Please note this process will be kept under review and may be subject to change as the 
Local Education Authority will need to ensure provision of the additional pupil spaces within 
the appropriate time and at an appropriate location.  
 
Community Learning  
 
KCC provides community learning facilities and services for further education in line with  
KCC policies as set out in its Strategic Statement Increasing Opportunities, Improving  
Outcomes (adopted Spring 2015).  Community Learning and Skills (CLS) helps people 
moving to a new development overcome social isolation and encourages community 
cohesion, as well as improving skills in a wide range of areas.    
 
There is an assessed shortfall in provision for this service: the current adult participation in  
both District Centres and Outreach facilities is in excess of current service capacity, as 
shown in Appendix 2, along with the cost of mitigation.  
 
To accommodate the increased demand on KCC Community Learning, the County Council  
requests £16.42 per dwelling towards the cost of providing Community learning Project, local 
to the development.    
 
Youth Service  
 
KCC has a statutory duty to provide Youth Services under section 507B of the Education Act  
1996. This requires KCC, so far as reasonably practicable, to secure sufficient educational  
leisure-time activities and facilities to improve the well-being of young people aged 13 to 19  
and certain persons aged 20 to 24. 
 
To accommodate the increased demand on the Kent Youth Service, the County Council  
requests £65.50 per dwelling towards additional resources for the Youth service locally.  
 
Library Service  
 
KCC is the statutory Library Authority. Under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964,  
KCC has a statutory duty to provide ‘a comprehensive and efficient service’. The Local  
Government Act 1972 also requires KCC to take proper care of its libraries and archives.  
 

Page 109



   
 

 

  
 
To mitigate the impact of this development, the County Council will need to provide  
additional services, equipment, and stock to meet the additional demand generated by the  
people residing in these Dwellings.   
 
The County Council, therefore, requests £55.45 per household to address the direct impact  
of this development, and the additional services, equipment and stock will be made  
available locally at the named Library, as and when the monies are received.   
 
Adult Social Care  
 
The impact of this proposal on the delivery of the County Council’s services is assessed in  
Appendix 3.  
 
Kent County Council is the Statutory Authority for Adult Social Care. The proposed  
development will result in additional demand upon Adult Social Care Services (ASC),  
including older persons and adults with Learning/Neurodevelopmental/Physical Disabilities  
and Mental Health Conditions. Existing care capacity is fully allocated, with no spare  
capacity to meet additional demand arising from this and other new developments.   
 
To mitigate the impact of this development, KCC Adult Social Care requires:  
 

 a proportionate monetary contribution of £146.88 per household (as set out in Appendix 
3) towards specialist care accommodation, assistive technology systems and equipment 
to adapt homes, adapting Community facilities, sensory facilities, and Changing Places 
locally in the Borough.   

 

 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities identified in June 2019 
guidance Housing for older and disabled people, that the need to provide housing for 
older & disabled people is critical. Accessible and adaptable housing enables people to 
live more independently and safely, providing safe and convenient homes with suitable 
circulation space, bathrooms, and kitchens. Kent Adult Social Care requests these 
dwellings are built to Building Reg Part M4(2) standard (as a minimum) to ensure that 
they remain accessible throughout the lifetime of the occupants, meeting any changes 
in the occupant’s requirements.   

 
Waste  
 
Kent County Council is the statutory ‘Waste Disposal Authority’ for Kent, responsible for the  
safe disposal of all household waste, providing Household Waste Recycling Centres 
(HWRC) and Waste Transfer Stations (WTS). Each household produces an average of a 
quarter of a tonne of waste per year to be processed at HWRC’s and half a tonne per year to 
be processed at WTS’s. Existing HWRC’s and WTS’s are running at capacity and additional  
housing will create a significant burden on the manageability of waste in Kent.  
 
A contribution of £129.20 per household is required towards the extension and/or upgrading 
of the existing Waste facilities, to mitigate the impact arising from this development, and 
accommodate the increased waste throughput within the Borough.  
 
Broadband: Fibre to the premise/gigabit capable  
 
The NPPF (para 114) and The Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport requires full  
fibre connection to new developments being gigabit capable (minimum internal speed of  
1000mbps) fibre optic to the premise connection for all.   

Page 110



   
 

 

Please include a Planning Condition to provide ‘fibre to the premise’ (FTTP) broadband  
connections to all premises of gigabit capacity.  
 
KCC recommends that all developers work with a telecommunication partner or 
subcontractor in the early stages of planning to decide on the appropriate solution and the  
availability of the nearest connection point to high-speed broadband. Most major  
telecommunication providers are now offering next-generation access broadband  
connections free of charge to developers. Further details are available on their websites.  
 
Implementation  
 
The County Council is of the view that the above contributions comply with the provisions of  
CIL Regulation 122 and are necessary to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the  
provision of those services for which the County Council has a statutory responsibility.  
Accordingly, it is requested that the Local Planning Authority seek a section 106 obligation  
with the developer/interested parties prior to the grant of planning permission. The  
obligation should also include provision for the reimbursement of the County Council’s legal  
costs, surveyors’ fees and expenses incurred in completing the Agreement, and County  
monitoring fee of £500 for each trigger within the Agreement. We would be grateful if you  
could share at your earliest convenience a draft copy of any section 106 agreement or UU  
prior to its finalisation.  
 
Would you please confirm when this application will be considered and provide us with a  
draft copy of the Committee report prior to it being made publicly available? If you do not  
consider the contributions requested to be fair, reasonable, and compliant with CIL  
Regulation 122, it is requested that you notify us immediately and allow at least 10 working  
days to provide such additional supplementary information as may be necessary to assist  
your decision-making process in advance of the Committee report being prepared and the  
application being determined. 
 
KCC – Biodiversity 
We have reviewed the ecological information submitted by the applicant and advise that 
sufficient ecological information has been provided. However, it should be noted that the  
correct ecological document to submit with the planning application is an Ecological Impact  
Assessment (EcIA). Appendix 1 provides further detail regarding this, and the applicant is  
strongly recommended to supply this information for future applications.  
 
If planning permission is granted, we advise that the condition/informative below are  
included.  
 
Breeding Birds – suggested informative wording  
The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), it 
is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use 
or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against 
prosecution under this Act.    
 
Habitats are present on and around the site that provide opportunities for breeding birds. 
Any work to vegetation/structures that may provide suitable nesting habitats should be 
carried out outside of the main bird breeding season1 (1st March to 31st August inclusive) to 
avoid destroying or damaging bird nests in use or being built. If vegetation/structures need to 
be removed during the breeding season, mitigation measures need to be implemented. This 
includes examination by a suitably qualified and experienced ecologist immediately prior to 
starting work and if any nesting birds are found, works must cease until after the birds have 
finished nesting.  
 

Page 111



   
 

 

Ecological Enhancements  
Under section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 and  
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021, biodiversity must 
be maintained and enhanced through the planning system. Additionally, in alignment with 
paragraph 180 of the NPPF (2021), the implementation of measurable net gains for 
biodiversity (integrated as part of design) should be encouraged.  
 
The inclusion of native species planting along with habitat features such as log piles,  
reptile/amphibian hibernacula, hedgehog highways, bird and bat boxes can help mitigate for  
biodiversity losses on-site, and where sufficient habitats and features are included within  
designs, can be used to demonstrate biodiversity net gains.   
 
Ecological Enhancements – Suggested condition wording:  
“Prior to the completion of the development hereby approved, details of how the 
development will enhance biodiversity will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. These shall include the installation of bat and bird nesting boxes 
along with provision of generous native species planting. The approved details will be 
implemented and thereafter retained.”  
 
NORTH KENT SITES  
The development includes proposals for new dwellings within the zone of influence (6km) of  
The Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and Wetland of 
International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site). Gravesham Borough 
Council will need to ensure that the proposals fully adhere to the agreed approach within the 
North Kent Strategic Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS). This is to 
mitigate for additional recreational impacts on the designated sites and to ensure that 
adequate means are in place to secure the mitigation before first occupation. 
 
A decision from the Court of Justice of the European Union has detailed that mitigation  
measures cannot be taken into account when carrying out a screening assessment to 
decide whether a full Appropriate Assessment is needed under the Habitats Directive.  
Therefore, we advise that due to the need for the application to contribute to the North Kent 
SAMMS, there is still a need for an appropriate assessment to be carried out as part of this 
application. 
 
KCC – Highways and Transportation 
This proposal was the subject of a pre-app enquiry earlier in the year when any highway 
issues were discussed and resolved. 
 
The road layout meets with KCC's Kent Design requirements and the level of parking 
provided meets with Kent Residential Parking Standards (IGN3). Cycle parking is provided. 
Visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m at the junction of the access road and Valley Drive is 
considered adequate and should be conditioned. There are no highway issues of concern 
with this application. 
 
I can therefore confirm that provided the following requirements are secured by condition or 
planning obligation, then I would raise no objection on behalf of the local highway authority:- 
 
1. Provision and maintenance of 43 metres x 2.4 metres x 43 metres visibility splays at the 

access with no obstructions over 1.05 metres above carriageway level within the splays, 
prior to use of the site commencing. 

2. Provision and permanent retention of the vehicle parking spaces and/or garages shown 
on the submitted plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 

3. Provision and permanent retention of the cycle parking facilities shown on the submitted 
plans prior to the use of the site commencing. 

Page 112



   
 

 

4. Submission of a Construction Management Plan before the commencement of any 
development on site to include the following: 

 
(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site 
(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel 
(c) Timing of deliveries 
(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities 
(e) Temporary traffic management / signage 
 
Informative: It is important to note that planning permission does not convey any 
approval to carry out works on or affecting the public highway. 
 
Any changes to or affecting the public highway in Kent require the formal agreement of the 
Highway Authority, Kent County Council (KCC), and it should not be assumed that this will 
be a given because planning permission has been granted. For this reason, anyone 
considering works which may affect the public highway, including any highway-owned street 
furniture, is advised to engage with KCC Highways and Transportation at an early stage in 
the design process. 
 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not 
look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the public highway. Some of this 
highway land is owned by Kent County Council whilst some is owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have highway rights over the topsoil. 
 
Works on private land may also affect the public highway. These include works to cellars, to 
retaining walls which support the highway or land above the highway, and to balconies, 
signs or other structures which project over the highway. Such works also require the 
approval of the Highway Authority. 
 
Kent County Council has now introduced a formal technical approval process for new or 
altered highway assets, with the aim of improving future maintainability. This process applies 
to all development works affecting the public highway other than applications for vehicle 
crossings, which are covered by a separate approval process. 
 
Should the development be approved by the Planning Authority, it is the responsibility of the 
applicant to ensure, before the development is commenced, that all necessary highway 
approvals and consents have been obtained and that the limits of the highway boundary 
have been clearly established, since failure to do so may result in enforcement action being 
taken by the Highway Authority. The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on 
the approved plans agree in every aspect with those approved under the relevant legislation 
and common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC Highways and 
Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to commencement on site. 
 
Guidance for applicants, including information about how to clarify the highway boundary 
and links to application forms for vehicular crossings and other highway matters, may be 
found on Kent County Council’s website: 
 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/highway-permits-and-licences/highways-
permissions-and-technical-guidance. Alternatively, KCC Highways and Transportation may 
be contacted by telephone: 03000 418181 

 
Natural England 
Natural England is a non-departmental public body. Our statutory purpose is to ensure that 
the natural environment is conserved, enhanced, and managed for the benefit of present 
and future generations, thereby contributing to sustainable development.  

Page 113



   
 

 

 
DESIGNATED SITES [EUROPEAN] – NO OBJECTION SUBJECT TO SECURING  
APPROPRIATE MITIGATION FOR RECREATIONAL PRESSURE IMPACTS ON HABITAT  
SITES (EUROPEAN SITES).   
    
Natural England considers that this advice may be used for all applications that fall 
within the parameters detailed below.   
   
This advice relates to proposed developments that falls within the ‘zone of influence’ (ZOI) 
for one or more European designated sites, such as the North Kent Special Protection Area 
(SPA). It is anticipated that new residential development within this zone is ‘likely to have a 
significant effect’, when considered either alone or in combination, upon the qualifying 
features of the European Site due to the risk of increased recreational pressure that could be 
caused by that development and therefore such development will require an appropriate 
assessment.   
   
Your authority has measures in place to manage these potential impacts through a strategic  
solution which we have advised will in our view be reliable and effective in preventing 
adverse effects on the integrity of the relevant European Site(s) from such impacts 
associated with such development.  The strategic solution may or may not have been 
adopted within the local plan but must be agreed to by Natural England.  
 
Natural England is of the view that if these measures, including contributions to them, are  
implemented, they will be effective and reliable in preventing adverse effects on the integrity 
of the relevant European Site(s) from recreational impacts for the duration of the 
development proposed within the relevant ZOI.   
   
However, the application of these measures to avoid adverse effects on site integrity from  
recreational impacts associated with development proposed within the relevant ZOI should 
be formally checked and confirmed by your Authority, as the competent authority, via an 
appropriate assessment in view of the European Site’s conservation objectives and in 
accordance with the Conservation of Habitats & Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). In 
this regard, Natural England notes the People Over Wind Ruling by the Court of Justice of 
the European Union that mitigation may not be taken into account at screening stage when 
considering ‘likely significant effects’, but can be considered at appropriate assessment.    
   
Providing that the appropriate assessment concludes that the measures are secured 
as planning conditions or obligations by your authority to ensure their strict 
implementation for the full duration of the development, and providing that there are 
no other likely significant effects identified (on this or other protected sites) as 
requiring to be considered by your authority’s appropriate assessment, Natural 
England indicates that it is likely to be satisfied that your appropriate assessments 
will be able to ascertain that there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the 
European Site (from recreational pressure in view of its conservation objectives).  
Natural England will likely have no further comment regarding the Appropriate 
Assessment, in relation to recreational disturbance.   
   
Natural England should continue to be consulted on all proposals where provision of 
site specific SANGS (Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space) or other bespoke 
mitigation for recreational impacts that falls outside of the strategic solution is 
included as part of the proposal.  We would also strongly recommend that applicants 
proposing site specific infrastructure including SANGs seek pre application advice 
from Natural England through its Discretionary Advice Service. If your consultation is 
regarding bespoke site-specific mitigation, please reconsult Natural England putting 
‘Bespoke Mitigation’ in the email header.   

Page 114



   
 

 

   
Reserved Matters applications where the outline permission was granted prior to the 
introduction of the Strategic Solution, should also be subject to the requirements of the 
Habitats Regulations and our advice above applies.   
 
Southern Water 
Southern Water have reviewed this planning application and the drainage strategy does not 
consider the hydrocarbon impacts to our sensitive public groundwater supply founded in the 
principal Chalk aquifer. Given there is likely a shallow unsaturated zone below the site 
during the winter, Southern Water request oil interceptors be installed on the surface water 
network prior entering each soakaway feature to prevent hydrocarbon discharge to the 
principal Chalk aquifer.   
  
It appears that the applicant is proposing to abandon/divert a public foul sewer. Any public 
sewer diversion proposals shall be approved by Southern Water under Section 185 of the 
Water Industry Act. An application should be made using Southern Water's Get Connected 
Service at developerservices.southernwater.co.uk  
  
The attached plan shows that the proposed development will lie over an existing public foul 
sewer, which will not be acceptable to Southern Water. The exact position of the public 
apparatus must be determined on site by the applicant before the layout of the proposed 
development is finalised.  
  
It might be possible to divert the 100 mm, 150 mm and 300 mm public foul sewers, so long 
as this would result in no unacceptable loss of hydraulic capacity, and the work was carried 
out at the developer’s expense to the satisfaction of Southern Water under the relevant 
statutory provisions. 
 
- The 100 mm, 150 mm, 300 mm and 375 mm public foul sewer requires a clearance of 3 
metres on either side of the gravity sewer to protect it from construction works and to allow 
for future access for maintenance.  
  
- The 1.5 inches and 3 inches water distribution mains requires a clearance of 6 metres on 
either side of the water distribution mains to protect it from construction works and to allow 
for future access for maintenance.  
  
- No excavation, mounding or tree planting should be carried out within 6 metres of the 
external edge of the public water distribution mains without consent from Southern Water.  
  
- No development or tree planting should be carried out within 3 metres of the external edge 
of the public gravity sewer without consent from Southern Water.  
  
- No new soakaways, swales, ponds, watercourses or any other surface water retaining or 
conveying features should be located within 5 metres of a sewer and public water 
distribution mains.  
  
- All existing infrastructure should be protected during the course of construction works.  
  
Please refer to: southernwater.co.uk/media/3011/stand-off-distances.pdf  
  
Alternatively, the applicant may wish to amend the site layout, or combine a diversion with 
amendment of the site layout. If the applicant would prefer to advance these options, items 
above also apply.  
  
Furthermore, it is possible that a sewer now deemed to be public could be crossing the 

Page 115



   
 

 

development site. Therefore, should any sewer be found during construction works, an 
investigation of the sewer will be required to ascertain its ownership before any further works 
commence on site.  
  
In order to protect drainage apparatus, Southern Water requests that if consent is granted, a 
condition is attached to the planning permission; for example, the developer must advise the 
local authority (in consultation with Southern Water) of the measures which will be 
undertaken to divert the public sewers, prior to the commencement of the development.  
  
Southern Water requires a formal application for a connection to the public foul sewer to be 
made by the applicant or developer.  
  
To make an application visit Southern Water's Get Connected service:  
developerservices.southernwater.co.uk and please read our New Connections Charging 
Arrangements documents which are available on our website via the following link:  
southernwater.co.uk/developing-building/connection-charging-arrangements  
  
The supporting documents make reference to drainage using Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS).  
  
Under certain circumstances SuDS will be adopted by Southern Water should this be 
requested by the developer. Where SuDS form part of a continuous sewer system, and are 
not an isolated end of pipe SuDS component, adoption will be considered if such systems 
comply with the latest Design and Construction Guidance (Appendix C) and CIRIA guidance 
available here: 
 
water.org.uk/sewerage-sector-guidance-approved-documents/  
  
ciria.org/Memberships/The_SuDS_Manual_C753_Chapters.aspx  
  
Where SuDS rely upon facilities which are not adoptable by sewerage undertakers the 
applicant will need to ensure that arrangements exist for the long-term maintenance of the 
SuDS facilities. It is critical that the effectiveness of these systems is maintained in 
perpetuity. Good management will avoid flooding from the proposed surface water system, 
which may result in the inundation of the foul sewerage system.   
  
Thus, where a SuDS scheme is to be implemented, the drainage details submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority should:  
  
- Specify the responsibilities of each party for the implementation of the SuDS scheme.  
  
- Specify a timetable for implementation.  
  
- Provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development.  
  
This should include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory 
undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout 
its lifetime.  
  
The Council’s Building Control officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the 
adequacy of soakaways to dispose of surface water from the proposed development.  
  
We request that should this planning application receive planning approval, the following 
informative is attached to the consent: Construction of the development shall not commence 
until details of the  proposed means of foul sewerage and surface water disposal have been 

Page 116



   
 

 

submitted to, and approved  in writing by, the Local Planning Authority in consultation with 
Southern Water.  
  
This initial assessment does not prejudice any future assessment or commit to any adoption 
agreements under Section 104 of the Water Industry Act 1991. Please note that non-
compliance with the Design and Construction Guidance will preclude future adoption of the 
foul and surface water sewerage network on site. The design of drainage should ensure that 
no groundwater or land drainage is to enter public sewers. 
 
Environment Agency 
Due to the scale, nature and residential setting of this proposal and the supporting 
information submitted, we do not object to the proposal in principle providing the 
following conditions are placed on any permitted development.  
  
Condition  
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination 
will be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved.  
  
Reasons  
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 174 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
  
NOTE: any waste materials should be removed to suitable permitted sites as part of any site 
clearance/preparation works. Particular care should be taken with regards to any asbestos 
containing building materials that may be present to avoid cross contamination of waste 
materials. 
  
Further clarification should be sought from the Local Authority Environmental Health Officer 
with respect to issues related to harm to human health. 
 
Condition  
No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.   
 
Reasons  
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Condition  
Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted 
other than with the express written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be 
given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated by a piling risk assessment 
that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason  
To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 
from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 

Page 117



   
 

 

contaminants in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Informative  
Piling can result in risks to groundwater quality by mobilising contamination when boring 
through different bedrock layers and creating preferential pathways. Thus it should be 
demonstrated that any proposed piling will not result in contamination of groundwater. If 
Piling is proposed, a Piling Risk Assessment must be submitted, written in accordance with 
the Environment Agency guidance document “Piling and Penetrative Ground Improvement 
Methods on Land Affected by Contamination: Guidance on Pollution Prevention. National 
Groundwater & Contaminated Land Centre report NC/99/73”.  
 
Informative  
The CL:AIRE Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice (version 2) 
provides operators with a framework for determining whether or not excavated material 
arising from site during remediation and/or land development works are waste or have 
ceased to be waste. Under the Code of Practice: excavated materials that are recovered via 
a treatment operation can be re-used on-site providing they are treated to a standard such 
that they fit for purpose and unlikely to cause pollution treated materials can be transferred 
between sites as part of a hub and cluster project some naturally occurring clean material 
can be transferred directly between sites.  
 
Developers should ensure that all contaminated materials are adequately characterised both 
chemically and physically, and that the permitting status of any proposed on site operations 
are clear. If in doubt, the Environment Agency should be contacted for advice at an early 
stage to avoid any delays.   
 
The Environment Agency recommends that developers should refer to the Position 
statement on the Definition of Waste: Development Industry Code of Practice and the 
Environmental regulations page on gov.uk. 
 
KCC – Heritage 
The site has general background archaeological potential, but as this area was  
developed before modern planning-led archaeology, we have no clear understanding  
of the precise potential of this site. The development of the site will have had some  
impact on any below-ground archaeological remains, reducing potential significance,  
and therefore I consider it would be appropriate to secure a programme of archaeological 
work by use of a planning condition on any forthcoming consent. I recommend the following 
condition to allow for the field evaluation of the site, ideally before demolition of the buildings:  

 
No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has 
secured the implementation of:   
i. archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation 
and timetable which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority; and  
ii. following on from the evaluation, any safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in 
situ of important archaeological remains and/or further archaeological investigation and 
recording in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation and timetable which has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure appropriate assessment of the archaeological implications of any  
development proposals and the subsequent mitigation of adverse impacts through  
preservation in situ or by record.   

 
KCC – Flood and Water Management 
Kent County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority have reviewed the Flood Risk 

Page 118



   
 

 

Assessment prepared by Ridge and Partners LLP dated 13th October 2022 and the 
Below Ground Drainage Strategy prepared by Ridge and Partners LLP dated 17th 
October 2022 and have the following comments: 
 
1. It is understood from the report that the surface water will be managed using infiltration via 
two soakaways. 
 
We note that the western soakaway fails to meet the 24 hour half drain time requirement. 
This is acceptable for the 100 year return event and as per the Ciria Susdrain guidance for 
larger return periods, the system has enough capacity after 24 hours to accommodate a 1 in 
10 year return period event. However, for the lower return periods we would ask for network 
alterations (such as additional attenuation or soakaways) to be undertaken in order to meet 
the requirement if necessary. 
 
2. The accompanying Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment and Phase 2 Geo-
Environmental and Geotechnical site investigation Report dated August 2022 prepared by 
RPS Consulting Services Ltd also highlights that the chalk stratum is highly variable and that 
any soakaways should be sited at least 5 to 10m from any structures. As part of the detailed 
design stage, we would seek for additional ground investigations to be undertaken that 
would include both infiltration testing (adhering to BRE:365 guidance) and further analysis 
within the areas proposed for infiltration. It is also advised that a geotechnical specialist 
confirms the required separation distance between the infiltrating feature and any 
foundations. We would also recommend groundwater monitoring, as mentioned in section 
5.5 of the Below Ground Drainage Strategy, is undertaken to support any use of soakaways. 
Monitoring for groundwater should be undertaken during the winter months, when 
groundwater is likely to be at its highest. This is to ensure an adequate separation distance 
between the base of the soakaway and any groundwater can be maintained. 
 
3. Further to this, the site is located in a groundwater Source Protection Zone 2. 
Consultation with the Environment Agency early in the planning process is recommended to 
identify any constraints or specific requirements in this area that may impact the proposed 
SuDs methods. 
 
4. We note that not all the buildings within the red line boundary are proposed to be 
connected to the new drainage system. Therefore, it is anticipated that the existing drainage 
regime will continue for those perspective areas. Whilst we would expect a continuation of 
the existing drainage regime, a CCTV survey should ideally be undertaken to confirm how 
these areas drain and whether any alterations are needed to reduce any potential flood 
risks. 
 
5. We note that the Microdrainage calculations in the report use rainfall model FSR data 
rather than FEH data. As part of the detailed design stage, we would expect to see the 
drainage system modelled using 2013 FeH rainfall data in any appropriate modelling or 
simulation software. Where 2013 FeH data is not available, 26.25mm should be manually 
input for the M5-60 value, as per the requirements of our latest drainage and planning policy 
statement (June 2019). 
 
6. As part of the hydraulic analysis we would also seek for the latest Environment Agency 
climate change analysis to be used (10th May 2022). As part of this update, revisions have 
been made to the 'Peak Rainfall Intensity Allowances' that are used in applying climate 
change percentages to new drainage schemes. The LLFA would now seek the 'upper end' 
allowance is designed for both the 30 (3.3%) and 100 (1%) year storm scenarios. The latest 
information on the allowances and map can be found at the following link: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances 
 

Page 119



   
 

 

Should the Local Planning Authority be minded to grant planning permission for this 
development, the LLFA would advise the following conditions are attached: 
 
Condition: 
 
Development shall not begin in any phase until a detailed sustainable surface water 
drainage scheme for the site has been submitted to (and approved in writing by) the local 
planning authority. The detailed drainage scheme shall be based upon the Below Ground 
Drainage Strategy prepared by Ridge and Partners LLP dated 17th October 2022 and shall 
demonstrate that the surface water generated by this development (for all rainfall durations 
and intensities up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 100 year storm) can 
be accommodated and disposed of within the curtilage of the site without increase to flood 
risk on or off-site. 
 
The drainage scheme shall also demonstrate (with reference to published guidance): 
 

 that silt and pollutants resulting from the site use can be adequately managed to ensure 
there is no pollution risk to receiving waters. 

 appropriate operational, maintenance and access requirements for each drainage 
feature or SuDS component are adequately considered, including any proposed 
arrangements for future adoption by any public body or statutory undertaker. 

 
The drainage scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
To ensure the development is served by satisfactory arrangements for the disposal of 
surface water and to ensure that the development does not exacerbate the risk of on/off site 
flooding. These details and accompanying calculations are required prior to the 
commencement of the development as they form an intrinsic part of the proposal, the 
approval of which cannot be disaggregated from the carrying out of the rest of the 
development. 
 
Condition: 
No building on any phase (or within an agreed implementation schedule) of the development 
hereby permitted shall be occupied until a Verification Report, pertaining to the surface water 
drainage system and prepared by a suitably competent person, has been submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The Report shall demonstrate that the drainage 
system constructed is consistent with that which was approved.  The Report shall contain 
information and evidence (including photographs) of details and locations of inlets, outlets 
and control structures; landscape plans; full as built drawings; information pertinent to the 
installation of those items identified on the critical drainage assets drawing; and, the 
submission of an operation and maintenance manual for the sustainable drainage scheme 
as constructed.  
 
Reason: 
To ensure that flood risks from development to the future users of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together with those risks to controlled waters, property and ecological 
systems, and to ensure that the development as constructed is compliant with and 
subsequently maintained pursuant to the requirements of paragraph 165 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
Condition: 
 
Where infiltration is to be used to manage the surface water from the development hereby 
permitted, it will only be allowed within those parts of the site where information is submitted 

Page 120



   
 

 

to demonstrate to the Local Planning Authority’s satisfaction that there is no resultant 
unacceptable risk to controlled waters and/or ground stability. The development shall only 
then be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: 
 
To protect vulnerable groundwater resources and ensure compliance with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 
 
KCC – Public Rights of Way 
24.11.22 
Public Rights of Way NGX30 crosses the application area and affects the development and I 
therefore enclose a copy of the Public Rights of Way network map showing the definitive line 
of the path for your information.     
 
Unfortunately the footpath route has been diverted and as such I have to object to the 
application.  The path will need to be diverted under TCPA if they wish to keep the modified 
route.  We would also need to discuss the surface finish of the route and its long term 
maintenance.  Additionally a diverted route would be sort whilst the works are carried out 
and this will require an application to temporarily divert the route.  This requires 8 weeks for 
the  
application process.   
 
It is important to advise the applicants that a public right of way must not be stopped up, 
diverted, obstructed or the surface disturbed and there must be no encroachment on the 
current width, at any time now or in future. This includes any building materials or waste 
generated during any of the construction phases. Please note that no furniture or fixtures 
may be erected on or across Public Rights of Way without the express consent of the 
Highways Authority. 
 
In response to the above comments, existing and proposed alignments of the PROW were 
submitted on 03.01.23. 
 
05.01.23 
To confirm post our teams meeting that I am happy that you are applying to move the path a 
few metres to the west via the TCPA.  I can also confirm that 2 metres width is satisfactory in 
this instance as the surface will be tarmac. 

 
NHS Kent & Medway 
NHS Kent and Medway has delegated commissioning responsibility for general practice 
services in Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley and reviews planning applications to assess 
the direct impact on general practice.   
 
I refer to the above outline planning application which concerns the proposed residential  
development comprising up to 46 dwellings.  
 
NHS Kent and Medway has assessed the implications of this proposal on delivery of general  
practice services and is of the opinion that it will have a direct impact which will require 
mitigation through the payment of an appropriate financial contribution.   
 
In line with the Planning Act 2008 and the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 
(the CIL Regulations) (Regulation 122) requests for development contributions must comply 
with the three specific legal tests:  
 
1. Necessary  

Page 121



   
 

 

2. Related to the development  
3. Reasonably related in scale and kind  
 
We have applied these tests in relation to this planning application and can confirm the 
following specific requirements. The calculations supporting this requirement are set out 
in Appendix 1. We have only included the net increase in dwellings within the contribution. 
 

 Total 
Chargeable 

units 

Total (See 
Appendix 

1) 

Project 

General  
Practice  

20 £17,280 Towards refurbishment, 
reconfiguration and/or 
extension of Rochester 
Road Surgery and/or 
Pelham Medical Practice 
and/or The Shrubbery 
Surgery and/or 
Swanscombe Health 
Centre and/or towards new 
general practice premises 
development in the area  

 
The obligation should also include the provision for the re-imbursement of any legal costs in 
incurred in completing the agreement.  
 
Justification for infrastructure development contributions request   
 
This proposal will generate approximately 48 new patient registrations when using an 
average occupancy of 2.4 people per dwelling.  The proposed development falls within the 
current practice boundaries of Rochester Road Surgery, Oakfield Health Centre, Pelham 
Medical Practice, The Shrubbery Surgery and Swanscombe Health Centre.  
 
There is currently limited capacity within existing general practice premises to accommodate  
growth in this area. The need from this development, along with other new developments, 
will therefore need to be met through the creation of additional capacity in general practice 
premises. Whilst it is not possible at this time to set out a specific premises project for this 
contribution we can confirm that based on the current practice boundaries we would expect 
the contribution to be utilised as set out above. Any premises plans will include the pooling 
of S106 contributions where appropriate.   
 
In addition to the above we request that any S106 agreement regarding a financial 
contribution recognises the following:  
 

 Supports the proactive development of premises capacity with the trigger of any healthcare 
contribution being available linked to commencement or at an early stage of development.   

 Allows the contribution to be used towards new general practice premises in the area 
serving this population (should GP Estates Strategy identify future requirement) and not just 
limited to the practices detailed above.  

 Allows the contribution to be used towards professional fees associated with feasibility or 
development work for existing or new premises.   
 
General practice premises plans are kept under regular review as part of the strategy for the 
area and priorities are subject to change as NHS Kent and Medway must ensure appropriate 
primary medical care service capacity is available as part of our commissioning 

Page 122



   
 

 

responsibilities. Planning for growth in general practice is complex; physical infrastructure is 
one element but alongside this care models and workforce key considerations. Any plans 
developed need to support delivery of sustainable services for the future.   
 
NHS Kent and Medway is of the view that the above complies with the CIL regulations and is  
necessary in order to mitigate the impacts of the proposal on the provision of general 
practice services. 
 
Please note that for any s106 contributions secured by NHS Kent and Medway, the legal 
agreement should detail NHS England and Improvement (NHSE/I) as the recipient of the 
funding.  
 
Appendix 1  
 
NHS Kent and Medway uses a formula for calculating s106 contributions which has been 
used for some time and is calculated as fair and reasonable. This calculation is based the 
number of proposed units multiplied by the assumed occupancy multiplied by £360.  
 
Where the application identifies unit sizes the following predicted occupancy rates will be 
used.   
 
1 bed unit @ 1.4 persons  
2 bed unit @ 2 persons  
3 bed unit @ 2.8 persons  
4 bed unit @ 3.5 persons  
5 bed unit @ 4.8 persons  
 
Where the unit sizes are not identified then an average occupancy of 2.4 persons will be 
used until the dwelling mix is confirmed.   
 
The calculations for this development are:   
 
The application does not detail unit sizes; the calculation below should be updated once the  
dwelling mix is confirmed at a later date. The above table should be included in a S106  
agreement to calculate the contribution based on actual unit sizes and predicted  
occupancy using the table above.   
 
20 units X 2.4 average occupancy = 48 people  
48 people X £360 = £17,280 
 

Publicity 
 

4.1 This application was advertised as a major development proposal by display of site 
notices and by neighbour notification letters sent to addresses in the vicinity of the site.  

 
As a result of the consultation process 3 responses have been received (as of 11 January 
2023).  

 
Objections (2 responses) 
 

 Block B proximity to rear boundary of properties in St Dunstans Drive 

 Loss of views (non-material) 

 Loss of daylight and sunlight 

 Overlooking 

Page 123



   
 

 

 Loss of Privacy 

 Overbearing over rear garden 

 Noise and dust from construction for months will impact health and well-being 

 
Other Comments 
1 comment neither objecting or supporting querying what will happen to the other flats. 

 

4.2 A number of non-material planning considerations such as the development negatively 
impacting the value of homes were also raised by neighbour representation letters but as 
they are non-material considerations they are not summarised. 

 
4.3 The comments above received are all of those received up until 4pm on Thursday 11th 

January 2023. Any additional 3rd party comments received up to midday on 23rd January 
2023 will be summarised in the supplementary report. Any further comments received will 
be verbally updated to the Planning Committee. 

 
  
5. Planning Analysis and Service Manager (Planning) Comments 

 
Site History and Context 
 
5.1 The site (1.07 hectare in area) consists of an existing residential estate. 
 
5.2 The application site comprises  the four blocks providing 26 units with communal space 

around the blocks, together with the caretakers building. There are number of mature trees 
within the site.  

 
5.3 The design of the estate is a central green area surrounded by either two or three storey 

blocks arranged in courtyard form. The site slopes down towards Valley Drive. 
 

 
5.4 To the north and east of the site on Valley Drive are a mix of post war two storey semi-

detached single residential dwellings of similar design.  To the north east and east is St 
Columba’s Close and St Dunstan’s Close which are two storey semi-detached residential 
dwellings of similar design, most with off road parking. 

 
5.5 Directly south of the site is St Patrick’s Gardens, which is a site similar to the application site 

which has recently been redeveloped following planning permission in 2019 (planning 
application reference 20190503). 

 
5.6 Further South of the site is the shopping parade of Livingstone Road with flats above and 

parking to the side of shops.  The rear of the shops previously was parking and a garage 
block, with further residential and community space, which is now under redevelopment to 
residential units following planning permission in 2019 (planning application reference 
20190155). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



   
 

 

Aerial Photo of Application Site 

 
 

5.7 The Borough has a need for affordable housing and Policy CS16 Local Plan Core Strategy 
(LPCS) seeks to meet this need in the main as a proportion of new private housing 
development sites.  This application will deliver 46 new affordable residential units for 
general needs rent. 

 
5.8 The proposal forms the next phase of the Council’s wider regeneration strategy to redevelop 

existing Council owned substandard accommodation and other brownfield/underused sites to 
deliver new “energy efficient and fit for purpose” affordable homes for social rent for residents 
of the Borough. 

 
 

Housing Need and the Principle of Development 
 
5.9 Policy CS02 (LPCS) sets out the Borough’s objectively assessed need for housing over the 

Plan period (up to the year 2028) and finds that there is a need for at least 6,170 new 
dwellings during the period, with the Objectively Assessed Housing Need figure set via the 
NPPF and PPG being significantly higher. Evidence now available shows that the Council is 
not able to demonstrate a five-year housing supply. This engages the first part of footnote 7 
of the NPPF (2021) and this means for decision-taking that planning permission for 
applications involving the provision of housing should granted in line with the requirements of 
the NPPF (2021) Para 11(d) unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework (the NPPF) that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed.  
 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole. 

 

Page 125



   
 

 

5.10 In the Gravesham context, the policies referred to in paragraph 11(d)(i) above are those set 
out in the NPPF (2021) at footnote 7 (rather than those in development plans) relating to any 
of the following: 

 

 Habitats sites (and those sites listed in NPPF paragraph 180) 

 Sites of Special Scientific Interest;  

 Green Belt,  

 Local Green Space,  

 Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 Irreplaceable habitats;  

 Designated heritage assets (& other heritage assets of archaeological interest, see 
NPPF footnote 67); and  

 Areas at risk of flooding or coastal change. 
 

5.11 In determining applications for planning permission involving housing, the Council will 
therefore apply a weighted balance in favour of granting planning permission in 
accordance with relevant case law and guidance, having regard to the acceptability or 
otherwise of the proposals when evaluated against development plan policy, the need to 
make efficient use of land (paragraph 125(c)) in context, the relative contribution the 
proposal makes towards the alleviation of any shortfall in housing delivery at that time 
and any other considerations material to the proposed development 

 
5.12 The proposed development for a net increase of ‘20’ dwellings would offer a modest 

contribution towards meeting this local need and, accordingly, officers considers that this 
should be accorded moderate weight in support of the application. This has to be balanced 
against other requirements of the NPPF which requires development to be add to the overall 
quality of the area, be visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create 
acceptable amenity for future occupiers. 

 
5.13 However, as part of this balancing exercise it should be noted that paragraphs 130 and 

134 of the NPPF (2021) requires development to add to the overall quality of the area, be 
visually attractive, sympathetic to local character and create acceptable amenity for future 
occupiers.   

 
5.14 Notwithstanding the Council’s shortages in housing delivery and the consequent weight to be 

given in favour of the proposed development it is necessary to assess the proposals against 
the policies in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and established local 
planning policy taken as a whole. 

 
5.15 The application site whilst within the urban area, is partly grassed amenity green space. 

However due to the quality of amenities and actual topography, it is labelled as low quality. 
 
5.16 These types of sites can still be recognised as providing visual amenity to their locality and it 

is important to note that the main role of certain sites is to simply provide natural breaks in 
the urban built form. 

 
5.17 Paragraph 99 of the NPPF (2021) states existing open space, sports and recreational 

buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on unless:  
 

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space, buildings 
or land to be surplus to requirements; or  
 
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by equivalent or 
better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable location; or  

Page 126



   
 

 

 
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of which 
clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.  

 
5.18 The national approach is reflect in Policy CS13 (LPCS) which states the Council will seek to 

make adequate provision for and to protect and enhance the quantity, quality and 
accessibility of green space, playing pitches and other sports facilities, in accordance with an 
adequate, up to date and relevant evidence base. 

 
5.19 It is considered that under this proposal (explored further in paragraph 5.97 - 5.102) whilst 

there is a reduction in the overall amount amenity green space, the enhancements to the 
remaining amenity green space results in bullet point b) of paragraph 99 of the NPPF (2021) 
being met. This requires proposed development to be replaced by equivalent or better 
provision in terms of quantity and quality, with Policy CS13 (LCPS) requiring an 
enhancement to existing open space. 

 
5.20 In conclusion it is considered that the principle of residential development is acceptable 

subject to the residential redevelopment of the site complying with the relevant policies 
relating to design, amenity, parking provision and any other material planning considerations. 

 
5.21 The key issues to be considered are as follows: 
 

• Design, Character and Appearance 
• Sustainability 
• Amenity (Future Occupiers) 
• Amenity (Neighbours) 
• Open Space 
• Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 
• Surface Water Drainage 
• Archaeology 
• Contaminated Land 
• Ecology and Biodiversity 
• Planning Obligations/Affordable Housing 
• Highway 
• Public Rights of Way (PROW) 

 
Design, character and appearance  

 
5.22 When considering the design of this proposal, it needs to be considered against the relevant 

local and national planning policy.  Policy CS15 (LPCS) states that sites will be developed at 
a variety of densities depending on the sites location and accessibility to public transport.  
Furthermore, development needs to be delivered at a density that achieves good design and 
does not compromise the character of the area. 
 

5.23 Policy CS19 (LPCS) states that the design, layout and form of new development will be 
derived from a robust analysis of local context and character and will make a positive 
contribution to the street scene, the quality of the public realm and the character of the area. 
The NPPF (2021) sets out that the creation of high quality buildings and places is 
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve and add to the 
overall quality of the area, not just for the short term but over the lifetime of the development. 

 
5.24 At a national level, the NPPF (2021) Section 12 states development should create high 

quality buildings and places which will function well and add to the overall quality of the area 
for the lifetime of the development. 
 

Page 127



   
 

 

5.25 It is worth noting that the scheme that is before Members has been the subject to extensive 
pre-application discussion dating back to June 2021 (PRE20210086) and the applicant has 
had discussions with Kent Police in regard to ensuring the development meets the 
requirements of secure by design principles. 

 
5.26 Policy CS15 (LPCS) seeks to achieve a minimum density of 40 dwellings per hectare for 

residential development in the urban area, subject to the overriding consideration that the 
scheme is well designed and does not compromise the distinctive character of the area. The 
site measures 1.07 hectares and the density of the development equates to 49.22 dwellings 
per hectare (Excluding the amenity greenspace to the rear of Block A but within the redline 
boundary). This complies with minimum density as out in Policy CS15 (LPCS), and is 
considered in keeping with the density and character of development in the surrounding 
area. 

 
House size and type  
 
5.27 Policy CS14 (LPCS) seeks to ensure that new housing development provides a range of 

dwelling types and sizes. The proposed scheme will deliver 46 (20 additional) dwellings 
consisting of the following: 
 

 15 one bedroom 2 person properties 

 15 two bedroom 3 person properties 

 4 two bedroom 4 person properties 

 10 three bedroom 5 person properties 

 2 four bedroom 6 person properties 
 

5.28 The properties are a mixture of flats, maisonettes and houses. 
 

5.29 The provision of the above units will address locally identified affordable housing need, from 
the Council’s housing waiting list and enable people to either downsize or upsize depending 
on their accommodation need, thus releasing other properties to other households on the 
housing waiting list, allowing such households to move into homes that are the “right size” . 
 

Character, appearance, scale and massing  
 

5.30 The proposed development essentially consists of one block (Block A) fronting onto Valley 
Drive, which has been designed to reflect of the newly constructed Bishops Court to the 
south. 
 

5.31 Block B, Terrace 01 and Maisonette M01 are located to the east of Block A and within the 
wider site. Wider views of these blocks (B, T01 and M01) would be obscured by the 
surrounding development.  
 

5.32 When designing the development the architects have noted that local setting contains a wide 
range of features, materials and details that could inform the design of the proposal. 
 

5.33 The architects have reviewed the design of the area and note that the character of the area 
is predominately suburban with stylistic motifs taken from the ‘Arts & Crafts’ movement.  
 

5.34 With regard to the surrounding St. Patrick’s Gardens estate there is a wide array of entrance 
opening styles throughout the area, however there are following repeating styles within St. 
Patrick’s Gardens development and the wider area which are as follows: 

- Private and communal entrances, often embellished with projected creased tiles or 
brick 

Page 128



   
 

 

- Low eaves levels resulting in cat slide dormers and windows up the soffit. 
- Soldier course detailing above ground floor windows 

 
5.35 When designing the scheme the constraints of the site such the potential overlooking from 

the existing surrounding flats and houses within St Columba’s Close, St Dunstan’s Drive and 
St. Patrick’s Gardens have been taken into account along with the topography of the site.  
 

5.36 As outlined in section 4.3 of the applicants Design & Access Statement, a number of design 
approaches were considered for the development and the chosen approach for Block A is for 
a part 3, part 4 storey building with a hipped roof and two gables on the front and rear 
elevations. In order to match the surrounding buildings a hipped roof is proposed with a mix 
of red, brown and white brick.  This is demonstrated below: 

 
Proposed Street Scene (Valley Drive) 

 
 

5.37 Maisonette M01 and Terrace T01 would be located either side of the new access road, and 
have been designed to reflect the adjacent houses, being kept to two storey with rooms 
within the roofspace of Terrace T01.  The buildings would be staggard in response to the 
change in land levels of the site and the use of brown, buff and white brick would reflect the 
existing materials and more contemporary materials within the wider area. 
 
Proposed Setting (view from St Columba’s Close) 

 
 

5.38 Block B would be three storey to reflect the existing/retained blocks within St Patrick’s 
Gardens, however it would be staggard to again reflect the change in land levels.  The use of 
brown, buff and white brick with metal bronze balconies reflect the surrounding and wider 
area. 
 

5.39 The scheme which has been submitted is a result of discussions between the architect and 
the local planning authority and the layout as proposed is considered to have an acceptable 
relationship with the surrounding built form and the constraints of the site.  

 
5.40 Objectors have raised concern regarding the height and position of Block B in relation to the 

properties in St Dunstan’s Drive. However with a distance of 18.43m at the closest point, 
which then tapers away, from the properties to the east, together with Block B replacing an 
existing three storey building, it is considered this replacement building would not adversely 
harm the wider character of the area which consists of buildings of three storeys in height. 
This is demonstrated below: 
 
Existing Streetscene (St Patrick’s Gardens) 
 

Page 129



   
 

 

 
 

Proposed Streetscene (St Patrick’s Gardens) 

 
 
5.41 The plans show an improvement to the amenity greenspace which is welcome improvement 

over the existing underused amenity green space (see below images). 
 

   
 

5.42 Under this proposal consideration has been given to improving the remaining amenity green 
space. The supporting Design & Access Statement, along with the landscape plans indicate 
a new children’s play area, new communal garden and rain garden located centrally to the 
rear of Maisonette M01, a ‘grow your own’ garden and outdoor gym trail to the south east 
corner where the existing caretaker building is, tother with communal gardens to serve 
Blocks A and B and a significant amount of tree planting is proposed. 

 
5.43 The below image shows the proposed landscape plan: 

Page 130



   
 

 

 
 

 
5.44 Notwithstanding the details submitted with the proposal and to ensure that the amenity 

greenspace is fit for purpose and to ensure the best possible outcomes for existing and 
future occupiers of the area, the details of the proposed amenity greens pace layout will be 
conditioned. This condition will include seeking additional details of all planting, fencing, play 
equipment etc. 

 

5.45 Overall, it is considered that the proposed development would be of good design, utilise the 
size and layout of the site together with the change in land levels.  The proposed 
replacement and additional blocks, together with road layout, parking and both private and 
communal amenities spaces have been designed to reflect the existing streetscape and 
character of the wider area and would not result in an overdevelopment of the site or have a 
detrimental impact on the character, appearance or the quality of the area.  The development 
would therefore accord with Policies CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 of the NPPF (2021). 

 
Sustainability  
 
5.46 Policies CS01 (LPCS) requires the Council to take a positive approach that reflects the 

presumption in favour of Sustainable development contained with the Core Strategy and 
the NPPF (2021).  
 

5.47 Policy CS02 (LPCS) requires development to prioritise the redevelopment and recycling 
of underused, derelict and previously developed land in the urban area. Due to the 
location, size and layout, together with the spatial character of the area, this application 
site meets these definitions.   

Page 131



   
 

 

 
5.48 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out that new development should aim to reduce the overall 

carbon footprint of on development.   
 

5.49 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires (where relevant) that new development will provide carbon 
reduction and provision for low carbon and renewable imagery, minimising energy 
consumption and water use. 
 

5.50 At a national level, the NPPF (2021) states in paragraph 8 that achieving sustainable 
development means improving biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a 
low carbon economy. Paragraph 105 of the NPPF (2021) states the planning system 
should actively manage patterns of growth in support of these objectives. Significant 
development should be focussed on locations which are or can be made sustainable, 
through limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This 
can help to reduce congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health. 
However, opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between 
urban and rural areas, and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and 
decision-making. 
 

5.51 Gravesham Borough Council recognises the importance of sustainability and on 25 June 
2019 at its full Council meeting declared a climate emergency and this includes the target 
to make the borough Carbon Neutral by 2030.  
 

5.52 Accompanying this application to address sustainability is the Planning, Design & Access 
Statement, Transport Statement, Phase 1 Environmental Report and Ecology and 
Biodiversity Net Gain Report. 
 

5.53 The site is an existing residential estate, located within a residential area that has good 
links to both public and private transport.  Valley Drive is a main access road in and out of 
Gravesend and is served by a main bus route, together with local shops situated within 
walking distance.  The main A2 is also within very close proximity providing direct links to 
London and the coast.  The proposal includes both car and cycle parking for residents.  
As such, the proposed development would provide sustainable travel modes in 
accordance with policy. 
 

5.54 The development will meet the sustainable design and construction requirements set out 
in Gravesham Borough Council’s Local Plan Core Strategy, Draft Gravesham Borough 
Council Climate Change Strategy, Building Regulations (Part L, G, M, S, O and F) and 
National Planning Policy Framework.  Further details can be found in the supporting 
Sustainability Statement included as part of the Planning Application. 
 

 High quality, sustainable design of homes that promotes energy efficiency through 
passive measures such as; fabric first approach with low U-values to the external 
fabric (walls, roof, windows, etc). 

 Internal arrangement that maximises dual aspect units for cross ventilation and 
outlook 

 Careful consideration of openings (size, orientation and g-values) to minimise 
overheating whilst maximising daylight and sunlight. 

 Carbon reduction through use of on-site renewable energy; Ground Source Heat 
Pumps and Photovoltaic Panels for flat blocks and houses. 

 Electrical vehicle charging point to meet Building Regulations Approved Document 
S. 

Page 132



   
 

 

 Provision of cycle parking spaces, to promote sustainable means of travel.  
Dedicated external, secure and covered cycle stores are proposed for flats and 
maisonette blocks and individual cycle stores for the houses. 

 
5.55 The proposal seeks to utilise a large previously developed site that has existing 

residential dwellings that require updating, with communal areas that are underused.  The 
proposal would provide a mixed tenure of residential properties of good design that 
reflects the layout and character of the existing residential built form.  The proposal seeks 
to incorporate a significant amount of landscaping and trees that would replace any lost 
through the proposed development and also incorporate both private and shared 
amenities spaces, creating a sense of community.  The proposal also provides the 
opportunity to improve biodiversity by including native landscaping which would create 
natural habitats and provide landscape buffers to the existing residentials areas on St 
Columba’s Close and St Dunstan’s Drive, thus resulting in a biodiversity net gain.  
 

5.56 In summary, the proposed development is considered to be sustainable form of 
development that is designed to minimise the impact on climate and result in a 
biodiversity net gain. As such there is no conflict with Policies CS01, CS02, CS18 and 
CS19 (LPCS) and Section 2 of the NPPF (2021). 

 
Amenity (Future Occupiers) 

 
5.57 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires that all development should be ‘fit for purpose’ and be 

‘adaptable to allow changes to meet the need of users’ and that ‘the design and layout of 
new residential development, including conversion, will accord with the adopted 
Residential Layout Guidelines’.  On 25 March 2015, the Government issued a written 
ministerial statement which introduced new technical housing standards in England. 
 
Block A 
 

5.58 Block A would contain 20 apartments, providing 5no. 1bed 2 person units, 5no. 2 bed 3 
person units, 4no. 2 bed 4 person units, and 6no. 3 bed 5 persons units. 
 

5.59 All of the 1 bedroom 2 person units would range from 50.9m2 to 52.5m2 gross internal 
floor area, which exceeds the 50m2 minimum, with the bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 
minimum and would each have a private 5.5m2 inset terrace/balcony.  These would 
exceed both the national standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout Guidelines. 
 

5.60 The 2 bedroom 3 person units would each have a gross internal floor area of 61.4m2 
which exceeds the 61m2 minimum, with the bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum for 
a double and the 7.5m2 for a single, and would each have a private 8m2 inset 
terrace/balcony.  These would exceed both the national standards and the Gravesham 
Residential Layout Guidelines. 
 

5.61 The 2 bedroom 4 person units would each have a gross internal floor area of 70.3m2 
which exceeds the 70m2 minimum, with both bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum 
for a double, and would each have a private 8.1m2 inset terrace/balcony.  These would 
exceed both the national standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout Guidelines. 

 
5.62 The 3 bedroom 5 person units would have a gross internal floor area between 100.5m2 

and 104.9m2, spread over two floors, which exceeds the 93m2 minimum, with the 
bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum for a double and the 7.5m2 for a single, and 
would each have a private 8m2 inset balcony.  These would exceed both the national 
standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout Guidelines. 
 

Page 133



   
 

 

5.63 Overall, all of the proposed units within Block A exceed both the national and local 
standards and would provide a good level of accommodation to the residents. 

 
Block B 
 
5.64 Block B would provide a total of 14 apartments consisting of 8no. 1bed 2 person units and 

6no. 2 bed 3 person units. 
 
5.65 All of the 1 bedroom 2 person units would have gross internal floor area of 51.3m2, which 

exceeds the 50m2 minimum, with the bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum and 
would each have a private 5.0m2 terrace/balcony.  These would exceed both the national 
standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout Guidelines. 
 

5.66 The 2 bedroom 3 person units would each have a gross internal floor area of 62.2m2 
which exceeds the 61m2 minimum, with the bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum for 
a double and the 7.5m2 for a single, and would each have a private 6m2 terrace/balcony.  
These would exceed both the national standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout 
Guidelines. 

 
5.67 Block B would also have its own communal garden area to the rear. 
 
Maisonette M01 
 
5.68 Maisonette M01 would contain a total of 6 maisonettes, providing 2no. 1 bed 2 person 

and 4no. 2 bed 3 person units. 
 
5.69 The 1 bedroom 2 person units would have a gross internal floor areas of 52.9m2 on the 

ground floor and 60m2 on the first floor, which exceed the 50m2 minimum, with the 
bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum and would each have a private 6m2 inset 
terrace/balcony.  These would exceed both the national standards and the Gravesham 
Residential Layout Guidelines. 

 
5.70 The 2 bedroom 3 person units would have a gross internal floor area of 62.5m2 on the 

ground floor and 70m2 on the first floor which exceed the 61m2 minimum, with the 
bedrooms exceeding the 11.5m2 minimum for a double and the 7.5m2 for a single, and 
would each have a private 6.1m2 inset terrace/balcony.  These would exceed both the 
national standards and the Gravesham Residential Layout Guidelines. 

 
5.71 In terms of floor layouts, Blocks A, B and Maisonette M01 have been laid out similarly in 

order to avoid noise transfer from rooms between the floors. 
 

Terrace T01 
 
5.72 The proposed Terrace T01 consists of 6no. two storey single residential dwellings, with 

accommodation within the roofspace, providing 4no. 3 bed 5 person and 2no. 4 bed 6 
person dwellings. 

 
5.73 The national standard for properties of this size is 99m2 and 112m2 respectively.  The 3 

bed dwellings all have a gross internal floor area of 104.5m2 and the 4 bed dwellings 
have an area of 115.6m2, which would exceed the minimum. 

 
5.74 All of the individual rooms would exceed the national standard and all habitable rooms 

have access to a good level of outlook and natural light. 
 

Page 134



   
 

 

5.75 Each property would have a private garden area ranging from 45.64m2 to 48.04m2 for the 
3 bed dwellings and 60.27m2 and 63.95m2 for the 4 bed dwellings.  Whilst these would 
fall short of the 60m2 and 100m2 size and 10m depth minimum laid out in the Residential 
Layout Guidelines, all residents would have access to the communal play area, gardens, 
grow your own garden and an outdoor gym within the development.  It is considered that 
the shortfall in private garden space would be mitigated by the shared amenities spaces 
that would be provided. 

 
5.76 Taking into consideration all of the above, it is considered that the development as a 

whole would provide a good level of residential accommodation that would be in line with 
the advice laid out in the National Space Standards and the Residential Layout 
Guidelines and would accord with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 of the NPPF 
(2021). 

 
Amenity (Neighbours) 
 
5.77 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including 

privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and 
land and paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) requires development to have a high 
standard of amenity for existing users (In this case surrounding properties). 

 
Block A 

5.78 Block A replaces the existing three storey building that sits along the Valley Drive 
frontage.  Due to the location and the existing layout and orientation of the site, it is 
considered that the additional floor within the middle section of the building, would not 
give rise to any further detrimental impact in terms of outlook, overlooking or 
overshadowing. 
 

Block B 
5.79 Block B would be located to the north east of the site and replaces an existing three 

storey building.  It is acknowledged its location is set further to the north and east than the 
existing building, bringing the built form closer to the properties in St Columba’s Close 
and St Dunstan’s Drive.  There would be a 12.8m gap from the rear elevation of Block B 
and the side elevation of No. 43 St Columba’s Close and an 18.24m gap from the side 
west facing side elevation of Block B and the rear elevation of No. 86 St Dunstan’s Drive.  
This part of the site sits at a lower ground level than the properties on St Dunstan’s Drive 
and the proposed building would be similar in height to the building to which it replaces. 

 
5.80 Block B has been designed to face onto St Patrick’s Gardens with all of the private 

terraces and balconies being located on the south elevation to the front into the site, with 
the main entrance located on the south facing elevation. 

 
5.81 On the north facing elevation there would be the external covered access, recessed 

kitchen windows which would not directly overlook any habitable room windows of No. 43 
St Columba’s Close.  The small window to serve bedroom 3 of the units furthest east, 
would be set more than 20m from the site boundary. 

 
5.82 On the west facing elevation there would be secondary living room and small kitchen 

windows which would be set more than 19m from the rear elevations of the nearest 
properties of St Dunstan’s Drive. 

 
5.83 In addition to the distances between the proposed Block B and the surrounding 

properties, the landscaping scheme proposes the use of buffer planting along the north 
and west site boundaries, in response to resident consultation. 

 

Page 135



   
 

 

5.84 As such, it is considered that the proposed Block B has little impact in terms of 
overlooking and overshadowing over neighbouring properties and gardens, and as such 
there would be no detrimental loss of privacy or natural light from any habitable room 
windows.  

 
Maisonette M01 
5.85 Maisonette M01 would be centrally located and would sit to the south of the new access 

road. 
 

5.86 The orientation of these properties are such that the frontage faces to the north onto the 
access road with the private inset terraces located to the rear which would face onto the 
communal play area and gardens. 

 
5.87 There would be a gap of 16.23m between the front elevations of the Maisonette M01 and 

the Terrace T01, with the roadway and landscaping between.  There would be gap of 
25.45m from the rear elevations of Maisonette M01 and the existing residential block to 
the south, together with the communal garden and play area between.  As such it is 
considered there is sufficient distance between habitable room windows and amenity 
areas to not result in a detrimental impact on the surrounding properties. 
 

5.88 Furthermore, Maisonette M01 is only a two storey building and as such is lower than the 
existing and proposed buildings. 

 
5.89 With regard to overshadowing, the orientation of the site is such that the proposed 

building would cast shadow over the access road only.  
 

5.90 Overall, it is considered that the proposed Maisonette M01 has little impact in terms of 
overlooking and overshadowing over neighbouring properties and gardens, and as such 
there would be no detrimental loss of privacy or natural light from any habitable room 
windows.  

 
Terrace T01 
5.91 Terrace T01 replaces the existing two buildings No. 28-42 (even nos. only) St Columba’s 

Close which already benefits from first floor windows to the front and rear. 
 
5.92 In terms of siting height, orientation and scale and massing, it would not be 

disproportionate to the existing. 
 
5.93 There would be only secondary first floor rear habitable room windows located to the far 

ends of the block for the 2no. 4 bedroom dwellings.  There would be a distance of 10.16m 
from the rear bedroom window of the east end property to the side elevation of No. 26 St 
Columba’s Close, and a distance 8.78m from the  rear bedroom window of the west end 
property to the rear boundary which would be to the far end of the rear garden of No. 26 
St Columba’s Close.   The central 4no. 3 bedroom units would only have first floor 
bathroom windows in the rear elevation. 

 
5.94 In addition to the distances between the proposed Terrace T01 and the surrounding 

properties, the landscaping scheme proposes the use of buffer planting along the north 
site boundary, in response to resident consultation 

 
5.95 As such, taking to consideration the existing dwellings, together with the window 

positioning and distances to the site boundary, together with the proposed landscaping 
buffering, it is considered that the proposed Terrace T01 would not result in a detrimental 
impact on the privacy of the residents of No. 26 St Columba’s Close. 

 

Page 136



   
 

 

5.96 Overall and taking all of the above into consideration, the proposed development has 
been designed in such a way to address any issues of overlooking or overshadowing and 
subject to a condition securing a landscaping scheme and management plan, the 
development would accord with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Section 12 of the NPPF (2021). 

 
Open Space 
 
5.97 As many of the dwellings proposed could be occupied by families’ weight is attached to the 

need to provide open space to meet the needs of future residents as required through Policy 
CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). At a national level The NPPF (2021) 
recognises that access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation 
can make an important contribution to the health and well-being of communities. 

 
5.98 The nature of the site, being in a suburban location and the site layout being somewhat 

dictated by the shape of the site has required the architect to carefully consider how to 
provide amenity space for future occupiers to enhance their living conditions. 

 
5.99 Within this proposal a variety of different spaces are being provided.  
 
5.100 The single-family dwellings have their own private gardens, and the flats and maisonettes 

have a mixture of private amenity space in the form of terraces/balconies and communal 
gardens, play areas, ‘grow your own’ gardens and outdoor gym space.   
  

5.101 The proposed landscaping scheme clearly defines both the private and shared amenity 
areas, providing a range of shared amenities such as ‘grow your own’, children’s play area, 
rain garden, outdoor gym equipment, as well as a large amount of soft landscaping for 
residents to enjoy.  The hard and soft landscaping proposed creates a connection with the 
proposed development and surrounding area which provides a sense of community and 
cohesion within the site and its connectivity to the surrounding development and the public 
right of way that is located to the north of the site from St Dunstan’s Drive to the east to 
Valley Drive to the west. 
 

5.102 Conditions stating that all soft and hard landscaping is implemented as shown, prior to any 
occupation of the new units will be imposed. 

 
5.103 It is concluded that the overall development will provide acceptable open space for existing 

and future occupiers, improving the existing site which is currently underused.  As such, 
there is no conflict with Policy CS13 (LPCS) and Saved Policy LT6 (LPTR). 

 
Refuse Storage and Collection Arrangements 

 
5.104 Policy CS19 (LPCS) requires new development to incorporate facilities for the storage 

and recycling of wasted generated further clarification is provided in Planning Guidance 
on Waste Collection Requirements (2019).  In order to ensure this proposal complies with 
Policy CS19 (LPCS) Gravesham Waste and Recycling department have been consulted. 
 

5.105 The supporting transport statement confirms that communal refuse stores will be provided 
to serve the flats, communal bin stores to the front of the maisonettes and for each of the 
single-family dwellings the plans indicate bin storage area in the rear gardens. For the 
single-family dwellings there will need to be sufficient bin storage for waste, recycling and 
garden waste along with food waste. On collection days the owners would bring the bin 
stores to the front of the dwellings for collection by Gravesham refuse team. 
 

5.106 In order to ensure each of the dwellings have acceptable bin store locations these will be 
conditioned (prior to first occupation). 

Page 137



   
 

 

 
5.107 Turning to the flats, the communal refuse store for the development is located at the 

ground floor at the front and has access directly from the front. Gravesham Waste 
Management has been consulted and states the bin stores appear to be in suitable 
locations with easy access for the collection vehicle, together with an adequate number of 
bins. 

 
5.108 In order to ensure the bin stores are secured this would be achieved through ensuring all 

bin stores are fitted with a lock which is accessed via key or key code. To ensure this is 
delivered, details of securing refuse stores will be conditioned.  

 
5.109 The additional improvements to the refuse storage area for the existing residents in the 

south east corner are welcomed and these details will be conditioned.  
 

5.110 In summary with regard to refuse arrangements the development complies with Policy 
CS19 (LPCS). 

 
Surface Water Drainage 
 
5.111 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage and 

surface water run-off.  Kent County Council (KCC) is the Lead Local Flood Authority. The 
application site lies within Ground Source Protection Zone 2 and is not within a flood 
zone. The Environment Agency advice for development in the nature of these sites is that 
no infiltration of surface water drainage shall not be permitted without the LPA consent. 
This will be controlled through a planning condition. 
 

5.112 Policy CS18 (LPCS) sets out the requirements for dealing with sustainable drainage and 
surface water run-off. KCC is the Lead Local Flood Authority and have been consulted 
they have provided conditions on sustainable surface water drainage, verification report 
and management. 
 

5.113 In summary subject to suitable conditions there is no conflict with Policy CS18 (LPCS). 
 

Archaeology 
 

5.114 Policy CS20 (LPCS) gives a high priority towards the preservation, protection and 
enhancement of its heritage and historic environment as a non-renewable resource, central to 
the regeneration of the area and the reinforcement of sense of place. Particular attention in 
this regard will be focused on those heritage assets most at risk.  When considering the 
impact of a proposed development on a designated heritage asset, the weight that will be 
given to the asset’s conservation value will be commensurate with the importance and 
significance of the asset. For non-designated assets, decisions will have regard to the scale of 
any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 

 
5.115 Saved Policy TC7 (LPFR) 1994 indicates that planning permission may be refused without 

adequate assessment of the archaeological implications in areas of archaeological potential. 
 
5.116 At a national level paragraph 189 of the NPPF (2021) advises that where a site on which 

development is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with 
archaeological interest (evidence of past human activity), local planning authorities should 
require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a 
field evaluation. 

 

Page 138



   
 

 

5.117 The site has general background archaeological potential, however this area was developed 
before modern planning-led archaeology and as such, there is no clear understanding of the 
precise potential of the site.   

 
 
5.118 Considering the archaeological potential of the site and possible past impacts on archaeology, 

the inclusion of a planning condition relating to field evaluation for archaeology is 
recommended. 

 
5.119 Subject to the inclusion of the relevant archaeological condition, it is considered the proposal 

complies with Policy CS20 (LPCS), Saved Policy TC7 (LPFR) and Paragraph 189 of the 
NPPF (2021).  

 
Contaminated Land 

 
5.120 Policy CS19 (LPCS) indicates that new development will be located, designed and 

constructed to avoid adverse environmental impacts from pollution, including noise, air, odour 
and light pollution, and land contamination. 
 

5.121 Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021) indicates that planning decisions should contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment by, amongst other things: 
e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable 
risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise 
pollution or land instability; and 
f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and unstable land, 
where appropriate. 
 

5.122 The application is accompanied by a Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment and Phase 2 Geo-
Environmental and Geotechnical Site Investigation Report. The report concludes that there is 
relatively low level of contamination encountered within the shallow soils and therefore it is 
unlikely that any significant risk to ground water is present. 
 

5.123 In order to account for any potential contamination issues a watching brief condition will be 
included. 
 

5.124  No objection to the proposal subject to the above suggested condition and the proposal 
complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and Paragraph 174 of the NPPF (2021). 

 
Ecology and Biodiversity 

 
5.125 Paragraph 174 and 177 of the NPPF (2021) requires planning decisions to ensure that the 

natural and local environment is enhanced by minimising impacts on and providing net gains 
for biodiversity and this is reflected in Section 40 of the Natural England Commission Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act (2006) and the Environmental Act (2021). 
 

5.126 Policy CS12 (LPCS) indicates that sites designated for their biodiversity value will be 
protected, with the highest level of protection given to internationally designated Special 
Protection Areas, Special Areas of Conservation and Ramsar sites, and that there will be no 
net loss of biodiversity in the Borough. 

 
Appropriate Assessment  
 
5.127 The Habitats Directive protects certain species of plants and animals that are particularly 

vulnerable and requires a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) to be undertaken by a 
competent public body, such as a local planning authority where any development has the 

Page 139



   
 

 

potential to have an impact on a protected site.  The process of HRA involves an initial 
‘Screening’ stage followed by an Appropriate Assessment (AA) if proposals are likely to have 
a significant (adverse) impact on a protected site - in this case the Thames Estuary and 
Marshes Special Protection Area of SPA (termed Natura 2000 site). 
 

5.128 In the light of any such assessment, the Borough Council may only grant planning 
permission if it has been ascertained that the proposed development will not, either on its 
own or in-combination with other plans and projects, have an Adverse Effect on the 
Integrity (AEOI) of such a site, unless there is no feasible alternative or imperative 
reasons of overriding public interest apply. 

 
Recreational Pressures on the Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) and 
SAMMS 

 
5.129 The Thames Estuary and Marshes Special Protection Area (SPA) is classified in 

accordance with the European Birds Directive which requires Member States to classify 
sites that are important for bird species listed on Annex 1 of the European Directive, 
which are rare and/or vulnerable in a European context, and also sites that form a 
critically important network for birds on migration.  It is also listed as a Wetland of 
International Importance under the Ramsar Convention (Ramsar Site).  Studies have 
shown marked declines in key bird species, particularly in areas that are busiest with 
recreational activity.  Research conducted in 2011 found that additional dwellings were 
likely to result in additional recreational activity, causing disturbance to protected bird 
species that over-winter or breed on the SPA and Ramsar Site.  The studies found that 
75% of recreational visitors to the North Kent coast originate from within 6 km of the SPA 
boundary and Ramsar Site.  The impacts of recreational disturbance can be such that 
they affect the status and distribution of key bird species and therefore act against the 
stated conservation objectives of the European Sites.   
 

5.130 The Local Planning Authority has mitigated out the impacts of this on each and every 
planning application for a new residential development of one or more units within the 
6km zone since September 2015 by accepting a Strategic Access Mitigation and 
Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) (tariff) payment (currently £275.88 per additional dwelling).  
This approach is approved by Natural England for all new residential developments.  For 
every planning application for a new dwelling (including new flats), the tariff contributions 
are secured through a Section 106 legal agreement or unilateral undertaking or if there 
are no other financial contributions this is secured through a contribution agreement.  
Where a developer is unwilling to make the SAMMS payment, sufficient evidence is 
required to be supplied to enable the Council to undertake an Appropriate Assessment to 
determine that it is unnecessary to mitigate any potential Likely Significant Effect. 

 
5.131 The tariff has previously been accepted effectively in lieu of an Appropriate Assessment 

(AA). However, in a recent Court of Justice European Union (CJEU) ruling this approach 
was not considered to be valid, as the CJEU considered the first stage to be a screening 
assessment as to whether the development either alone or in combination, is likely to 
have significant effects on a designated site without mitigation.  In this respect, the CJEU 
judgement made a distinction between “the plan or project” itself and “measures intended 
to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project on a European site”. This 
means that mitigation measures, which are intended to avoid or reduce effects, should be 
assessed within the framework of an Appropriate Assessment and that mitigation 
measures cannot be taken into account at the screening stage. 
 

5.132 The applicants accept in their submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal that a Strategic 
Access Management and Monitoring Strategy (SAMMS) mitigation contribution would be 
required to offset any potential recreational impacts, and that with the adoption of this 

Page 140



   
 

 

payment then the scheme will prevent any likely significant impact occurring, but that further 
adverse impacts from the proposed development on designated sites are not anticipated.  
The Local Planning Authority is therefore satisfied that the proposals would put in place 
adequate measures to mitigate potential significant adverse impacts on the Thames Estuary 
and Marshes SPA/Ramsar sites and to protect their integrity in accordance with their 
conservation objectives.  On this basis, the proposal is considered to comply with 
Paragraphs 180 and 181 of the NPPF and policy CS12 (LPCS), and the requirements of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.  Potential impacts on the European 
Sites do not therefore impose an impediment on the grant of planning permission in this 
instance. 

 
Biodiversity Net Gains  
 
5.133 The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which concluded that 

there are no know overriding ecological constraints that would prevent the proposed works 
going ahead, subject to the recommendations made in the report being implemented. 
 

5.134 KCC Biodiversity have been consulted concluded that sufficient information was provided 
and raised no objections subject to suggested conditions and informatives relating to the use 
of native species planting, together with bird and bat boxes to mitigate for biodiversity losses 
on-site. 
 

5.135 In regard to biodiversity and ecology there is no conflict with local and national planning 
policy subject to the relevant planning conditions and the SAMMS payment being secured. 
 

Planning Obligations and Affordable Housing 
 
Procedural issue 
 
5.136 Planning obligations under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended), commonly known as s106 agreements, are a mechanism that we as a Council, 
often use to secure financial contributions or other forms of mitigation such as affordable 
housing from developers, make a development proposal acceptable in planning terms.  As 
the Council is the applicant in this case, the use of s106 Agreement to secure financial 
contributions from ourselves towards Strategic Access and Mitigation Measures Strategy 
(SAMMS), Kent County Council contributions, Dartford and Swanley Commissioning Group 
and to secure affordable housing is not an appropriate way forward and alternative legal 
mechanisms need to be used. 
 

5.137 Officers consider that the same outcomes can be achieved via alternative appropriate 
mechanisms, as follows: 
1. Gravesham Council would enter into a unilateral undertaking (under s106) with KCC 

agreeing to pay the financial contributions (There request is outstanding) and Dartford 
and Swanley Commissioning Group for their financial request. 

2. GBC would sign a SAMMS Contribution Agreement letter agreeing to the above financial 
contributions towards the cost of measures to mitigate the impact of the development on 
the over-wintering bird interest on the North Kent Marshes. 

3. It is proposed to include a recital to ensure that the proposed housing remained affordable 
for both first and subsequent occupants.  Given the need to move away from a s106 
Agreement, it is considered that this can now be secured via a planning condition.   

 
5.138 In order for the Local Planning Authority to request financial contributions on behalf of third 

parties any contributions will need to meet all of the tests listed below: 
 

(A)    necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

Page 141



   
 

 

 
(B)    directly related to the development; and 
 
(C)    fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
Developer Contributions  

 
5.139 It is important to ensure that sufficient infrastructure is provided to meet the needs of new 

residents, employees and businesses in the Borough.  As recognised in the NPPF (2021), 
the provision of new infrastructure is an important part of new development and the Council 
has worked with local service providers to identify their infrastructure needs over the plan 
period.  Policy CS10 (LPCS) states that where new development generates a need for new 
infrastructure, developers will have to provide or contribute towards such provision, subject 
to viability consideration. 

 
5.140 KCC have requested the following contributions  

 

Contribution Amount Per Unit Total Amount 

Primary Education £4,642.00 per house £1,160.50 per flat £38,386.50 * 

Secondary School £4,540 per house £1,135.00 per flat £37,863* 

Community Learning £16.42  £344.82* 

Youth Service £65.50  £1,375.50* 

Library Service  £55.45  £1,164.45* 

Social Care £146.88  £3,084.48* 

KCC Waste £129.20  £2,713.20* 

Total amount  
 

 £84,931.95* 

Total amount payable  £84,931.95* 

Trigger Point  Prior to Commencement  
 

*Final figures to be agreed. 
 

5.141 KCC’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent is clear that the proposal gives 
rise to additional primary school pupils during occupation and have requested the 
contribution go towards expansion of school locally within the KCC North Kent Education 
Area. 
 

5.142 The proposal is also projected to give rise to additional secondary school pupils from the 
date of occupation and KCC’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision in Kent have 
requested a contribution towards Thamesview expansion. 

 
5.143 In regard to Libraries, Adulation Education, Youth and Social Services KCC have confirmed 

acceptable site specific schemes and no further clarification is required. 
 

5.144 With regard the Waste request Policy CS06 (LPCS) states ‘facilities will be provided to 
support development of the Springhead Quarter and Northfleet Rise Quarter Key Sites and 
will be accessible to both existing and future communities. These will include the provision of 
educational, health, social care, sports and community facilities, open space to meet a 
variety of needs and recycling and waste transfer facilities. These will be provided in 
accordance with the phasing schedule set out in the Infrastructure Delivery Schedule. 
 

5.145 KCC is the statutory Waste Disposal Authority for Kent and have stated that the existing 
household waste recycling centres (HWRC) and waste transfer stations (WTS) are running 

Page 142



   
 

 

at capacity and additional housing will create significant burden on the manageability of 
waste in Kent, and have identified a contribution towards Ebbsfleet Waste Transfer Station. 

 
Gravesham Leisure Services  

 
5.146 Policy CS13 (LPCS) and the NPPF (2021) recognises that access to high quality open 

spaces and opportunities for sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the 
health and well-being of communities. As also outlined by Sport England, consideration 
should be given to how any new development, especially for new housing, will provide 
opportunities for people to lead healthy lifestyles and create healthy communities.   
 

5.147 Taking into consideration the additional units and development’s location within the borough 
and real time need/deficiencies on the ground, the development needs to make a financial 
contribution of £58,301 towards general play and multi-use games area enhancements 
within 1 mile of the development.  This figure has been accepted by the applicant and 
complies with local and national planning policy. 

 
NHS Requests 

 
5.148 NHS Kent and Medway Strategic Planning and Primary Care Estates have requested 

£17,280 towards refurbishment, reconfiguration and/or extension of local medical facilities 
and is deemed to be acceptable and meets the relevant tests. The applicant has agreed to 
this request. 

 
Total Requests 

 
5.149 The applicant has agreed to all of the above requests and the heads of terms for financial 

contributions are as follows: 
 

Obligation Sum 

Kent County Council £84,931.95 

Gravesham Leisure Services £58,301 

Bird Wise North Kent 
SAMMS 

£5,517.60 

NHS Kent and Medway £17,280 

Total Figure:  £166,030.55* 

  

*Final figures to be agreed. 
 

Affordable Housing 
 

5.150 The Borough Council’s position on affordable housing, as set out in Policy CS16 (LPCS) is 
that affordable housing will be required at a provision of 30% on sites in the urban area 
proposing 15 or more dwellings or on sites of 0.5 hectares or more.  Policy CS16 (LPCS) 
seeks a broad mix of 70% rented and 30% shared ownership (negotiable), although the 
tenure mix should meet local needs and achieve a viable, sustainable and socially inclusive 
development. 
 

5.151 Under this proposal the applicant would need to provide 15 affordable dwellings based on 
the split as set out in LPCS Policy CS16. However, the applicant has applied for a 100% 
affordable scheme and to achieve this the following condition will be included: 

 
The residential units hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a scheme for the provision 

Page 143



   
 

 

of affordable housing has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The affordable housing shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
scheme and the provision shall meet the definition of affordable housing set out in Annex 2 
of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021 or any future guidance that replaces it.  The 
scheme shall include:  
 
(i) the numbers, type and tenure of the affordable housing provision to be made,  
(ii) the occupancy criteria to be used for determining the identity of occupiers of the 

affordable housing and the means by which such occupancy criteria shall be enforced.  
 
Reason  In the interests of securing affordable housing in accordance with policy CS16 
(Affordable Housing) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
5.152 With the scheme being 100% affordable housing this will help local people on the housing 

list awaiting a social housing to meet their needs. For example as of 16th January 2023 there 
are 296 people requiring 1 bed; 329 for a 2 bed; 201 requiring 3 bed and 124 households 
requiring 4 bedroom or more properties. This proposed development will provide 46 
properties for social housing which will help reduce the waiting list. In addition a further 
benefit is that the smaller properties may help people who wish to downsize, thus freeing up 
larger properties for other people on the housing register. 

 
Highways 
 
5.153 The proposed development needs to be considered against Policy CS11 (LPCS) which 

states that new development should mitigate their impact on the public highway and that 
transport assessments should be provided and implemented to ensure delivery of travel 
choice and sustainable opportunities for travel. Furthermore, it states that sufficient car 
parking in new developments will be provided in accordance with adopted standards which 
will reflect the availability of alternative means of transport accessibility to services and 
facilities. This is also reflected by Saved Policy T1 (LPFR) which requires proposed 
development to be adequately served by the highway network and Saved Policy P3 (LPFR) 
which sets out highways parking standards for development. 
 

5.154 At a national level the NPPF (2021) states at paragraph 105, significant development should 
be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to 
travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. The NPPF (2021) goes on to state 
development should only be prevented or refused on transport grounds where the 
cumulative impact of development is severe. 

 
Proposed Highway Layout & Arrangements 
 
5.155 Vehicular access for the development would be provided by a new access road and would 

form a new priority controlled junction on Valley Drive.  Any changes to the adopted highway 
would need to be subject to Section 278 / Section 38 Agreements to be approved by KCC 
Highways. 
 

5.156 Pedestrian access would also be included with the new access, in addition to the use of 
existing and additional pedestrian accesses through and around the site.  The existing 
footpaths would be improved and resurfaced and lighting as part of the development. 

 
5.157 Visibility splays of 2.4 x 43m at the junction of the access road and Valley Drive would be 

provided which was accepted by both KCC Highways and GBC Highways Officer, and 
therefore would provide adequate visibility of the footpath and highway when using the 
access, subject to being conditioned. 

 

Page 144



   
 

 

Traffic Generation 
 
5.158 With a net increase of 20 residential properties, there would be an increase in vehicle 

movements to the site and from the site.  However given the site location, with direct access 
onto Valley Drive, it is not considered that the development is likely to create any significant 
issues on the local highway network. 

 
Parking Provision 
 
5.159 The proposed development seeks to provide 26no. new parking spaces, with each of the 

houses on Terrace 01 provided with an individual on plot car parking space. 
 

5.160 The existing parking provision within the redline boundary would be retained. 
 

5.161 Electrical vehicle charging spaces will be provide for each of the on plot car parking spaces 
for the house and 20% of the remaining 20 spaces would have active electric charging 
infrastructure at the outset and 80% would have passive provision to enable conversion to 
active provision at a later date. 
 

5.162 The supporting information has indicated that the parking bays would measure 2.5m by 5m 
which would accord with KCC Highways standards. 
 

5.163 Electric Vehicle charging would be provided as part of the proposal and this would be 
secured via condition prior to occupation. 
 

5.164 Three secure communal cycle stores are also proposed to serve the flat blocks and 
maisonettes with two being located to the rear of Block A and one to the rear of Block B.  
Two cycle spaces would also be provided for each house in the front garden.  Charging 
infrastructure for electrical cycles would also be provided for 5% of the total number of cycle 
spaces. 
 

5.165 The development does not provide any dedicated visitor parking. However with the parking 
for the flats and maisonettes being unallocated giving a level of flexibility, together with the 
sustainable location of the site to public transport, this is not deemed to be unacceptable. 
 

5.166 In terms of layout and provision, the proposed parking and cycle plan would provide 
adequate on-site parking to serve the proposed units and the layout is such that it would not 
be parking dominant. 

 
Impact on surrounding properties 
 
5.167 The proposal would result in an increase in traffic movements to and from the site, however 

due to the location of the site having direct access onto Valley Drive and the A2, The KCC 
Highways Officer has confirmed the proposal would have no adverse impact on highway 
safety. 
 

5.168 There is no on-street parking facility to the front of the site and all parking provision is within 
the site.  The majority of the immediately surrounding properties on Valley Drive, St 
Columba’s Close and St Dunstan’s Drive benefit from private access, driveways and off-road 
parking, with Bishop’s Court have their own parking provision, and as such there would be 
no impact on neighbouring properties in terms of parking provision. 
 

5.169 National Highways raised no objection to the proposed development subject to a condition of 
a Construction Management Plan. 
 

Page 145



   
 

 

5.170 Taking all of the above into account, the parking provision for the site and the impact on the 
strategic and local highway network during the schemes’ full occupation, will not have an 
adverse highways impact which has been confirmed in the supporting transport statement 
and in the formal comments from Kent Highways and Transportation Services, National 
Highways and Gravesham Highway Development Management Officer.  
 

5.171 There is no conflict with local or national planning policy.  
 
Public Right of Way (PROW) 
 
5.172 Policy CS11 (LPCS) states that multifunctional linked network of green spaces, footpaths, 

cycle route and wildlife stepping stones and corridors will be created, protected, enhanced 
and maintained. 
 

5.173 To the north of the site is an existing public footpath NGX-30 which connects Valley Drive, St 
Columba’s Close and St Dunstan’s Drive, and sits within the site boundary. 
 

5.174 As part of the proposal, a small central section of the PROW would be rerouted to run 
parallel to the new terrace houses and would be moved a few metres to the west of the 
existing path and would measure between 2.3 and 2.5m wide.  This shown in the below 
diagram. 

 
Proposed PROW Overlay 

 
 

5.175 It is also proposed to make improvements to the retained PROW. 
 

5.176 KCC PROW were consulted on the proposals and subject to a separate application to divert 
the path being submitted to KCC through the Town and Country Planning Act, there are no 
objections to the proposal. 
 

 
6. Conclusion  
 
6.1 The proposal is a sustainable form of development that accords with national and local policy 

planning policy and will provide a 100% affordable scheme for social rent within the urban 
area of Gravesend. 
 

6.2 All representations received from both 3rd parties and statutory consultees have been taken 
into account when considering this proposal and no amendments to the proposal are 
required. 

 
6.3 Subject to the conditions set out below, it should be delegated to the Planning Manager 

(Development Management) for permission subject to the unilateral agreement being signed.   
 

 

 

Page 146



   
 

 

Recommendation 
 
Delegated to the Service Manager (Planning) to grant PERMISSION subject to planning conditions 
and the unilateral agreement being signed. 
 
Suggested Conditions 
 
Time Limit 
 

1.  The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration 
of three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted. 

 
Reason In pursuance of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by 

Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 
Approved Plans 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 
following schedule of approved plans: 

 
Drawings/Plans 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-05-DR-A-0171 Rev P04 – Proposed roof Plan PROW Overlay; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-00-DR-A-0201 Rev C02 – Site Location Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-00-DR-A-0202 Rev C01 – Existing Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-00-DR-A-0203 Rev C01 – Demolition Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-00-DR-A-0205 Rev C02 – Proposed Block Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-00-DR-A-0210 Rev C02 – Proposed Ground Floor Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-01-DR-A-0211 Rev C02 – Proposed First Floor Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-02-DR-A-0212 Rev C02 – Proposed Second Floor Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-03-DR-A-0213 Rev C02 – Proposed Third Floor Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-04-DR-A-0214 Rev C02 – Proposed Fourth Floor Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-05-DR-A-0215 Rev C02 – Proposed Roof Site Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-19-00-DR-A-1010 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 - Proposed Ground Floor 
Plan; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐19‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐1011 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 – Proposed Floor Plans 
– Sheet 1; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐19‐03‐DR‐A‐1012 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 – Proposed Roof Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-20-00-DR-A-1020 Rev C01 – Maisonette M01 – Proposed Ground 
Floor Plan; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐20‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐1021 Rev C01 – Maisonette M01 – Proposed Floor 
Plans – Sheet 1; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐00‐DR‐A‐1030 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed Ground Floor 
Plan; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐01‐DR‐A‐1031 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed First Floor Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐02‐DR‐A‐1032 Rev C01 – Block A - Proposed Second Floor 
Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐03‐DR‐A‐1033 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed Third Floor Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐04‐DR‐A‐1034 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed Fourth Floor 
Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-21-05-DR-A-1035 Rev C01 – Block A - Proposed Roof Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-22-00-DR-A-1040 Rev C01 – Block B - Proposed Ground Floor 
Plan; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐22‐01‐DR‐A‐1041 Rev C01 – Block B – Proposed First Floor Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐22‐02‐DR‐A‐1042 Rev C01 – Block B – Proposed Second Floor 

Page 147



   
 

 

Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-22-03-DR-A-1043 Rev C01 – Block B - Proposed Roof Plan; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-23-ZZ-DR-A-1051 Rev C01 – Cycle Store 01 & 02 - Proposed 
Plans (Block A); 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-24-ZZ-DR-A-1061 Rev C01 – Cycle Store 03 - Proposed Plans 
(Block B); 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐19‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2011 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 – Proposes Elevations – 
Sheet 1; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐19‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2012 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 – Proposed Elevations – 
Sheet 2; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐20‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2021 Rev C01 – Maisonette M01 – Proposed 
Elevations – Sheet 1; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-20-ZZ-DR-A-2022 Rev C01 – Maisonette M01 - Proposed 
Elevations – Sheet 2; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-21-ZZ-DR-A-2031 Rev C01 – Block A - Proposed Elevations – 
Sheet 1; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2032 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed Elevations – 
Sheet 2; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-22-ZZ-DR-A-2041 Rev C01 – Block B - Proposed Elevations – 
Sheet 1; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐22‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2042 Rev C01 – Block B – Proposed Elevations – 
Sheet 2; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐23‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2051 Rev C01 – Cycle Store 01 & 02 – Proposed 
Elevations (Block A); 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-24-ZZ-DR-A-2061 Rev C01 – Cycle Store 03 - Proposed Elevations 
(Block B); 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-ZZ-DR-A-2071 Rev C01 – Existing and Proposed Street 
Elevations – Sheet 1; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐04‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2072 Rev C01 – Existing and Proposed Street 
Elevations – Sheet 2; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW-04-ZZ‐DR‐A‐2073 Rev C01 – Existing & Proposed Street 
Elevations – Sheet 3; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-ZZ-DR-A-2074 Rev C01 – Existing and Proposed Street 
Elevations – Sheet 4; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐19‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2211 Rev C01 – Terrace T01 – Proposed Section; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-20-ZZ-DR-A-2221 Rev C01 – Maisonette M01 - Proposed Section; 

Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐21‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2231 Rev C01 – Block A – Proposed Section; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW‐22‐ZZ‐DR‐A‐2241 Rev C01 – Block B – Proposed Section 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-ZZ-DR-A-2251 Rev C01 – Existing & Proposed Site Sections – 
Section AA; 
Drawing No. SCC-BPTW-04-ZZ-DR-A-2252 Rev C01 – Existing & Proposed Site Sections – 
Section BB; 
Drawing No. SCC‐BPTW-04-ZZ‐DR‐A‐2253 Rev C01 – Existing & Proposed Site Sections – 
Section CC; 
Drawing No. 65203358-SWE-ZZ-XX-TP-SK-0001 Rev P06 – Public Right of Way Plan – 
Existing and Proposed; 
Drawing No. 65203358-SWE-XX-XX-D-TP-0001 Rev P06 – Gravesham Borough Council 
Refuse Vehicle Swept Path Analysis; 
Drawing No. 65203358-SWE-XX-XX-DR-TP-0004 Rev P01 – Parking Visibility Splays & 
Speed Control Measures; 
Drawing No. 16204/E/01-06 – Elevation Survey; 
Drawing No. 16204/E/02-06 – Elevation Survey; 
Drawing No. 16204/E/03-06 – Elevation Survey; 
Drawing No. 16204/E/04-06 – Elevation Survey; 
Drawing No. 16204/E/05-06 – Elevation Survey; and 

Page 148



   
 

 

Drawing No. 16204/E/06-06 – Elevation Survey. 
 
Documents 
Planning Application Form; 
Covering Letter; 
Drawing Issue Sheet – Planning Issue: SCC-BPTW-XX-XX-SH-A-0100; 
Planning Statement – October 2022; 
Design & Access Statement – October 2022; 
Landscape Design and Access Statement – October 2022; 
Accommodation Schedule (SCC-BPTW-XX-XX-SA-A-0101 Rev C01) – October 2022; 
Planning Obligations Statement – October 2022; 
Sustainability & Energy Statement – October 2022_Rev01; 
Transport Statement – October 2022; 
Affordable Housing Statement – October 2022; 
Below Ground Drainage Strategy – October 2022; 
Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment and Phase 2 Geo-Environmental and Geotechnical 
Site Investigation Report December 2022; 
Contaminated Land Report (Windowless Borehole Log) – June 2022; 
Environmental Noise Survey, Nosie Break-In Assessment & Sound Insulation Scheme – 
October 2022; 
Statement of Community Involvement – October 2022; 
Existing Tree Map and Key;  
Arboricultural Survey – July 2022; 
Bat Survey Report – June 2022; 
Flood Risk Assessment – October 2022; 
Gross Internal Floor Area (GIA) Schedule (SCC-BPTW-04-XX-SH-A-0811 Rev C01) – 
October 2022; 
Detailed UXO Risk Assessment – March 2022; 
Daylight and Sunlight Report – October 2022; and 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal – April 2022. 

 
Reason For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
 
Pre-commencement Conditions  
 
Code of Construction Practice 
 

3.  No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a comprehensive 
Code of Construction Practice covering all environmental impacts of this development is 
provided by the applicant and submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with the Local Highway Authority. The development hereby permitted shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice. For the avoidance 
of doubt Code of Construction Practice shall include, but not exclusively cover the following: 

 
a) Construction Logistics Plan (CLP) 
b) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to and from site 
c) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site personnel 
d) Timing of deliveries  
e) Provision of wheel washing facilities  
f) Temporary traffic management/signage 
g) Storage of plant and materials 
h) Dust management controls; 
i) Location and height of cranes and scaffolding; 
j) Measures of minimising the impact of noise and, if appropriate, vibration arising from 

Page 149



   
 

 

construction activities; 
k) Predicted noise and, if appropriate, vibration levels for construction using methodologies 

and at locations agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
l) Scheme for monitoring noise and if appropriate, vibration levels using methodologies and at 

points agreed with the Local Planning Authority; 
m) Scheme for location and appearance security fencing/hoardings, depicting a readily visible 

24-hour contact number for queries or emergencies; 
n) Details of disposal of waste arising from the construction programme, including final 

disposal points (the burning of waste on the site at any time is specifically precluded); 
o) Hours of operation;  
p) Smoke management controls; 
q) Odour controls; and 
r) Any other matters relevant to this particular site. 

 
Reason To ensure the free flow of traffic on the highway and to protect the amenity of local 

residents and businesses in accordance with Policies CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Contaminated Land Strategy 
 

4. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a strategy to deal 
with the potential risks associated with any contamination of the site has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This strategy will include the 
following components: 

 
a)  A preliminary risk assessment which has identified all previous uses; potential 

contaminants associated with those uses; a conceptual model of the site indicating 
sources, pathways and receptors; and potentially unacceptable risks arising from 
contamination at the site.  

 
b)  A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a detailed assessment 

of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site. 
 
c)  The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment referred to in (2) and, 

based on these, an options appraisal and remediation strategy giving full details of the 
remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken.  

 
d)  A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to demonstrate 

that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are complete and identifying any 
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and 
arrangements for contingency action.  

 
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 

from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution in line with paragraph 
174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) and to accord with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Archaeology  
 

5. No development shall take place until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, 
has secured the implementation of an archaeological field evaluation works in accordance 

Page 150



   
 

 

with a Written Scheme of Investigation and timetable which has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following on from the evaluation, any 
safeguarding measures to ensure preservation in situ of important archaeological remains 
and/or further archaeological investigation and recording in accordance with a Written 
Scheme of Investigation and timetable shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason  To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly examined and recorded in 

accordance with Policies CS19 and CS20 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014) and saved Policy TC7 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
(1994). 

 
 
Biodiversity and Lighting  
 

6. Prior to commencement of works, a lighting design plan for biodiversity will be submitted 

to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The plan will show the type and 

locations of external lighting, as well as expected light spill in lux levels, to demonstrate 

that areas to be lit will not adversely impact biodiversity. All external lighting will be installed 

in accordance with the specifications and locations set out in the plan and will be 

maintained thereafter. 

 
Reason In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with Policy CS12 of the 

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 

Sustainable Surface Water Drainage 
 

7. No development approved by this permission shall be commenced until a scheme for 

sustainable surface water drainage has been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the 

Local Planning Authority.  The detailed drainage scheme submitted shall  

 
(i)  demonstrate that both the rate and volume of run-off leaving the site post-
development will be restricted to that of the existing site during any rainfall event (up to 
and including the climate change adjusted 100yr critical storm) 

 
(ii) demonstrate that the existing on-site surface water flow-routes and accumulation 
points will not be altered in such a way that the development places property at risk from 
flooding during any rainfall event, up to and including the climate change adjusted critical 
100yr storm, 

 
(iii)  demonstrate that infiltration features are not located on parts of the site where 
contamination might be present  

 
(iii)  include a timetable for its implementation, and 

 
(iv) include a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development 
which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage system throughout its lifetime.  

 
The surface water drainage scheme shall thereafter be implemented in full prior to first 
residential occupation of the development and thereafter maintained and managed in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 

 

Page 151



   
 

 

Reason  To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal; 
to ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or 
adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants and to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions, in accordance 
with policies CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014). 

 
 

Tree Protection 
 

8. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved (including demolition and 
all preparatory work), a scheme for the protection of the retained trees, in accordance with 
BS 5837:2012, including a tree protection plan(s) (TPP) and an arboricultural method 
statement (AMS) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

Specific issues to be dealt with in the TPP and AMS: 

a) Location and installation of services/ utilities/ drainage. 
b) Methods of demolition within the root protection area ( RPA as 
defined in BS 5837: 2012) of the retained trees. 
c) Details of construction within the RPA or that may impact on the retained trees. 
d) a full specification for the installation of boundary treatment works. 
e) a full specification for the construction of any roads, parking areas and driveways, 
including details of the no-dig specification and extent of the areas of the roads, parking 
areas and driveways to be constructed using a no-dig specification.  Details shall include 
relevant sections through them. 
f) Detailed levels and cross-sections to show that the raised levels of surfacing, where the 
installation of no-dig surfacing within Root Protection Areas is proposed, demonstrating 
that they can be accommodated where they meet with any adjacent building damp proof 
courses. 
g) A specification for protective fencing to safeguard trees during both demolition and 
construction phases and a plan indicating the alignment of the protective fencing 

h) a specification for scaffolding and ground protection within tree protection zones. 
i) Tree protection during construction indicated on a TPP and construction and construction 
activities clearly identified as prohibited in this area. 
j) details of site access, temporary parking, on site welfare facilities, loading, unloading and 
storage of equipment, materials, fuels and waste as well concrete mixing and use of fires 
k) Boundary treatments within the RPA 
l) Methodology and detailed assessment of root pruning 
m) Arboricultural supervision and inspection by a suitably qualified tree specialist 
n) Reporting of inspection and supervision 
o) Methods to improve the rooting environment for retained and proposed trees and 
landscaping  

The development thereafter shall be implemented in strict accordance with the approved 
details. 
 

Reason   Required prior to commencement of development to satisfy the Local Planning Authority 
that the trees to be retained will not be damaged during demolition or construction and 
to protect and enhance the appearance and character of the site and locality, in 
accordance with Policies CS12 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 

Page 152



   
 

 

(September 2014) and pursuant to section 197 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990. 

 
Prior to Above Ground Works 
 
Foul and Surface Water Sewerage Disposal  

 
9. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence details of the proposed means 
of foul and surface water sewerage disposal shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, 
the Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason   To ensure that the principles of sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal; to 

ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at risk from, or adversely 
affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised contaminants and 
to ensure ongoing efficacy of the drainage provisions in accordance with Policies CS18 and 
CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Biodiversity and Ecological Enhancement 
 

10.  Within six months of works commencing, details of how the development will offset 
biodiversity loss/enhance biodiversity will be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the 
local planning authority. This will include a native species-only landscape scheme. The 
approved details will be implemented and thereafter retained.  
 

Reason In order to enhance the biodiversity of the site in accordance with Policy CS12 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
External Facing Materials 

 
11. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 

application form, before any above ground works commence details (and samples where 
requested by the Local Planning Authority) of all the external facing materials to be used in 
the construction of the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details prior to any part of the development first being brought 
into use. 

 
Reason  To maintain the character and appearance of the building and to ensure a satisfactory 

visual relationship between the existing and new development in accordance with 
adopted Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Crime Prevention Measures  
 

12.  Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and 
application form, before any above ground works commence, details of crime prevention 
measures according to the principles and physical security requirements of Crime Prevention 
through Environmental Design (CPTED) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The approved measures shall be implemented prior to any of the 
residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and shall thereafter retained. 

 
Reason To ensure the development protects the environment of the site and its locality generally, in 

the interest of security, crime prevention and community safety and is in accordance with 

Page 153



   
 

 

Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
Prior to occupation 
 
Details of Balconies and Balustrades 
 

13.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of the balconies and balustrades for the development shall submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details of the balconies shall include information 
on how future occupiers will have sufficient privacy when using the balconies and to protect 
the privacy of surrounding properties. The approved details shall be provided prior to first 
occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and thereafter 
be retained for such purposes at all times.  

 
Reason  In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion and protect the 

amenity of occupiers and neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 
Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
Obscure Glazing 
 

14.  Prior to first occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, a 
schedule and details of all windows within the development to be obscure glazed (and where 
applicable fixed shut) shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority and shall thereafter be implemented as approved prior to any of the residential units 
hereby permitted first being occupied. For the avoidance of doubt any obscure windows shall 
be glazed with obscure glass to a level equivalent to Pilkington Level 3 or above (or the 
nearest equivalent standard) and shall be permanently retained as such. All fixed shut 
windows shall be permanently retained as such. 

 
Reason  To protect the amenity and privacy of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy 

CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
 
Hard Surface and Boundary Treatments 
 

15.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans a scheme of hard landscaping shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  For the avoidance of doubt the 
details shall include the following:  

 

 proposed boundary treatments,  

 proposed finished levels and contours,  

 hard surface finishes to the vehicle parking areas, pedestrian accesses, private 
gardens and amenity areas;  

 details of any retaining walls, steps, railings, walls, fencing, gates or other supporting 
structures 

 details of the pedestrian access and circulation areas  

 minor structures such as  play equipment, log piles, and any proposed seating. 
 

The approved works shall be completed in accordance with the approved details prior to first 
occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted. 

 

Page 154



   
 

 

Reason  To ensure that the landscaped elements of the scheme as proposed are properly designed 
and suitably implemented in the interests of visual amenity and highway safety in 
accordance with Policies CS11 and Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (September 2014) and saved policy T5 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review 
(1994). 

 
 
Soft Landscaping Scheme  
 

16.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, a 
scheme detailing the proposed soft landscaping shall be submitted to and approved, in 
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include the type and species of 
planting to be carried out, to include their quantity and size as well as arrangements for 
aftercare. Thereafter the approved soft landscaping scheme shall be carried out in full during 
the first available planting season following first occupation of the development. Any trees or 
plants that die, are damaged, removed or become diseased within five years from the date 
that the development is first brought into use shall be replaced with a species of a similar size 
and species during the next available planting season.  

 
Reason To ensure that the landscaped elements of the scheme as proposed are properly designed 

and suitably implemented in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy CS19 
of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Formation of Parking Spaces 
 

17.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, the 
vehicle parking areas shown on the approved plans shall be formed, surfaced, drained and 
marked out in accordance with a scheme first to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), or any 
provision equivalent to it in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order, with 
or without modification, no development shall be carried out on the site in such a manner or in 
such a position as to preclude the use of or access to the reserved vehicle parking and 
turning areas. 

 
Reason To ensure sufficient off street car parking provision is available to serve the development, in 

accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014) and saved Policy P3 of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 

 
 
Allocation and Safeguarding of Parking Spaces 
 

18.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, a 
strategy for the allocation and safeguarding of parking spaces for the occupiers of the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The approved strategy and measures to safeguard the use of the spaces shall be 
implemented prior to any of the residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and 
maintained thereafter.  

 
Reason  In order to ensure an acceptable standard of development upon completion, in accordance 

with adopted Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

Page 155



   
 

 

 
 
Visibility Splays 
 

19.  Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, prior to any part of the 
development first coming into use full details of visibility splays for the vehicular access onto 
Valley Drive shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
vehicular access first being brought into use and retained as such thereafter.   

 
Reason In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy CS11 of the Gravesham Local 

Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
 
Cycle Storage 
 

20.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, the cycle storage 
facilities as shown on the approved plans, shall be provided prior to any of the residential units 
hereby permitted first being occupied and thereafter be retained for such purposes at all 
times. 

 
Reason  In order to encourage options for sustainable travel in accordance with Policy CS19 of the 

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014) and saved Policy P3 of 
Gravesham Local Plan First Review (1994). 

 
 
Electric Charging Points 
 

21.  Prior to the first use of the car parking spaces hereby approved details for provision of cabling 
to enable charging facilities to be installed for electric vehicles for the future occupants and 
public of the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details 
prior to the first use of the car parking spaces hereby approved to which the cabling applies.  

 
Reason  To encourage the use of sustainable and more environmentally acceptable modes of 

transport, and in accordance with Policies CS11, CS18 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
External Lighting 
 

22.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of all proposed external lighting shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with these 
approved details prior to any of the residential units hereby permitted first being occupied and 
no additional external lighting shall be provided on the site.  

 
Reason  In order to ensure the development does not cause harm to residential amenity by reason 

of the installation of intrusive lighting and in accordance Policy CS19 of the Gravesham 
Local Plan of the Core Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Refuse Arrangements 
 

Page 156



   
 

 

23.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
of the refuse arrangements along with a refuse collection management plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The submitted details 
shall ensure adequate provision for non-recyclable waste, food waste and recyclable waste 
and security arrangements for the refuse stores and the management plan shall include 
arrangements for how the bins shall be taken nearer to the public highway on collection days 
and then returned to the bin store after the refuse has been collected.  The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of any of the 
residential units hereby permitted and shall thereafter be retained for such purposes at all 
times.  

 
Reason In order to ensure the development is served by a suitable refuse storage area in the interest 

of amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (September 2014). 

 
 
Deliveries and Servicing the Proposed Development 
 

24.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used, and notwithstanding 
the details shown on the approved plans, submitted documents and application form, details 
and arrangements for deliveries and servicing the proposed development, shall be submitted 
to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be 
implemented as approved. The servicing strategy shall include the following: 

 
(a) Details for the servicing of the residential apartments and communal spaces to be provided 

as part of the development, to have regard to the phased delivery of the development and 
interim arrangements required until such time as the whole development is built out and 
operating; 

 
(b) Details as to how existing properties will be serviced during the construction of the 

development and once it has been built out (if this differs). 
 
Reason To ensure acceptable delivery and servicing arrangements to enable the efficient operation 

of the development and to minimise any potential impacts on the road network and existing 
properties and businesses and in accordance with adopted Local Plan Core Strategy 
Policies CS11 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan: Core Strategy (September 2014).  

 
 
Broadband 
 

25.  Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied or used a fibre to premises 
(FTTP) Statement shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
in writing for the installation of a high speed wholly FTTP connection to the development 
hereby approved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (where 
supported by evidence detailing reasonable endeavours to secure the provision of FTTP and 
alternative provisions that have been made in the absence of FTTP).  Thereafter, the 
infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved details and be available for 
use on the first occupation of any of the residential units hereby approved. 

 
Reason To ensure that the new development in Gravesham is provided with high quality broadband 

services enhancing Gravesham as an attractive location in accordance with Policy CS19 
and CS20 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014. 

 
 

Page 157



   
 

 

Prior to Installation  
 
Plant Equipment 
 

26.  Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and application form prior to the 
installation of plant equipment, details of any services and plant systems, including roof top 
plant equipment shall be submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. The details shall include the siting, external appearance and any proposed 
screening.  The works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
prior to first occupation of any of the residential units hereby permitted.   

 
Reason  In the interest of the amenities of neighbouring properties and the area generally and in 

accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 
2014). 

 
 
On-going Conditions  
 
Infiltration of Surface Water Drainage 
 

27.  No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the 
written consent of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 

from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised 
contaminants in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (2014). 

 
 
Watching Brief 
 

28.  If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present at the 
site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination will 
be dealt with has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

 
Reason  To ensure that the development does not contribute to, or is not put at unacceptable risk 

from, or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution from previously 
unidentified contamination sources at the development site in line with paragraph 174 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2021). 

 
 
Dishes/Telecommunication  
 

29.  No satellite antenna, apparatus or plant of any sort (including structures or plant in 
connection with the use of telecommunication systems or any electronic communications 
apparatus) shall be erected on the site or roofs/walls of the development hereby approved. 

 
Reason  In the interests of the visual amenity of the development and in accordance with Policy 

CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014). 
 
 
INFORMATIVES:- 
 

Page 158



   
 

 

 
1 STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION-MAKING 
 
In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (NPPF) 2021, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment and 
determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has worked 
pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that improves the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance with the 
Development Plan for the area. 
 
 2 REASON FOR IMPOSITION OF PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITIONS 
 
Pursuant to Articles 35 (1) and (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015, the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that the requirements of 
conditions 3 - 8 (including the timing of compliance) are so fundamental to the development permitted 
that such details must be submitted prior to the works commencing on site.   
 
Due to the importance attached to these details, it is reasonable and necessary to seek full approval 
in advance of works commencing. The applicant has agreed in writing on 23rd January 2023 to all the 
pre-commencement conditions. 
 
 3 DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 
 
It is possible that any proposed deviation from the approved plans could be classed as a 'material' 
change requiring a further application/permission.  In the event that any change is proposed, 
applicants are advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority as proceeding without the 
necessary permissions could nullify this permission. 
 
4 BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT 
 
This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building Regulations 
or under any other enactment or provision.  Nor does it override any private rights which any person 
may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions of the Party Wall etc. 
Act 1996. 
 
5 NAMING & NUMBERING  
 
As a result of the proposal, it appears that a change has to be made to the national property 
gazetteer.  It is a legal requirement that a property or premises is registered. 
The Naming and Numbering Certificate, when issued, will reduce location or delivery problems via 
Royal Mail or other carriers, and importantly for the Police, Ambulance, and Fire & Rescue services.  
Registration is also necessary to register to vote, for utility connections, and will avoid duplicate 
addresses. 
 
The Naming and Numbering service is provided by the Borough Council.  The on-line form is 
available at the Planning/House Numbering page of the council's web-site 
http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/street-naming.  Please submit the application and the requisite fee in 
accordance with the guidance on the form. 
 
 6 SOUTHERN WATER 
 
A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in order to service this 
development, please contact Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, 
Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk. 

Page 159



   
 

 

 
Please read their New Connections Services Charging Arrangements documents which has now 
been published and is available to read on their website via the following link 
https://beta.southernwater.co.uk/infrastructure-charges. 
 
7 KCC ECOLOGY ADVICE SERVICE – BREEDING BIRD INFORMATIVE 
 
The applicant is reminded that, under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, as amended (section 
1), it is an offence to remove, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while that nest is in use 
or being built. Planning consent for a development does not provide a defence against prosecution 
under this Act. Breeding bird habitat is present on the application site and assumed to contain 
nesting birds between 1st March and 31st August, unless a recent survey has been undertaken by 
a competent ecologist and has shown that nesting birds are not present. 
 
8 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORTATION 
 
It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development hereby approved is 
commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and consents where required are obtained and 
that the limits of highway boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement 
action being taken by the Highway Authority. 
 
Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens that do not look like 
roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This is called 'highway land'. Some of this 
land is owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. 
Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have 'highway rights' over the topsoil. 
 
Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land/highway-boundary-
enquiries 
 
The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans agree in every 
aspect with those approved under such legislation and common law. It is therefore important for 
the applicant to contact KCC Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works 
prior to commencement on site. 

Page 160


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20211540 - Lord Street Car Park, Lord Street, Gravesend, Kent
	5b 20221179 - Land at St Columba's Close, Gravesend, Kent

